Public Document Pack

Health and Wellbeing Board
Dear Member,
You are invited to attend the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board to be held as
follows for the transaction of the business indicated.
David Wilcock
Monitoring Officer
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------DATE:
Tuesday, 13 July 2021
TIME:

2.00 pm

VENUE:

100 Embankment - Cathedral Approach, Salford, M3 7NJ

In accordance with ‘The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014,’ the
press and public have the right to film, video, photograph or record this meeting.

AGENDA
GUIDANCE ON THE RETURN TO FACE TO
FACE MEETINGS FROM 7TH MAY 2021
Please see the attached guidance on the
arrangements for the return to face to face
meetings. This guidance includes information
about the venue, the control measures in place,
COVID-19 lateral flow tests and travel options.

(Pages 1 - 2)

1

Welcome and Introductions.

2

Apologies for Absence.

3

Declarations of Interest.

4

Locality Plan Update / Spotlight on Starting
Well & Strong and Resilient communities

5

Minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 9
February 2021 and Matters Arising.

(Pages 3 - 18)

5a

Spotlight - Update on Starting Well (Deborah
Blackburn)

(Pages 19 - 132)

5b

Spotlight - Update on Co-production
arrangements (Chris Dabbs)

(Pages 133 - 142)

6

JSSNA Programme

6a

Update on the Joint Strategic Strengths and
Needs Assessment programme (Gordon
Adams)

7

Influencing role of the Salford Health and
Wellbeing Board

7a

Key Lines of Enquiry for Mental Wellbeing Update from the Salford Partnerships Interboard commitment (Debbie Blackburn, Muna
Abdel Aziz)

7b

Verbal update on Place based governance and
the GM ICS arrangements (Steve Dixon)

8

Updates from subgroups

8a

Report from the Health Protection Board (Gillian
Mclauchlan / Muna Abdel Aziz)

8b

Report from the STAT Group (Muna Abdel Aziz)

9

Updates from partners, and emerging issues

10

Any Other Business

11

Date and Time of Next Meeting - to be
confirmed

Contact Officer:
Tel No:
Mike McHugh, Senior Democratic Services Officer E-Mail:

(Pages 143 - 150)

0161 793 3011
mike.mchugh@salford.gov.uk

Agenda Annex
The return to face to face council meetings from 7th May 2021
The temporary regulations enabling remote meetings expired on 7 May 2021 and the
Government now requires that we hold meetings of the full council, Cabinet,
committees, panels and boards (that are open to the public) have to be held in public
so members of the public can attend in person.
A tremendous effort has gone into trying to ensure that any council meetings taking
place in person will be held in a COVID-19 secure environment. Your safety is our
upmost priority, whilst also supporting transparency, accountability and effective
decision making.
The venue for face to face meetings
All the formal council meetings from 5th July will take place at 100 Embankment
Cathedral Approach, Salford, M3 7NJ, as this is the most appropriate, suitably sized
venue available to the city council, where meetings can take place in a COVID-secure
way.
COVID-secure face to face meetings
Listed below are some of the control measures that we have had to put in place at the
meetings to minimise the risk of the transmission of the virus. It is very important that
all persons attending the meetings comply with the following.
1. Please arrive at least 15 minutes before the start of the meeting to allow for
controlled access to the building and meeting space.
2. A marshal will be onsite to greet you and will escort you to the meeting.
3. The meeting will be run in line with Government guidance, and using the principle
of ‘hands, face and space’. Therefore, you are asked to regularly wash and sanitise
your hands, wear a face covering at all times unless you hold a medical exemption,
and please maintain a two metre distance from others at all times whilst in the
building.
4. Movement around the meeting spaces will be kept to an absolute minimum with
pre-defined entrances and exits (the marshal onsite will cover this in more detail
with you when you arrive).
5. A vital element of our COVID-secure plans is that everyone attending should
complete a COVID-19 lateral flow home tests three days before the meeting
and on the morning of the meeting:


You can collect or order the home testing kits by:
o Ordering a box of test kits to be delivered to your home
o Collecting a box of test kits from a local collection point



If you test positive before or on the day you were meant to attend the meeting
under no circumstances should you attend, please email your apologies to
Democratic Services of your decisionmakingandscrutiny@salford.gov.uk



If your lateral flow test is positive you will then need to book a complementary
PCR Test and follow national guidance on self-isolating.

6. Despite all the COVID-secure measures we have put in place there remains a
residual risk and coronavirus can make anyone seriously ill. For some of you the
risk is higher, particularly if…
 you are clinically extremely vulnerable or if they are at significant risk

Page 1



you have one or more health conditions as a number of risk factors may interact
as well as health conditions.

You may wish to take medical advice about your particular circumstances, if either
of the above applies to you before you make a decision about attending face to
face meetings.
Travelling to 100 Embankment
 By foot: A range of walking routes are available.



By train: Manchester Victoria Railway Station is a couple of minutes’ walk
from 100 Embankment.
By car: Q-Park Deansgate North, 2 Chapel Street, Manchester, M3 7WJ, is
located underneath the Embankment development. Parking can be prebooked on the website below.
Deansgate North Parking | Manchester Car Parks | Q-Park

Page 2

Agenda Item 5
SALFORD HEALTH AND WELLEBING BOARD
Tuesday 9 February 2021
14:00 to 15:56
Present
Tom Tasker (TT)
Councillor Gina Reynolds (GR)
Muna Abdel Aziz (MAA)
Alison Page (AP)
Councillor Jim Cammell (JCa)
Councillor Jillian Collinson (JCo)
Chris Dabbs (CD)
Steve Dixon (SD)
Councillor Tracy Kelly (TK)
Councillor John Merry
Councillor John Walsh (JW)
Officers
Tom Stannard (TS)
Deborah Blackburn (DB)
Jane Bowmer (JB)
Nicola Leak (NL)
Emma Reid (ER)
Judd Skelton (JS)
Mike McHugh (MM)

Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Lead Member for Adult Services, Health and Wellbeing
Director of Public Health
Salford CVS
LA Representative
LA Representative
Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce
Salford Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
LA Representative
LA Representative
LA Representative

Chief Executive
Assistant Director for Public Health Nursing & Wellbeing
Business Manager for Salford Safeguarding Adults
Board
Public Health Development Officer
Joint Head of Planning and Performance (CCG)
Assistant Director for Joint Commissioning
Senior Democratic Services Officer

Apologies
Tara Kearney (TK)
Gill Green (GG)
Alex Leach (AL)
Margaret Rowe (MR)
Lynne Stafford (LS)

Salford Royal Foundation Trust
Greater Manchester Mental Health Trust
Healthwatch Salford
University of Salford
VOCAL H&SC Group

1. Welcome and Introductions
TT welcomed members to the meeting confirming that the proceedings were being
broadcast as a live event. He extended a warm welcome any members of the public
listening to the broadcast.

Page 3

2. Questions
TT confirmed that no written questions had been received from members of the public.
3. Apologies for Absence
The above apologies were noted.
4. Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest in any of the items on the agenda.
5. Minutes of the Meeting held on 10 November 2020
The minutes of the meeting held on 10 November 2020 were approved as a correct
record.
6. Matters arising
There were no matters arising.
7. Locality Plan Update/ Spotlight on Strong and Resilient Communities.
(a) Spotlight - Inclusive Economy, Equality and Tackling Poverty
JR presented details of work which was being undertaken in Salford relating to ‘Inclusive
Economy, Equality and Tackling Poverty’, including (i)

A Decade of Growth
-

24,000 extra residents, growth of 11%
£2.6 billion Private sector investment
£1 billion Gross Value Added (GVA) increase, growth of 23.1%
14,000 additional jobs, growth of 11%
40,000 New Homes
40,000 New Jobs

-

Prior to the pandemic, Salford’s rapid rate of growth was anticipated to
continue with the current pipeline of development forecasted to bring a
further £3.9 billion of private investment by 2040

-

the main areas of growth included Port Salford, MediaCityUK, Middlewood Locks, RHS Garden Bridgewater
and Salford Crescent Masterplan

Page 4

(ii)

But despite this, Salford is still a city of contrasts. We need a more Inclusive
Economy
Areas highlighted included -

34.4% live in ‘highly deprived’ areas and we still have some of the most
deprived wards in the UK
17,955 (34.8%) children living in poverty, compared to 31% in England
8.4% unemployment rate (December 2020) higher than GM and UK average
3 year life expectancy gap for males compared with the rest of England
2 year life expectancy gap for females compared with the rest of England
5.2% young people are Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET),
one of the highest rates in England

Salford is the 18th most deprived local authority area out of 326 in England
(iii)

Refresh of the ‘Great Eight’
Building a Better, Fairer and Greener Salford including Tackling poverty and inequality
Reducing health and equalities
Transport and digital connectivity
Tackling the climate emergency
Vibrant places and spaces
Creating an economy for all
Skills and education
Affordable housing

(iv)

Tackling Inequalities in Salford
Salford Locality Plan
Inclusive and Green Economy strategy
Education strategy
Salford digital strategy
Salford VCSE strategy
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion strategy
Affordable housing and homelessness strategy
Employment and Skills strategy
tackling poverty strategy
City Mayor’s ‘Great Eight’ priorities

(v)

Inclusive Economy
•

Strong partnerships – Salford Council, University, CCG, SRFT, CVS & the
VCSE sector, Social Value Alliance, The Business Group Salford. Supported
by CLES and APSE.

Page 5

•

CLOSING THE DIVIDE: A strategy to build an inclusive and green Salford
economy for all

•

Our Vision
Is for a fairer and more inclusive local economy that delivers greater social
and environmental justice, where wealth is shared more widely across all our
communities.
An economy where every Salford citizen has the opportunity to participate
and feel empowered to make a difference through their communities,
workplaces and local democratic institutions.

(vi)

Inclusive economy where -

the health and wellbeing of its citizens are at its heart
greater wealth is retained locally for the benefit of local people and
communities
local people have better access to decent jobs with decent pay and the skills
and education needed to progress in the labour market
clean growth is prioritised delivering new green jobs and new market
opportunities for local enterprise
public services are protected and strengthened with gold standards in
employment conditions and decent wages
Salford’s VCSE sector continues to thrive and grow: supporting local
employment and local supply chains
private businesses are socially and environmentally conscious and
participate as active citizens in the local area
citizens feel democratically engaged and genuinely empowered to shape
their own destiny

This is the scale of ambition for the future of the city’s economy over the next
decade and beyond
And while Salford has already made great strides in tackling some of these issues
including its work to upskill residents, raise educational attainment and improve
access to local employment opportunities, the wider economic inequality gap
exposed by the pandemic shows the urgent need to build back a new type of local
economy. One that properly tackles the deeply entrenched and stomach issues of
any quality to create a better brand Fairer Salford for all.
(vii)

Inclusive Economy
•

5 Priorities and linked action plan:
Building Local Community Wealth
Growing the Social Economy

Page 6

Transition to a Zero-Carbon Economy
Promoting and Enhancing Public Services
Strengthening Civic Participation and Local Democracy
•
•

(viii)

Tackling Poverty
•
•

•

•
•

•
•

(ix)

Reflect outcomes from Health Inequalities Audit throughout and in actions
and commitments
Clear ideas for practical action – to tackle inequalities in our city and create
an economy that works for all of our citizens

Launched in 2017 and currently being refreshed by partners
Award-winning approach – included VCSE and wider partners’ input; and
co-production with the Salford Poverty Truth Commission, providing people
who had experienced poverty with a direct voice in shaping and developing
the strategy and its actions
Key achievements to date include:
Boosted the pay of over 3,000 care workers
Reforming the way we collect council tax to make it fairer
Building more social homes – launch of Derive
The creation of the Salford Anti-Poverty Taskforce
Investing in our Credit Union
Partnership approaches to practically addressing poverty – e.g. fair
funerals work with Citizens Advice
Refresh now underway – working group with wide range of partners
Vision and priorities remain
•
To support those experience poverty now
•
To prevent poverty and inequality in the future
•
To campaign for long term system change
Supporting development of Poverty Truth Commission #2
Developing specific commitments to action – as wide a partnership
commitment as possible

Promoting Equality, Achieving Equity
•

•

Currently under development with partners and VCSE sector including:
Disability Forum, Salford Pride, University LGBT, Caritas, CAHN, YCA,
Forum for Refugees and Asylum Seekers, Warmhut, Age-Friendly Salford,
Survivors Manchester, Doosti, Independent Pentecostal Churches, African
Rainbow Family, LGBT Foundation.
Emerging themes from focus groups:
Improving visible representation in places where decisions are made.
Having physical and digital access to services, as well as ‘knowing the
system’.
To be communicated to in the right and culturally sensitive community
language.

Page 7

(x)

Social Value
•

•

•
•

•

•

(xi)

Strong VCSE sector – VOCAL model for voice and influence, VCSE
forums (incl. Inclusive Communities), VCSE Manifesto, VCSE Strategy
– all firsts in GM
Social Value Alliance –VCSE, public and private sector partnership to
drive the shared vision to becoming an authentic Social Value City, as
demonstrated by our 10% Better campaign
Salford Employment Standards Charter – launched in 2013
Salford was the first place in England to get formal recognition for its
ambition to become a Living Wage City. Still the only place in GM…
Salford CVS has Living Wage Funder status
Social Enterprise City - Salford is the only area in GM to have secured
‘place’ status from Social Enterprise UK. GM survey in 2020. ‘Buy
Social’ campaign. #LocalSocialEthical
And… Digital Tech Talent pathway, Salford Skills for Business
Apprenticeship pot, Supported internships, sector-based work academies

Final Thoughts
People must have agency over the things that affect them (“nothing about us
without us is for us” – Salford Poverty Truth Commission)
We need to embrace co-creation with our partners and co-production with our
citizens more than we have to date
System leadership is vital – to ensure the sum of our collective approach to tackling
inequality is greater than just individual strategies and organisational actions
To properly tackle inequalities in our city we need to view all our plans and actions
through a readjusted lens
Watch this space… working towards a launch of Salford’s renewed commitments
and action plans in March 2021

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the presentation be noted.
(2) THAT the Board supports the work being undertaken to tackle
inequalities in Salford.
(3) THAT further updates on the work be presented at future meetings of this
Board.
(b) Spotlight - Priorities for Co-production
CD submitted a report on co-production for health and wellbeing in Salford.
He confirmed details in the Salford Locality Plan 2020-2025, where the partners on
the Health and Wellbeing Board stated -

Page 8

•
•

•

Co-production with local people is a priority with regard to places, communities and
neighbourhoods.
“We will continue to engage with citizens and communities and work towards
genuine coproduction where possible on our priorities and services. This approach
is best used to develop innovative local solutions to complex issues such as child
poverty, suicide prevention, loneliness and social isolation, and climate change.”
Co-production is perceived as a form or research and innovation, with a particular
focus on innovative local solutions to complex issues.

Confirmation was provided the commitment made at the development session on 11
December 2018, where the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board identified as an
achievement, a greater emphasis on listening to the voices of local people.
Details were presented in relation to the Principles of co-production, Co-production in
practice, Progress and barriers and Key Actions.
CD reported that the Locality Plan identified four particular areas for co-production, each of
which was a fundamental determinant of health and well-being, as follows -

Child Poverty

-

Climate Change

-

Loneliness and Social Isolation

-

Suicide Prevention

It was confirmed that funding, in the sum of £60k, had been allocated via the Health and
Care Commissioning Board to support work in these areas.
RESOLVED: THAT, in line with the Locality Plan for Salford, the Health and Wellbeing
Board agrees:
1.

To support the proposed approach to co-production for health and well-being in
Salford.

2.

To approve the use of 2020-2021 funding of £60,000 allocated towards tackling
health inequalities.

8. JSNA Programme
(a) Monitoring progress: Priorities & action plans
MAA and ER provided an update in respect of the work being undertaken to monitor
progress against the priorities and action plans associated with the work of the Health and
Wellbeing Board.
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted.

Page 9

9. Other items for Decision by the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board.
(a) Proposing a Way Forward for Mental Wellbeing & Loneliness for (Salford Partnerships
Inter-board commitment)
MAA, AP, JS and DB provided proposals of work to be undertaken to address mental
health and loneliness across the partnership boards in Salford.
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted; and that further updates on the work be
presented at future meetings of this Board.
(b) Verbal update on Place based governance
SD presented details of the ongoing work relating to Place based governance owing to the
changes being made to the current structures arising from the government’s draft white
paper for reform of the NHS in England.
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted; and that further updates be presented at future
meetings of this Board.
10. Public Health Update
(a) Report from the Health Protection Board
MAA submitted a report on work being undertaken by the Health Protection Board.
She confirmed that the Health Protection Board was set up in July 2020 in response to
COVID-19.
The group had been meeting weekly every Thursday to consider the situation in Greater
Manchester and the UK, and specifically the situation in Salford in terms of data, soft
intelligence and the measures in place.
Salford had continued to follow the Contain action plan and national guidance, with the
public health team interpreting guidance for key settings overlaying the advice with
practical tips and arrangements for COVID security.
This meant the HPB had maintained grip of the different programmes deployed
simultaneously and had maximised the use of the rapid testing for all frontline staff who
continued to work outside their homes during the lockdown.
There was more work to do to tackle health inequalities for example, in uptake of the offer
of testing and the offer of the vaccine for eligible groups. The HPB partners had shared the
resources for BAME groups out to communities within Salford with a particular focus on
faith not just ethnicity and job role.
There had been a total of 19,996 confirmed cases of COVID-19 in Salford as of 3 February
2021.

Page 10

In the 7 days ending 29 January, there were 645 new cases of COVID-19 in Salford, a
decrease from previous week (864 cases).
The health protection board had focused in December and January on the advice leading
up to Christmas and the subsequent national lockdown, with targeting of community
engagement and infection control advice to the outbreaks in care homes, workplaces,
schools, different communities and age groups.
Recently there had been focus in addition to:
-

People over the age of 50 years who are testing positive to let their GP know and to
access the offer of oxygen levels monitoring through the pulse oximeters.
Rolling out the vaccine and rapid testing programmes
Ramping up the COVID risk health checks to community groups and frontline
workers
Supporting schools and adult social care settings
Supporting safe discharges for the expected super surge in wave 3.

The virus continued to circulate and cluster in households in the city. Transmission was
widespread in the community in all wards. The largest ethnicity category is ‘White British’
which was over 80% of cases in November is now 74-78% - this seemed to indicate the
communities and key worker groups that first experienced the virus were now the
communities where transmission was not receding as quickly. Cases in the working age
groups were the fastest growing day by day, and recently experienced day by day
increase in the proportion over 60 years.
The situation remained precarious as the rate of decline in Salford had slowed down
considerably and Salford was now climbing the ranks of local authorities in comparison as
there had been steep decreases nationally.
As Salford did not completely come out of the second wave before it experienced
the third wave, there was concern that a surge of cases may trigger the fourth wave. That
was why focus was on the rapid testing and testing to rule out COVID for people
who develop atypical symptoms so we can break transmission sooner.
The Spirit of Salford helpline (0800 952 1000) had continued to support people who
needed advice or help to self-isolate.
Community engagement
The key message now was “We’re asking everyone to understand they have a critical role
to play – stay at home unless carrying out essential activities, to keep rates as low as
possible.”
Salford’s Health Protection Board was closely monitoring the spread of the virus. It was the
personal responsibility of each of us to follow the lockdown and get the virus back under
control. The message was to behave as though you had the virus and be vigilant not to
spread to others. Stay at home, wear a face covering when doing essential shopping or in
other crowded environments and indoor public spaces, wash your hands frequently and
get tested if you are unwell.

Page 11

Positively, so far, we have vaccinated over 32,000 people in Salford across the health and
social care workforce and over 70s. The most vulnerable people have been offered the
vaccine so you should not delay as the next time you are reminded may be too late for you
and your loved ones.
When contacted, people can book at the regional centre or a local centre. After
vaccination, it will take up to three weeks for the person to start to develop immunity.
Having the vaccination should not change your behaviour with hands, face and space
because you can still get infected and pass it on.
Vaccination will prevent the severe complications and you may not even know that you are
carrying the virus, so you must continue to protect other people. A good way to think about
the vaccine is that it is like wearing a seatbelt – it protects you from the serious
consequence of a crash but does not stop the crash and it does not stop you from
crashing into others and hurting them.
The vaccine is safe and effective with protection within 3 weeks of the first dose and this
protection certainly lasts beyond 12 weeks. Your second dose will be given by the centre
where you had the first dose, so please do not take up any other offer and we are asking
people to check that their loved ones only attend for one vaccination now – their second
dose to give them full protection will be in 12 weeks’ time. Our NHS colleagues have
started to vaccinate people who can’t leave their homes and they will be given their
second dose after 12 weeks; also at home.
The faster we can bring down the rate of infection, the sooner restrictions can be eased,
and we can protect the important things in life; our jobs, education and seeing our loved
ones.
Every small change we make can have a huge impact.
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted.
(b) Report from the STAT Group
AP presented an update from the STAT Group.
Salford is a city of challenges and opportunities. The challenge is that health inequalities
have existed for many years and Salford is the 18th most deprived local authority in the
country. COVID-19 has exposed and exacerbated these pre-existing inequalities. The
opportunities come from the disruption that the virus has caused in ways that make
priorities like climate change, BAME inequalities, child poverty, etc., more visible, which in
the context of our aspiration to become a Marmot City, mean new solutions are being
considered – for example, supporting and resourcing local communities to codesign
and co-produce solutions to some of the big challenges outlined in our Locality Plan.

Page 12

The STAT group was formed in July 2020 to consider pragmatic and rapid action to tackle
health inequalities in Salford. The group initially had a focus on COVID-19 and have
continued meeting weekly to consider the wider impacts and issues, including the COVID
risk health checks and individual risk assessments; climate change and air quality; child
poverty; social isolation; social value in health and care; and asset based approaches.
The overall terms of reference of the group is intended to deliver the Locality Plan priorities
and to track action from one week to the next. The group acknowledged that new and
different conversations may be needed for new and different actions and outcomes.
Activities in July/August
The group focused on linking the offer of health checks and quality assurance of the
individual risk assessments so that key workers and volunteers are protected from the
severe consequences of COVID-19 whether that is due to age, ethnicity or any of the other
protected characteristics.
After the initial focus on risk assessments, the group shifted focus away from the COVID
response as the Health Protection Board started to meet and started to consider the nonCOVID or indirect impacts.
Some work was undertaken to consider the prioritisation of the NHS waiting lists as the
NHS services started to re-open; where possible to highlight the cumulative impacts on
individuals with more than one condition or from the more disadvantaged groups.
Activities in September/October
Some of the early successes of the STAT group have been to exchange insights and
expand membership of the existing partnerships like the climate action board and the
social value work of the anchor organisations. The NCA Social Value Creation Launch was
preceded by workshop in Salford on 23 October to discuss the key points which Salford
partners will undertake as a Community of Practice. As an example, the work on Social
Value and Sustainability is considering the environmental impact of health and care.
The group considered co-production priorities and potential areas of focus that were
outlined in the Locality Plan. The session on shared responsibility and collaboration for
climate change identified the role of individuals, and physical activity (walking and cycling)
as a core contributor to environment and wellbeing.
Activities in November/December
The City Mayor’s Great Eight priorities for Salford were discussed in the context of the
creation of an Inclusive Economy Strategy for Salford alongside the refresh of the city’s
Tackling Poverty and Equality strategies. This work is central to our city ambition to put
tackling inequalities at the heart of all of our future plans. This was followed by sessions on
the Locality Plan priorities:

Page 13

-

Tackling child poverty
Social isolation
Mental health promotion
Air quality

We ended the year with a reflection on the meetings held in Q3 and agreed to focus on
developing a work plan for future meetings in 2021, which would in turn inform the creation
of an action plan for the group. Commitment to co-production was a core tenet of these
discussions.
Activities in January 2021
The group started 2021 with a commitment to review our purpose and frequency of
meetings.
Our first session of the year was a stocktake of what we had achieved so far as the STAT
group. This involved consideration of the initial draft action plan collated from the notes of
all the previous meetings. This was proposed so that we could start to track themes and
priorities so they are not dropped as the weekly rhythm and wide-ranging topics could
distract the group for the core ‘Time to Act’ purpose.
The following week we moved on to discuss how we best engage allies in the private
sector in terms of tackling inequalities. This arose from consideration of the existing
partnerships and recognised the win-win for small medium enterprises to be sponsored
and sponsor local communities for mutual benefit in growing the local economy and social
capital.
The latter half of January focused largely on two things:
1. The drafting and submission of a Salford bid to the Health Foundation for £480k that
focuses on ‘using economic development to improve health and reduce health
inequalities’. Discussions at the STAT group helped inform the bid’s content.
2. COVID messaging to BAME communities – and what further practical actions we could
collectively undertake to tackle inequalities during COVID.
Activities in February 2021
In February, we plan to agree the action plan for 2021/22 that we will bring back to the
Health and Wellbeing Board for consideration at the May meeting. We are also exploring
new ways of working together to close the gap for groups that historically have not been
covered or have not been reached.
Collective time and energy on this will amplify our messages without duplication; for
example, when considering the equality impact assessment for the COVID vaccine. We
will also need to consider how we communicate as well as what we communicate. This is

Page 14

important to tackle myths for the COVID vaccine without amplifying them, and we can
utilise the behavioural insights approach for key groups like young working age adults.
Salford has some fantastic assets and at the same time we know we have great
challenges as the 18th most deprived local authority in England.
We have a strong history in Salford of great partnership working that has shone through in
our response to the COVID pandemic. We want to continue to build on the work of the
Salford Social Value Alliance since 2013 and to develop its 10% Better campaign, with the
Northern Care Alliance and the other large anchor organisations as active members.
In Salford today, we have three areas where Now is the Time to Act:
-

-

-

We must continue to protect health and respond to COVID-19 challenges, in the
context of winter and the widening inequalities we are seeing (e.g. in flu and COVID
vaccination take-up within specific communities)
The reality of Living with COVID-19 in the next 2 years will be about a number of
things – from living with ‘Long-COVID' to keeping the economy going. It will be
about how successful we are in rebuilding the new normal for our anchor
organisations, for small and medium enterprises, for VCSE organisations, for our
schools and all sectors including health and care; and ultimately for the benefit of
the people of Salford.
For a Better, Fairer (and Greener) Salford, our five-year Locality Plan recognises
that the best solutions can be put in place much faster when they are co-produced
with local communities.

We agreed four priorities to start with - for child poverty, mental wellbeing, social isolation
and climate change.
From the STAT work so far, there are two key changes for the Health and Wellbeing Board
to note and adopt:
a) To achieve the change we require we must embed the culture of co-production with
communities in our work as a wellbeing, health and care system, and we must start new
and different conversations with communities as equal partners in the work of the Health
and Wellbeing Board and the Locality Plan delivery.
b) We must also enhance our support to the local economy especially for the small and
medium enterprise local organisations that have been most hit by the pandemic.
Supporting the private and social sector is a win-win and the health and wellbeing board
are recommended to explore ways to increase this partnership between health and
vibrancy of local neighbourhoods by bringing in the voice of businesses meaningfully into
the Board and its subgroups
RESOLVED: (1) THAT the report be noted.
(2) THAT the key changes, detailed in a) and b) above, be adopted by the
Board.

Page 15

11. Annual Reports for Assurance
(a) SSAB Annual Report 2019/20
JB presented the Salford Safeguarding Adults Board Annual Report for 2019/2020 which
included details, as follows -

Introduction from the Chair

-

About the Salford Safeguarding Adult Board

-

Our Vision

-

Key principles of Safeguarding

-

Multi-agency working

-

Statement of acknowledgement

-

Update on achievements

-

Safeguarding Adults Awareness Week 18 to 24 November 2019

-

Learning lessons: Safeguarding Adult Reviews (SARs)

-

Partners Contributions

-

Salford Care Home Quality Improvement Network (QIN)

-

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DOLS)

-

Changes to legislation

-

Moving forward for 2020/2021

RESOLVED: (1) THAT the report be noted.
(2) THAT future reports include a ‘Plan on a Page’ summary.
12. Updates from health, care and overview groups
(a) NW ADASS Elected Members Commission Report
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted.

Page 16

(b) Health and Social Care Scrutiny Panel
RESOLVED: THAT the update be noted.
13. Updates from partners, and emerging issues
There were no updates in respect of this matter.
14. Any Other Business
There were no items of any other business.
15. Dates of Future Meetings
RESOLVED: THAT the next meeting of this Board be held on Tuesday 11 May 2021 at
2.00 p.m.

Page 17

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5a

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONING COMMITTEE
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

-

10.03.21
11.05.21

PART I
AGENDA ITEM NO:
Item for: Decision/Assurance/Information (Please underline and bold)
Dates of meetings as above
To All other governance bodies for assurance/information as per the attached schedule.
Report of:

Debbie Blackburn

Date of Paper:

In case of query
Please contact:

10.03.21 (CCC)
16.03.21 (HWBB)
Salford Thrive Plan Update 2021
(formerly known as CAMHS
Transformation Plan)
Emily Edwards
Emily.edwards@salford.gov.uk

Strategic Priorities:

Please tick which strategic priorities the paper relates to:

Subject:



Quality, Safety, Innovation and Research
Integrated Community Care Services (Adult Services)



Children’s and Maternity Services
Primary Care



Enabling Transformation



Population Health and Prevention



Mental Health and Learning Disabilities



Transforming hospital care

Purpose of Paper:
1. To provide an update and progress report on Salford’s Thrive programme, including:
 Key achievements and challenges over the past 12 months
 progress against national, GM and local priorities
 performance against national indicators and GM access targets
 an overview of investment in children and young people’s mental health in Salford
in 2020-21, and planned investment in 2021-22
 a summary of the key priorities for 2021-22

Page 19

2. To seek support and feedback on the Salford Thrive Plan Update 2021 and priorities
outlined for next year.
3. To approve the Salford Thrive Plan Update 2021 to be published on CCG and Council
websites by end of March 2021.

Further explanatory information required
The Thrive Plan sets out priorities and
achievements against our ‘ambitions’. By
presenting any areas of pressure /
underperformance, appropriate actions can be
identified and implemented to support
improvements.

HOW WILL THIS BENEFIT THE
HEALTH AND WELL BEING OF
SALFORD RESIDENTS OR THE
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING
GROUP?

Potential Risks:
Capacity across the whole system of:
 delivering on too many priorities
 maintaining accessible, safe and
effective services in 2021-22
 maintaining performance against access
and waiting times standards
 demand pressures - meeting increased
demand related to COVID surge and
increased level of needs/complexity/risk

WHAT RISKS MAY ARISE AS A
RESULT OF THIS PAPER? HOW
CAN THEY BE MITIGATED?

Maintaining effective links with GM HSCP
CYPMH workplan / priorities and GM
commissioning plans
Continued locality engagement through Salford
Thrive Partnership and collaborative working
with GM HSCP, GM CYP Mental Health Board
and the GM Long Term Plan (LTP)
Implementation Group (CAMHS
Commissioners) will support focused work on
key priorities and help mitigate against the risks
identified above.
WHAT EQUALITY RELATED RISKS
MAY ARISE AS A RESULT OF THIS
PAPER? HOW WILL THESE BE
MITIGATED?

DOES THIS PAPER HELP ADDRESS
ANY EXISTING HIGH RISKS FACING

The services commissioned /delivered as part
of the Thrive Plan aim to contribute to Salford’s
work in reducing health inequalities and
improving access to support for the most
vulnerable young people.
The activities and priorities outlined in the plan
contribute to national and GM access and
waiting times standards.

Page 20

THE ORGANISATION? IF SO WHAT
ARE THEY AND HOW DOES THIS
PAPER REDUCE THEM?

PLEASE DESCRIBE ANY POSSIBLE
CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
ASSOCIATED WITH THIS PAPER.

N/A

PLEASE IDENTIFY ANY CURRENT
SERVICES OR ROLES THAT MAY BE
AFFECTED BY ISSUES WITHIN THIS
PAPER:

CCG/Council commissioned children and young
people’s mental health and emotional health
services.

Footnote:
Members of Children’s Commissioning Committee and Health and Wellbeing Board will read all papers thoroughly. Once
papers are distributed no amendments are possible.

Page 21

Document Development
Process
Public Engagement
(Please detail the method i.e. survey, event,
consultation)

Yes

No

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Social Value and
the impacts on the Salford socially, economically
and environmentally?

Comments and Date
(i.e. presentation, verbal, actual report)

Various services have engaged
directly with young people and
parents via surveys, events and
consultations which have helped
inform our understanding of needs
and identified priorities.



Page 22
Clinical Engagement
(Please detail the method i.e. survey, event,
consultation)

Not
Applicable





Via the Thrive Partnership and
associated working groups (such as
the Neuro Development Pathway
Steering Group and Transitions
working group), Thrive Programme
Oversight Group, CYPCG, and direct
discussion with clinicians in CAMHS,
42nd St, GMMH, KOOTH, Gaddum,
and GM HSCP commissioned
services including GM Crisis Care
Pathway.
Social value is considered at service
level.

Outcome
CYP engagement activities
supported via Youth Service,
mental health services and
schools, both locally and at
GM level.
CYP focused engagement
events are planned by GM
Bee Heard and Salford Thrive
Network in 2021-22

Has ‘due regard’ been given to Equality Analysis
(EA) of any adverse impacts?
(Please detail outcomes, including risks and how
these will be managed)



Page 23



Legal Advice Sought
Presented to any informal groups or committees
(including partnership groups) for engagement or
other formal governance groups for comments /
approval?
(Please specify in comments)

No EA / EIA has been undertaken of
the overall programme as there are
no planned reductions in
service/provision. Salford’s
Inequalities Strategy work / needs
assessment will help improve our
understanding of need in 2021-22.
We will consider how we could
undertake an EIA on the Thrive Plan
as a whole in 2021-22.



Yes – please see attached
governance schedule of all Salford
Groups engagement in the
consultation / decision making
process.

All feedback informs regular
updates / amendments to the
report and plans for 2021-22
if required.

Note: Please ensure that it is clear in the comments and date column how and when particular stakeholders were involved in this work and ensure there is clarity
in the outcome column showing what the key message or decision was from that group and whether amendments were requested about a particular part of the
work.

Salford Thrive Plan – Update 2021
1.

Executive Summary

Salford Children’s Commissioning Committee and Health and Wellbeing Board and
is requested to:




Note progress on the Thrive work programme in 2020-21, as outlined in detail in
the attached Salford Thrive Plan - Update 2021.
Approve and support the publication of the Thrive Plan Update on CCG and
Council websites by end of March 2021
Support the proposed priorities and plans for 2021-22.

The Thrive Plan Update 2021 is also provided to all other Council / CCG governance
bodies for assurance and information as per the attached schedule, and are also requested
to:
 Note progress on the Thrive work programme in 2020-21.
 Support the proposed priorities and plans for 2021-22.

2.

Background

1.1 The Salford Thrive Plan is our integrated local transformation plan (LTP) for children’s emotional
health and wellbeing. The Thrive Partnership acts as the ‘expert reference group’ and is
responsible for shaping priorities and for supporting implementation of the Thrive Plan (formerly
known as the CAMHS Transformation Plan). The Thrive Plan sets out the over-arching work
programme and priorities for children and young people’s emotional and mental health. The CCG
and Council has established joint governance arrangements to oversee and support the Thrive
work programme via the Thrive Programme Oversight Group, which is co-chaired by the CCG
clinical Lead for Children and Young People and the Council’s Assistant Director of Nursing and
Wellbeing / Chair of Salford’s Children and Young People’s Thrive Partnership.
1.2 It is a statutory requirement that all CCGs produce and publish an annual update to their local
transformation plans and that this is achieved by the end of March through publication on CCG
and Council websites. Through devolved responsibility, GM provides advice and support to
CAMHS Commissioners but does not have to scrutinise all local plans against the KLOEs (Key
Lines of Enquiry) which provide the framework for what is required to be included in national
guidance to support the production of plans. This year we have undertaken a self-evaluation
(audit) against the new KLOEs and this is included at Appendix B and summarised in Section 3 in
the report.
1.3 At late notice, NHS England confirmed with GM Health and Social Care Partnership that the
requirement to publish refreshed plans by end of March would be stood down and delayed until
30th September 2021, due to pressures across the health system. However, we had already
drafted our report by this point and planned the consultation and governance schedule so we
agreed to proceed with the original deadline of end of March. We will instead undertake a 6-month
review after Q2 (end of September 2021).

Page 24

1.4 Salford’s Thrive programme is focused on enabling as many young people to ‘Thrive’ as possible,
through supporting the whole system with improved understanding and awareness of children’s
emotional health and wellbeing / mental health needs and improving the confidence of the whole
workforce in identifying needs and helping young people and / or managing risk support. Progress
against our plan and priorities agreed for 2020-21 is set out under our ‘Ambitions’ and young
people’s ‘we statements’.

3.

Report contents and overview

3.1

An Executive Summary of our key achievements and challenges is provided in section 1.

3.2

The Introduction in section 2 includes an overview of the additional pressures that COVID19 has placed and continues to place on the children and young people’s emotional health
and wellbeing system and provides an important context for our update report this year. Other
locality strategic work is also included to highlight the links across the wider children’s 0-25
transformation, health and social care programmes.

3.3

The Key Lines of Enquiry are outlined in section 3, and an infographic summary of our
compliance against these is provided to show where we have more to do.

3.4

The Greater Manchester children’s and young people’s mental health programme is
covered in section 4, and a full GM update report is included in Appendix C. some key priorities
are co-ordinated/supported or driven at GM level and this also feeds into our RAG rating
against some KLOES where Salford’s role is to influence or support joint commissioning
arrangements.

Page 25

3.5

Section 5 provides a comprehensive overview of the progress we have made against our
delivery plan and priorities for 2020-21. This section is set out under our ‘Ambitions’ for
children’s and young people’s emotional health and wellbeing (see diagram under 2.4 above).

3.6

An overview of the finance and investment in children’s emotional health and wellbeing in
Salford, and what services and support that our combined funding provides is outlined in
Section 6. We also include a forecast of our investment plan for 2021-22, and more details of
our funding and budgets is contained in Appendix H.

3.7

Section 7 provides an overview of Salford’s performance against our key national and GM
outcomes targets and indicators. We also identify the elements of children’s emotional health
system that are most challenging in terms of access and performance, and what we are doing
to address these. Additional and more detailed service and activity data information is included
in Appendix I.

3.8

Finally, in section 8 we provide a summary of the key priorities for 2021-22 that were
identified by our Thrive Partnership in December. Partners agreed that last years priorities will
roll forward and continue as ‘normal business’ but the priorities identified for next year reflect
the critical issues, concerns and challenges that have surfaced during the pandemic and are
placing new/additional pressures across the children’s and young people’s emotional health
system. How we manage some of these pressures will have a significant influence on how we
deliver on our plan and on our performance against our key indicators over the next year.

4.

Recommendations

7.1 Salford Children’s Commissioning Committee and Health and Wellbeing Board and is
requested to:




Name:
Title:

Note progress on the Thrive work programme in 2020-21, as outlined in detail in the
attached Salford Thrive Plan - Update 2021.
Approve and support the publication of the Thrive Plan Update on CCG and Council
websites by end of March 2021
Support the proposed priorities and plans for 2021-22.

Emily Edwards
Senior Integrated Commissioning Manager, Salford City Council and CCG.

Page 26

Salford Thrive Plan
2021

Final Draft (March 2021)

Page 27

Contents Page
1
2

Executive Summary

Page 4

Introduction

Page 6

3
4
5

KLOES

Page 10

GM CYP Mental Health Plan: 2020-21 update

Page 12

6
7

Our Ambitions:
Ambition One
Ambition Two
Ambition Three
Ambition Four
Ambition Five
Ambition Six

Page 12

Finance and Investment

Page 41

Performance, Outcomes & Service Data

Page 44

8

Priorities for 2021-22

Page 50

9

Key References / Links

Page 51

Appendices

Page 51

10

Page 28

1

Foreword
In a year unlike any other, Salford has continued to work collaboratively to meet the mental health
needs of our children and young people, our Salford Thrive Plan documents and is testament to
the multi-agency, whole system approach in Salford. We know from National research that mental
health is worsening amongst young people, recent data from the Mental Health of Children and
Young People in England, 2020: Wave 1 follow up to the 2017 survey shows that:
“Rates of probable mental disorders have increased since 2017. In 2020, one in six (16.0%)
children aged 5 to 16 years were identified as having a probable mental disorder, increasing
from one in nine (10.8%) in 2017. The increase was evident in both boys and girls”.
Local intelligence shows this is reflected in our population and with the impact of Covid 19 we are
committed to providing ongoing support, promoting early identification of mental health needs,
including areas such as prevention, resilience building, early-help for those with low to moderate
needs, targeted work with vulnerable groups and evidence-based treatment for complex needs.
The services continue to be made up of a range of functions designed to best meet the needs of
our diverse and increasing population.
Salford has been committed since 2015 to improving the mental health of our young people and
the report sets out the ongoing developments of which there are many.
We know that the pandemic has had significant impact in our young people lives. There are levels
of uncertainty around the future, particularly the impact of this pandemic and the subsequent
lockdown on their education and future prospects. Additionally, adolescence is a time that can be
centred around a young person’s social life, their friendships, and relationships, which have been
disrupted during lockdown.
In addition to the broad, and widely varied, experiences of all young people, there are a significant
number of children and young people dealing with a whole range of complex and potentially
traumatic experiences during the lockdown period, without their regular coping strategies and
escape mechanisms of school and social activities. Our time spent in school, during those
important developmental years of our adolescence shape us and pave the way for our future.
Schools offer children and young people routine, purpose, friendships, and connections with
adults who they often trust and rely on. School life also offers respite for victims of domestic
violence – children benefit from the positive relationships they build at school which can
compensate for less supportive or accepting home environments.
We know that many families are struggling to juggle homeworking with home-schooling and still
find the time to unwind and self-care, particularly single parents and those in insecure or low paid
work. This document shows our commitment to working with our communities and schools,
working with the wide range of professionals who can improve outcomes for families and build
on the commitment and dedication of all of our staff in improving children’s emotional health
and wellbeing.
Our services have responded to those needs and adapted and managed surges in capacity,
responding to our young people’s needs in a variety of ways, worked collaboratively across health,
social care and education and with families to reduce the risk of harm and improve outcomes for
young people.

Page 29

2

We would like to thank all the dedicated and hard-working staff that deliver our children and
young people’s mental health services Salford, including Manchester Foundation Trust, 42nd
Street, GMMH, Gaddum and KOOTH, our colleagues within the public and voluntary care and
social enterprise sector, the wider Greater Manchester health and social care system and all our
and colleagues in the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership for your continued
support. Everyone has been fantastic and worked tirelessly to deliver quality services to our
children and young people in Salford.

Steve Dixon
Chief Accountable Officer
Salford CCG

Charlotte Ramsden OBE
Strategic Director, People
Salford City Council

Page 30

3

1.

Executive Summary
Back to Contents

2020-21 Highlights: a summary of key developments and challenges in the last 12 months
Despite the pressures over the last year, there were many achievements in 2020 that deserve to
be celebrated. Over the next year it is important that we pause to reflect and learn from our
experiences (good and bad) and make time to consider how we can ‘build back better’ and
ensure that we retain and grow these positive developments, and continue to provide new and
improved access and pathways for children and young people. A summary of our main
achievements is outlined below:
 Mental Health in Education – Mental Health Support teams (MHST): Salford was selected as
a GM trailblazer site to implement MHSTs, we are calling ‘Thrive in Education’ team. A
blended / multi agency team across health, VCSE and education, with offers of targeted
interventions made to 38 schools and a co-ordinated ‘team around the school’ approach
with more than 10 others, and Salford’s Orthodox Jewish Community schools to be engaged
and supported as a sector.
 Gaddum: increased CCG funding to extend capacity of their bereavement counselling service
for young people aged 11-18 in response to existing capacity issues and anticipated COVID
pressures
 Kooth online emotional health and wellbeing service – commissioned and funded by GM
Health and Social Care Partnership in Salford in 2020-21 to provide additional capacity in
response to COVID. Potential GM-wide specification and commissioning plans to be
developed in 2021.
 Salford strategic review of children’s and young people’s counselling – commissioned by
Salford City Council and CCG and to be undertaken by University of Salford, started in
October 2020.
 Neuro Development needs-led pathway: significant progress on developing pathway in
preparation for launch in January. Communications already shared with GPs in December
and planned across the wider system January - March 2021.
 Transitions Policy & pathways guidance documents in final draft and are subject to partner
governance and sign off.
 COVID impact, recovery & surge planning ongoing and subject to regular review. CAMHS
COVID Surge Plan implemented from 1st December and will mean prioritisation of young
people to focus on those with highest levels of need / urgency. Impacts for the wider system
have been considered and stronger links between CAMHS and 42nd St Duty teams agreed.
 A proposal for additional capacity in 42nd street has been submitted to address COVID
related service pressures, capacity and sustainability. This is under consideration.
 A Thrive Partnership engagement meeting was held on 8th December, to identify challenges
and priorities for 2021 and to inform the Thrive Plan update report 2021.

Page 31

4

 MSEDS: business case for recurrent additional investment in eating disorder service
approved.
 Ongoing delivery of Thrive and Trauma Training programmes, evaluation reports and
recommendations provided in December to inform future commissioning plans.
▪
▪

238 people attended 9 Thrive related training and staff briefing sessions between
April 2020 – Jan 2021
914 people attended 10 trauma training workshops between July-November 2020

 Ongoing: Thrive Network: email bulletins continue to be sent out on a weekly basis providing
service updates, information and resources alongside the EHWB webpages being kept
updated, online directory format revised and updated
In December, Salford Thrive Partnership met to review progress against our Plan and to identify
key challenges and priorities for 2021-22. These are detailed in Section 8, and summarised
below:
Summary of key challenges:
▪ COVID 19 – lockdown restrictions, access and pathways, health and safety, shift to digital
access/remote working, re-introduction of face to face services, CYP difficulties in
engaging in services from home (privacy, other priorities/family issues, technology)
▪

Surge pressures, service planning and assurance, frequency of communication across the
system to keep children’s workforce, parents/carers and young people informed of
changes

▪

Impacts on waiting times and pace/scale of development in online/digital offer

▪

Staff, service and commissioning capacity to deliver on priorities, develop, implement
and monitor new projects services. Staff shortages, vacancies, sickness and self-isolation

▪

Maintaining service staff wellbeing and motivation

Page 32

5

2. Introduction

Back to Contents

COVID-19
This has been an unprecedented and extremely challenging year for all of us and one that has
placed a significant pressure on services and staff and has certainly impacted on priorities and
workplans. The COVID 19 pandemic has exacerbated pre-existing service pressures and this is
reflected in record numbers of young people both within inpatient and community settings,
across GM and within Salford, and demand surge is predicted to continue for some time yet. The
pandemic has had a significant and ongoing impact on our residents, and for many children and
young people and families in Salford has caused tremendous and ongoing disruption to
everyone’s lives and has heightened distress and anxieties and resulted in increased mental
health needs. This has been especially true for young people that have pre-existing mental
health illnesses and/or additional needs or disabilities.
Whilst the pandemic has increased distress and anxiety across the general population, it has
been particularly challenging for those children and young people who may already experience
vulnerabilities such as those who are BAME, LGBTQ+, or come from disadvantaged backgrounds
and may not have access to the resources they need to access on line support, engage
effectively in home learning, to participate in hobbies and interests / sports and leisure activities,
and to keep in touch with friends and families. Conversely, services have reported that for some
young people the lockdown restrictions have actually helped to reduce anxieties for example by
not having to attend school, not being exposed to distress triggers (bullying, travel, exams etc.)
and has provided more quality time at home to do the things they enjoy. Only time will tell what
the long-term impacts of the pandemic are on outcomes for children.
In addition, the impact of COVID has been disproportionately felt amongst those aged 16-24.
This age group has experienced the biggest drop in employment compared to others, with
306,000 fewer young people in work in July-September 2020, compared to before the pandemic.
During the first lockdown, the proportion of young people who lost their main job was three
times the figure across all employees. As a result, Universal Credit claims rose significantly over
the summer, with under-25s accounting for a third of all new applications. We know that these
economic impacts drive up mental health need/demand and there is a strong link with increased
risk of self-harm, particularly amongst young women. 1
Although the overall impact of the pandemic has been acutely negative and the challenges for
services unparalleled, we can’t fail to be amazed by how our services, staff, schools,
communities, and families have managed to continue to support children. In fact, the response
across the system has been incredible and far reaching and there are numerous examples
throughout our Thrive Plan Update that really showcases the best of our staff and services in
rising to the challenges faced over the last year.
Indeed, there are many examples of projects and services being co-designed, re-designed,
transformed, commissioned and delivered at significant pace and scale and not just of service
continuity. Many of these can be held up as the very best practice and these improvements to
pathways and services must now be sustained and our plans adapted to ensure that we continue
to build on the achievements for years to come. The collaboration and teamwork, ambition and

1

Samartians, Cornavirus Policy Brief: young people who self harm (Dec 2020)

Page 33

6

commitment within services and across our Thrive Partnership has been instrumental to
Salford’s progress on our Thrive Plan and ambitions this year.
Some services have really risen to the challenge in response to COVID by reaching out and
targeting support to our most vulnerable groups. A great example of this is the special wellbeing
packs put together in Salford CAMHS.
Inspired by some of the support for NHS workers, the CAMHS Young
People’s Participation Group ‘Becoming who you want to bee’ came
up with the idea of providing packages for the most vulnerable
Salford CAMHS young people, to help support their wellbeing,
engage in positive activities, be creative, self-soothe and to reduce
stress. A staff group called the ‘CAMHS crusaders’ collected
hundreds of donations from various retailers and local partner
organisations, such as Evolve Beauty, Tesco’s, Burt Bees, Miller
Harris, the Body Shop and The Lowry. Items included toiletries,
stationery, toys, and arts materials. Thanks to one CAMHS employee
who previously worked in retail in one famous London department
store, the team even received a vanload of amazing toys from Harrods which were delivered in a
Harrod van directly to Pendleton Gateway – they even provided Harrods bags to give out with
the gifts! All the gifts were put together with personalised messages of support and bespoke
resources such as sensory items and mindfulness activities, and were hand delivered to over 200
Salford children and young people.

Salford Thrive Plan – Update 2021
The Salford Thrive Plan is what we call our children and young people’s mental health (CYPMH)
Local Transformation Plan or CYP Mental Health and Wellbeing Strategic Plan as it’s known in
some localities. As stated in the guidance, these plans should be a ‘transparent, organic living
document, locally developed by partnerships that include the NHS, Local Authority Children’s
Services, the voluntary and third sector, education and justice agencies and children, young people
and their families/carers’.
The aim of the plan is to:
a. demonstrate progress to date, achieved over the course of the Five Year Forward
View for Mental Health,
b. take into account Covid-19 impact, recovery and restoration plans and
c. set out local ambitions to further improve children and young people’s mental
health, as set out in the NHS Long Term Plan.
These Plans, aligned with wider Sustainable Transformation Partnerships (STPs) or Integrated Care
Systems (ICS) plans at both GM and Salford level, help local areas to monitor how the rise in
funding, whether allocated by the NHS England and Improvement or other joint agency
contributions, is used to deliver the vision set out in Future in Mind, the Five Year Forward View
for Mental Health Programme and now the NHS Long Term Plan. For links to relevant
documentation and guidance, please see Section 9.
Plans should clearly evidence how an area is working collaboratively to take action and increase
the scale and pace of progress of reducing health inequalities in the development and delivery of
services, and to regularly review this progress. As has been described already, the impact of the
pandemic has been felt disproportionately on certain sections of the population and local plans

Page 34

7

are required to reflect this. Effective local governance arrangements and alignment with other
strategic plans which address these health inequalities is key to successful development and
implementation of our Salford Thrive Plan.
Readers are reminded that whilst we review/refresh our Thrive Plan annually, this build on
previous reports and on our initial CAMHS Transformation Plan which was published in 2015 and
set out Salford’s long term strategy and vision for improving children and young people’s mental
health. This Update therefore needs to be read with reference to previous reports, particularly
the Salford Thrive Plan Update 2020 and provides a progress report on the priorities we set
ourselves for 2020-21. It does not seek to repeat what has been said previously.

Salford Locality Plan
Salford's Locality Plan2 and is the ‘blueprint’ for our health and social care. It explains how the CCG
and other NHS providers and commissioners; Salford City Council and voluntary and community
sector will build on what is already in place so that services work better and cost less.
Our vision is for Salford to be a place where everyone can enjoy the best opportunities that Salford
has to offer. People in Salford will get the best start in life, will go on to have a fulfilling and
productive adulthood, will be able to manage their health well into their older age and die in a
dignified manner in a setting of their choosing. People across Salford will experience health on a
parallel with the current ‘best’ in Greater Manchester, and the gaps between communities will be
narrower than they have ever been before.
Salford’s Locality Plan was first launched in 2016, but was refreshed in 2020, looking back on what
we have achieved so far but also addressing where there is more work we need to do.

0-25 Advisory Board – developing an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy
In December 2020, the 0-25 Advisory Board considered a presentation from the Council’s Strategy
and Change team around young people, equality, diversity and inclusion in Salford. The City Mayor
has requested that an Equality Strategy to be developed for Salford, to be developed with the
wider community. To date there have been 6 focus groups with members of the community that
have been led by colleagues at Salford CVS. The sessions were predominately adult focused but
the key headlines that people have said matter to them most are feeling isolated, excluded,
invisible and that their experience is not heard. People have said that they want to be represented
in decision making and have their difference valued, have physical and digital access to services,
input to service delivery and are communicated with the correct language and format.
The data included in this presentation and the full document is contained in Appendix A:
Understanding Need and includes the following information and data:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪
2

Demographics taken from the 2011 Census
0-25 Population
0-25 Ethnicity
Migration
0-25 Long Term Health Problem or Disability
Children with Disabilities
Carers
Lone Parents

https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan

Page 35

8

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Sexual and gender identity
Education – KS2, KS4 and language
Child Poverty
Unemployment
Covid and the disproportionate economic impact of the pandemic

The 0-25 Advisory Board were asked to consider the following questions:
▪
▪
▪
▪

Given the increasing diversity of CYP in the city, how can we improve outcomes for all
children and young people?
What do we need to do to break down systemic barriers and better meet the needs of
our diverse CYP and families?
How can we make sure our CYP settings and services are inclusive and that we are
levelling up their experience and outcomes?
What are the priorities for action – short term, 12 months, longer term?

Communities of identity were also considered, not just communities of place, as well as recent
work in relation to Black Lives Matter, anti-racism and multi-cultural society. It was agreed that
there is much more to do to ensure we effectively engage of our communities in co-producing
this work, especially children and young people. This work will be a city priority in 2021 and
inform future Thrive Plan work to ensure we are better informed in tackling inequalities and
supporting our most vulnerable young people.

SEND Strategy and Inspection
Our refreshed SEND Strategy 2019-21 sets out our vision that ‘Every child and young person aged
0-25 with SEND will have the fullest opportunity to be happy, healthy and achieve their full
potential’, and is available on the local offer3. The Strategy includes an up to date assessment of
local need for children and young people with additional needs and this data is included in
Appendix A: Understanding Need.
In December 2019, Salford was subject to a Local Area SEND Inspection visit by Ofsted and the
Care Quality Commission. The report was published on Ofsted’s website in February 2020. The
inspection looked at how Salford Council and Health Services work together to meet the needs of
children and young people with special educational needs across the 0-25 age range. Inspectors
reviewed how these needs are identified, how they are assessed and met and how these
interventions improve outcomes for the children and young people.
This was a very wide-ranging inspection of the support for children and young people aged 0-25
with special educational needs and disabilities and is testament to the hard work of a large number
of services across education, health, social care and the voluntary sector, which has been
recognised in the report as contributing to improving outcomes for children, young people in the
city and their families.
The report commends work across all services to implement the significant SEND reforms of
recent years and celebrates the impact of partnership working in the city. The inspectors have
specifically highlighted many strengths including:
▪ Our ambitious plans and accurate understanding of strengths and weaknesses
▪ Partnership working across education, health and social care
▪ The Council and CCG’s joint planning and delivery of services
▪ Our SEND Strategy
3

https://directory.salford.gov.uk/kb5/salford/directory/service.page?id=PvWywpXueeI&localofferchannel=0

Page 36

9

▪
▪
▪

Children and young people’s views of staff across Salford
Timescales for completing EHC assessments and the capturing of children’s and parents’
aspirations
Parents’ views of special schools and resourced provisions

The report also highlighted the quality of many of our services and included positive feedback on:
▪ Area SENCOs and Portage
▪ Information Advice and Support Services
▪ Educational psychology support
▪ Learning Support Services
▪ Virtual School
▪ Designated Medical & Clinical Officers
Innovative good practice has also been recognised, including:
▪ Placing families at the heart of decision making
▪ Eight stage model for early identification of needs
▪ Dedicated paediatric clinics for SEND
▪ YOS – Access to specialist services
▪ ‘Voice of the Child’
▪ Jointly commissioned SALT services
▪ Comprehensive packages for our most complex children
▪ CAMHS and schools links
▪ Broad range of post 16 educational opportunities
▪ Wide training offer across the City
▪ Alternative provision
▪ Range of supported internships leading to paid employment
▪ ‘Moving on Up’ Group
The report also helpfully confirmed the areas that we want to improve. The inspection report is
both an important validation of the dedication and commitment from all those involved in
supporting children and young people with SEND and their families and the difference this is
making, as well confirmation of the steps we still need to take.

3. Key Lines of enquiry (KLOES)

GM audit 2020
Back to Contents

What are the KLOEs?
This document sets out the 2020/21 ‘key lines of enquiry’ or strategic priorities and example
indicators to support the updating of CYPMH Local Transformation Plans. It has been developed
following consultation with regional leads and other stakeholders.
In December 2020, Children and Young People’s Mental Health (CYPMH) Commissioners in
Greater Manchester undertook reviews of local transformation plans and audited these against
the new KLOEs, providing a summary self-assessment against the national and GM expectations.
We ‘RAG’ rated each priority area and provided assurance and references of what is in place or in
development locally to deliver on the high-level priorities. The completed audit tool is included in
Appendix B and includes evidence and assurance of what Salford and GM has in place to address
the national and regional priorities.

Page 37

10

These priority areas (KLOEs) are:
1. Transparency and Governance
2. Understanding Local Need and Addressing Health Inequality
3. CYPMH Local Transformation plan or CYPMH & WB Strategic Plan –Ambitions
4. Workforce
5. Health and Justice
6. CYP Eating Disorders
7. Data - Access and Outcomes
8. Urgent & Emergency (Crisis) Mental Health Care for CYP
9. Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP)
10. CYP Mental Health Services working with education settings (including Mental Health
Support Teams)
11. CYPMH Digitally-Enabled Care Pathways
The infographic below is a summary of our self-assessment and compliance against the KLOEs.
The %s show the proportion of the KLOES which we have either self-assessed as Amber/Green
and are therefore addressed in our plans and are either already in place or in development. There
are few areas where we have self-assessed as red and this is mainly due to information and
assurance awaited from GM Health and Social Care Partnership as part of the GM audit. Please
see Appendix B for more details on Salford’s KLOE self-assessment and the evidence link to this.
We don’t have any national or regional benchmark information to compare ourselves with and it
is proposed that the GM audit provides a pan GM analysis and will inform future areas of
development either where any themes/gaps are identified, or where examples of good practice
are highlighted.

Page 38

11

4. GM CYP Mental Health Plan:

2020-21 update
Back to Contents

The GM Health and Social Care Partnership programme team have provided a comprehensive
update on the elements of children’s and young people’s mental health transformation work
that is co-ordinated by GM on behalf of but working collaboratively with locality commissioners.
This update is provided in full in Appendix C and covers the following areas:
▪
▪

▪
▪
▪
▪

GM Mental Health Strategy and data, including national access and waits targets and
work being done to maintain, sustain and improve
GM transformation work programme which includes: Mental Health in Education; Crisis
Care Pathway; Learning Disabilities and Autism; SEND; GM i-Thrive work and the Thrive
model; Youth Justice; Perinatal and Parent Infant Mental Health; Community Eating
disorder services
NHS CAMHS Workforce Strategy
GM Partnership working, governance and oversight
Children’s and young people’s voice and engagement
GM Covid-19 response

5. Our Ambitions: 2020-21 Achievements

Back to Contents

A reminder of Salford’s Thrive Ambitions and young peoples’ ‘we statements’ (Appendix D)

Page 39

12

AMBITION 1: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 1: Improved awareness & understanding
Our Priorities for 2020-21 were:
▪ Develop a support and supervision network to support children’s workforce to ensure
they receive the support they need to carry out their work safely and confidently
▪ Explore Salford as a potential GM pathfinder site for roll out of Mental Health Support
Teams in schools, building on CAMHS School Link model, EFS and other good practice
(via national / GM roll out of Mental Health in Education programme)
▪ Continued delivery of mental health training and development to develop the
children’s workforce skills and confidence (local programme and Gm i-Thrive
academy)

Consultation and Support
GM i-Thrive team has started work on developing consultation capacity, and in October 2020 led a
GM wide consultation training for professionals to support the wider workforce. Enhanced
consultation and support has been put in place in Salford via the CAMHS Single Point of Contact and
CAMHS duty function, with more bookable appointments available for Childrens’ Services and
Health professionals and support provided for multi-agency panels, case conferences and Early Help
triangulation (referral and triage planning) meetings. The role of the new Thrive in Education team
(see below) will be instrumental in providing improved access to consultation and support for the
education sector and developing a peer supervision model for education staff.
The multi-agency triangulation work is supported by CAMHS Single Point of Contact worker to
ensure triage follows appropriate pathways and that young people are directed to ‘right service /
right support at the right time’. The current members of the triangulation meeting include Early
help, Youth Service, 0-19 health, School coordinator and Education Welfare (adding their expertise
on EBSA pathway), supported by CAMHS and our new Neuro Development Pathway Learning
Disability Nurse.

New: Triangulation and Assure App
Triangulation is supported via the new ‘Assure App’. Assure is a web-based tool which has been built
by Salford Local Authority for use, at least initially, during the COVID-19 period. Its purpose is to
enable information sharing amongst the staff of different agencies to make sure that vulnerable
children and young people (CYP), and their families, are identified and appropriately supported. The
primary focus is for children who are a cause for concern but would fall below the threshold for
being a safeguarding concern and the more formal protections associated with this. The use of this
tool does not replace the usual processes and procedures for referrals into the Bridge for
Safeguarding or Early Help.
The tool holds information from: Education (School Attendance, Virtual School, SEND), Early Years
(Early Years Settings Attendance, Early Years SEND), Social Care (CP, CIN, LAC), Early Help, Health,
Connexions, Shielding and Young Carers. We are continually working with wider services and
agencies to expand on these. It also identifies the perceived level of risk by each agency at the time
of entry. This can be raised or lowered by each agency as circumstances change.
13

Page 40

The tool is dynamic. It allows for agencies to find out who else is involved with a particular child or
family it allows you to see the child/families perceived risk level and enable an agency to request a
family is “triangulated” for a multi-agency support discussion (this does not replace other
multiagency meeting or the duty to refer to the Bridge, should there be safeguarding concerns).
Each agency will be responsible in ensuring that information from their Service area is kept up to
date.

Mental Health Support Teams - we call Salford ‘Thrive in Education’
This has arguably been our greatest area of development in 2020 and has been significant piece of
multi-agency working throughout the year. Our 7-minute briefing below describes the Salford Thrive
in Education (TiE) offer. In March 2020 we submitted a successful expression of interest to the GM
health and Social Care Partnership to be a GM trailblazer site for implementing ‘mental health
support teams’ in schools, as part of the national Mental health in Education programme.
One of the key strengths in our proposal was the collaboration across education, health and VCSE
working together to pool our knowledge and resources. In Salford, we are calling our new approach
’Thrive in Education’ because that describes our ambition for ‘children to thrive in education’, and
for ‘education settings to provide the best possible environment to enable children to thrive’
Salford’s ‘blended’ model brings together an integrated
delivery team involving CAMHS, 42nd Street, Place2Be,
and Salford City Council’s Educational Psychology Service
and Early Help Schools Co-ordinator’s. The wider team
around the school approach will also involve our 0-19
School Health Service, Youth Service, Salford Community
Leisure, Salford Schools Sports Partnership and wider
Council education support services and children’s health
services.
As well as delivering 1-2-1 and group mental health
interventions for young people in education, the team
will offer training, advice and consultation, support with
onward referral to specialist services, links to voluntary
and community services, and will be developing a new
peer support or mentoring programme, training and
supporting young people to be peer supporters and
emotional health champions. The team is also
developing a physical activity on prescription offer to
provide alternative models of support for improving
children’s wellbeing through engagement in sports
and/or physical activities.

Page 41

14

The Thrive in Education team brings together a dedicated 18.4 full time equivalent
staff of which 15.4 are additional /new staff. The Salford TiE team staffing model is as
follows:
Thrive in Education team (staffing model)
CAMHS Service Lead (Band 8a)
CAMHS Senior Practitioner (Band 7)
CAMHS CY Wellbeing Practitioners (Band 6)
CAMHS CYP MH Nurse
Educational Psychologist
42nd St MHP (secondary schools)
Place2Be MHP (primary schools)
CAMHS Qualified EMHP (Band 5)
Trainee EMHPs (Band 4)
Trainee CYWPs
Administrator (Band 4)

WTE
1.00
1.00
3.00
1.00
0.40
2.00
2.00
3.00
2.00
2.00
1.00

In addition, the team is supported by:

▪

42nd Service Manager (shared post
with Manchester)

▪

Information, Monitoring and
Evaluation support (in all services)

▪

Place2Be Management and Admin
support

Between October – December 2020, the team have already engaged 38 schools (28 primary, 10
secondary) and as of 18th January 2021, the team have collectively supported or are currently
working with 187 young people, who are undertaking assessments, engaged in interventions and
receiving treatment. 23 schools have also participated in CAMHS Link referral training between
December and January 2021, with a number of staff attending from some schools. So far, the
feedback from schools and TiE workers has been incredibly positive, with teaching staff and school
leaders confirming that ‘this is just what they needed’ to provide better emotional health support
for children. Services are also enjoying working as part on integrated team and feeling they are now
able to offer a more joined up and improved service for young people.
Salford is one of four localities to be awarded 3 years National/GM funding to implement mental
health support teams in Greater Manchester, along with Manchester, Oldham and Rochdale. The
learning from the trailblazer sites will help inform the development and rollout of MHSTs across the
rest of Greater Manchester over the next few years.

Training and Workforce Development
The Salford Thrive training programme for 2020-21 focused on the continued delivery of the Youth
MHFA training both for schools and the wider workforce, and additional suicide awareness briefings
and training sessions.
Youth MHFA: planned delivery was for 12 x Youth MHFA 1-day training along with 6 x Youth MHF
Aider 2-day training specifically for Early Help teams funded via the GM iThrive team, however due
to the pandemic all training was postponed. In addition, 3 MHFA instructors have moved onto new
roles, meaning the training team’s capacity has been drastically reduced.
Suicide Awareness: Papyrus were commissioned to deliver a series of briefings, short training
sessions and the ASIST in-depth training commencing February 2020, with two Suicide PreventionOverview Training 90 minutes sessions being delivered, after which the remainder of the training
was cancelled.

Page 42

15

Towards the end of 2020 Papyrus developed their online training offer, with a 30-minute awareness
session (SP-ARK) and the SP-OT training (90 mins) now available. In December two SP-ARK sessions
took place with places prioritised for school / education staff, with 54 people attending, followed by
a SP-OT session in January 2021.

The Salford Way: Across Salford the recognition of Adverse
Childhood Experiences and development of a Trauma Informed
response to adversity are key to reducing poor outcomes for
children and families. The Salford Way strategy and aligned work
programme will support the workforce in the early identification
and prevention of additional traumas in a child’s life and provide a
universal language to aid practitioners to recognise their own and
other’s needs.
Training has played a key role in the work, supporting staff to have
the skills, understanding and confidence to work in a trauma informed way. The Salford Way training
offer has been developed to align to the Thrive model.
Awareness training (L1) was widely delivered across 20219-20 with a series of briefings and the
Salford Thrive conference, with delivery for 2020-21 focusing on skilled and enhanced (L2 & 3).
Zoe Lodrick, a specialist in the field of trauma informed practice, was commissioned to deliver a
range of training courses along with a staff conference to support the workforce in trauma informed
practice. Due to COVID restrictions the training offer was revised to offer a series on online
webinars, with delivery offered online via MSTeams with no limit on the number of people at each
session, as follows:

▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Vicarious and secondary trauma: ensuring care for the carer x 3 session
Vulnerable Teenagers – Trauma Bonding x 2 sessions
Working with / regulating Trauma x 2 sessions
Psychology of Sex Offenders x 2 sessions
Psychology of Domestic Abuse x 2 sessions

Page 43

16

The training was widely promoted across the local authority and partners with a total 1,002 people
booking onto the sessions, with an attendance rate of 91% (914) from a range of services and
partners.

Please see Appendix E for the full report
Salford Safeguarding Children Partnership (SSCP): the partnership was established during 2019-20
in line with the revised statutory requirements to oversee the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Children
arrangements within Salford comprising of three statutory partners; Salford City Council, Greater
Manchester Police and Salford Clinical Commissioning Group.
The SSCP Training Programme is delivered by members of the SSCP training pool. Pool members are
practitioners who work in Salford and are released by their agency to deliver training. They are from
a wide range of partner agencies which helps to ensure that training meets the needs of a multiagency audience.
Due to the pandemic all face to face deliver was postponed in March with a revised virtual training
offer developed swiftly to meet demand. The vast range of provision delivered in 2020-21 includes
briefing sessions, statutory safeguarding training / refresher sessions, seminars, 2-3 hour training
courses, practitioner reflective sessions and guest speaker sessions, all training information can be
found via the following link: SSCP multi-agency training
The 2020-21 SSCP annual report will be available in July 2021.
New service briefings and engagement work
During 2020-21 a number of new services have been commissioned and to raise awareness and
support their delivery online briefing sessions have been provided, available to anyone working or
volunteering within the city.

Page 44

17

Kooth: launched in Salford in April 2020, provides free online counselling for young people aged 1118 along with a wide range of resources including chat forums, self-help resources and crisis
information. To promote the new service 4 online briefing sessions took place in May 2020 with 78
people attending.

Gaddum: To promote the new young carers service along with the revised Child Bereavement
Therapy Service, both delivered by Gaddum, a 90-minute online session was developed in response
to the current pandemic and the impact on Salford children and young people. The briefing raised
awareness of the two services, looking at the interventions and support provided along with advice
for professionals and the referral process. The session took pace in October 2020 and was attend by
24 people from a range of services and schools.
Wellbeing for Education Return is a national training and resources package intended to support
education staff (to promote children and young people’s, teachers’ and parents’/carers’ mental
wellbeing and resilience and aid mental health recovery, in light of the impact of COVID-19 and
lockdown.
The Wellbeing for Education Return training has been developed by the e-learning platform MindEd,
working closely with the Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families (AFC), who delivered the
training for local specialists to disseminate to schools and colleges.
Salford City Council asked the Educational Psychology Service to lead this programme locally, in
consultation with other providers. The training was delivered in two 90-minute webinars to
nominated education setting staff during the Autumn Term 2020.
The first webinar (Webinar One) covered a whole school or college approach to promoting wellbeing
and resilience. The second webinar (Webinar Two) built on the first and focused on helping school
and college staff to reflect on ways that they can continue to apply theory to real life practice. It
covered specific concerns related to mental health and emotional wellbeing, such as bereavement
and loss, anxiety, low mood, stress and trauma, warning signs and signposting. Webinars were
delivered virtually.
In total, 41 settings and 10 supporting services participated in the webinars.
Skills in supporting staff, children and young people with their
emotional wellbeing and mental health
45

38
23
0

0
1

6

3

2

0
2

Pre-training

3

10

4

Page 45

Post-training

5

18

The webinars will be followed up in Spring 2021 with smaller group weekly themed sessions
facilitated by the Educational Psychology Service and other guest experts from local organisations,
including:
▪ supporting loss and bereavement in schools
▪ Staff wellbeing
▪ Trauma-informed approaches to supporting young people:
▪ Anxiety
▪ Exam stress
For full report please see Appendix F
Child Bereavement UK a national bereavement charity that helps children and young people (up to
age 25), parents / families, delivered a 90-minute webinar for Salford. The webinar provided some
understanding of the impact of bereavement on children and young people, drawing on both
theoretical background and practical interventions. With the learning outcomes focusing on:

▪
▪
▪

A basic understanding of grief theory
Improved confidence in addressing bereavement issues
Knowledge of practical interventions with bereaved children and young people

The session took place in October 2020 and was attend by 58 people, as follows:

Thrive communications and resources
Communications and engagement in 2020 have never been so critical in supporting the Salford
workforce, parents/families and young people with accurate and timely information about services,
training, COVID and support and resources to help those working with children and young people.
Communications throughout the year were primarily targeted through the Thrive network email
bulletin, providing information and resources, updates on service activity locally, online training
opportunities and sharing good practice. Key information for schools and education settings was also
cascaded via the School Newsletter and to GPs via the GP newsletter. At points, information went
out 2-3 times a week.
The Emotional Health Directory is regularly updated
with a COVID Service update section so that
professionals have access to the most up to date
information on service delivery.
Between April and December 2020, the page hosting
the directory has had 902 views of which 425 were
unique users, spending on average 3.30 minutes on
the page. The directory is also available via the
Salford Local Offer for parents and carers, with the

Page 46

19

new Youth Zone webpages providing information on emotional health and wellbeing, including access
to the online directory.
The Salford Thrive webpage continues to evolve with new
pages created to host the Wellbeing Return to Education
training information, and under school resources, a page for
Emotionally Based School Avoidance (EBSA) containing a
range of information, including the EBSA pathway and
referral forms, good practice guide and links to webinars and
training.
With a Thrive Updates page created to host selected
information from recent Thrive bulletins.

AMBITION 2: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 2: Timely access to effective child-centred EHWB support
Our Priorities for 2020-21 were:
 EFS implementation in new settings – early years and post 16 education and training
 Finalise and implement new transitions policy and guidance for young people with
complex needs, and to support improved mental health transitions
 Implement an integrated eating disorder pathway for young people, with noninterruption of care at age 18 and / or earlier access to adult services if and when needed
 More work on delivering an improved health (including mental health) offer for care
leavers, and improved transitions between children’s and adult services.
Emotionally Friendly Settings (EFS)
A review of the EFS standards was started in 2020 and is ongoing. The review is looking at both the
accreditation standards and the process of accreditation itself and will involve consultation with the
EFS Accreditation panel members in Spring 2021. EFS standards have been mapped onto GM
standards. The process of accreditation is being reviewed in response to feedback from schools and
panel members and it has been agreed that the new process will introduce a school visit at bronze
level, so evidence can be ‘seen’ by panel members rather than submitted only as paper evidence.
We expect to roll out the new standards and process (for bronze, silver and gold awards) in
September 2021.
There are currently 91 Salford schools engaged with EFS, 38 of which have a wider ‘Thrive in
Education’ offer. Following the EFS Accreditation panel held in December 2020, 3 more schools were
awarded their bronze accreditation for the first time, including 2 of the Thrive in Education schools.
Plans are in progress for rollout across other settings including Early Years and Post 16. The Early
Years EFS is in the final stages of design, with a view to launching through a virtual event in spring
2021. The Educational Psychology Service (EPS) will be working closely with Starting Life Well to roll

Page 47

20

out the Early Years EFS. The Post-16 process is also near completion; the manual is with the design
team and roll out expected to post 16 settings in summer 2021.
Alignment with Thrive in Education (TiE) work / new offer: A number of TiE schools (10+) are now reengaging with EFS through refresher training and/or repeating their staff/pupil audits and a small
number are engaging with EFS for the first time. We are aware of 2 schools with TiE offers which are
engaged in other action plans, but do not wish to undertake EFS yet. One TiE school is working
towards gold accreditation this academic year.
Other EFS plans include supporting the development of new sports/physical activity standards and
embedding these as new standards in the EFS standards framework. Plans are being discussed in
relation to EP support with a proposed TiE School Peer Leadership model and/or additional support
for work around staff wellbeing. The EFS review has also given rise to discussions around including
peer-peer support as part of the accreditation process e.g. a silver accredited school might support a
school with their bronze accreditation. A parent audit for EFS being developed and is likely to be
piloted Spring 2021.This could link with wider initiative of TiE Peer Leadership model. These will all
be included as part of the wider TiE work programme.
The EBSA (emotionally based school avoidance) pathway rolled out in September 2020 with several
training sessions delivered to professionals and schools, with monthly centralised training free to
schools. A parent offer of support has also been developed alongside this EBSA pathway and Thrive
in Education schools are invited to take part in CO-CAT study/ parent support through Canterbury
Centre / anxiety workshop co-delivered by the EP service, CAMHS and 42nd street.

Transitions Policy
There has been a huge amount of work over the last year to develop an integrated and improved
approach to transitions. The work has involved engagement and co-production across the system
and involved children’s and adult commissioners, service leads and worked across education, health
and social care, co-ordinated and supported by the Complex Needs Transitions team. From a mental
health perspective, both children’s and adult service leads and commissioners have worked together
to review exiting arrangements and to support the development of an improved transition pathway
for young people at age 16/18 from Childrens’ to adult mental health services or into primary
care/community provision and into adulthood in general. An integrated ‘Salford Multi Agency
Transition Policy and Process’ has been developed to provide a policy framework and practice
guidance which sets out how we will work together to support all young people with additional
needs move from childhood to adulthood. The aim, where possible, is to support young people
through mainstream services and where young people need a commissioned or specialist service,
this will be developed to enable the young person to become independent and gain the skills for a
successful adult life. Success will be measured by outcomes for young people and the extent to
which they are in control of their own lives and are enabled to be active and contributing citizens. All
agencies, organisations and professionals will use a strengths-based conversation model of
assessment and support.
The Draft Policy and practice guidance is planned to go via service and integrated commissioning
governance for approval from early 2021 and aims to be signed off and implemented in Spring.

Eating Disorder Service and transition pathways
In 2020, children and adult commissioners have undertaken work to ensure improved alignment of
pathways and transitions for young people aged 18+. Adult Commissioners have made a successful
business case which aligns adult service referral to treatment times to Children’s and work is

Page 48

21

underway to implement this with services expected to operationalise the new model from April
2021. Additional resource was supported in 2020 to address existing waiting lists. Improved
collaboration with commissioned children and young people’s eating disorder services was an
additional focus of the business case.
Children’s commissioners have reviewed service specifications and agreed a new pan GM
Community Eating Disorder Services (CEDS) specification, aligned to national / long term plan
expectations for growth to support development of an integrated eating disorder pathway for young
people and non-interruption of care at age 18, or earlier access to adult services if and when
needed. The Salford/Manchester commissioned ‘MSEDS’ service was reviewed and a joint business
case developed by Salford and Manchester commissioners working collaboratively with MSEDS
service leads and increased investment agreed, initially to end of March 2021 and re-currently
thereafter to support service development and continuity.
The revised GM service specification and additional investment MSEDS will support:
•
•
•
•

All 8-18-year olds with ED to be seen within specialised CEDS service, and not within core
CAMHS, with flexibility to extend beyond 18 to not interrupt an episode of care for an arbitrary
transition age (in line with GM Transition of Care Recommendations).
All CYP CEDS teams need to have a paediatrician for 2 sessions per week.
Providers are to be cognisant of transition of care recommendations.
QNCC-ED led review of GM service.

Evidence is emerging that COVID lockdown has been a catalyst for an increase of disordered eating
in vulnerable groups, including children and young people with eating disorders, anxiety disorders or
Autism Spectrum Disorder. Both locally and nationally, services are reporting an increase in referrals
of young people requiring high intensity interventions and hospitalisation and are also reporting a
deterioration in the clinical presentation of existing patients. This will be an important area of focus
and close monitoring in 2021-22.

Improved support for Care Leavers
In August 2020, Salford Council and CCG commissioned a new programme of support for Care
Leavers, linked to the Next Steps Care Leaver Service. Pure Insight have been commissioned to
deliver this targeted support as outlined in the box below. Pure Insight delivers a range of targeted
projects that provides practical and emotional support for young people aged 16-25+who have left
or are about to leave statutory care.

Page 49

22

In December 2020, Pure Insight provided an update on delivery to end of November: the service
received 56 referrals into services, 16 young people were supported during the first lockdown, 24
provided emergency support, there were 43 referrals into psychological support with 25 receiving 12-1 support, there were 18 referrals into trauma informed counselling and 11 referrals into
mentoring. Multiple additional outcomes were also reported including reduced substance misuse,
secured tenancies and young people supported into education, employment and training or
volunteering.

AMBITION 3: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 3: Targeted support for the most vulnerable, and improved crisis
care for 2020-21 were:
Our Priorities
 Contribute to the development of a new Inclusion strategy, and ensure that services






support the most vulnerable including LGBTQ+, BME, LAC and young carers,
Implementation of a new needs-led integrated neurodevelopment pathway
Roll-out of ICRS across Salford’s Early Help Hubs
Implement Peri-natal and infant mental health programme in Salford (including Homestart (see Ambition 4)
Continued development of our Youth Justice offer, locally and GM programme
Develop ‘risk support’ guidance for practitioners to support young people in distress and
/ or in crisis, experiencing self-harm and suicidal ideation

Education Inclusion Strategy
Salford’s trauma informed Educational Inclusion Strategy is an ambitious 3-year plan. It establishes
our vision and road map to develop a trauma informed Education Inclusion Strategy to ensure that
our children and young people are in a school or educational setting which is right for them,
supported by trauma informed professionals within and around the school, where their emotional
and learning needs being met, and where they feel included, valued and invested in as an individual.
The Strategy will bind together and further develop various areas of work currently being
undertaken across the authority to support our aim and to identify new areas for development.
The strategy has 3 strands:
▪
▪
▪

STRAND 1: Team Around the School
STRAND 2: Trauma responsive settings and practice
STRAND 3: Processes, Provision and Governance

Thrive Partners were an integral part of the working groups which developed key strands of the
Inclusion Strategy, particularly relating to Social emotional and mental health (SEMH) and emotional

Page 50

23

health and wellbeing support. This development work is still ongoing and their input continues to be
valuable.
Support for LGBTQ+ young people in Salford
The Salford LGBTQ+ working group has only met once during 2020-21 due to COVID pressures on
services, in addition the chair of the working group moved to another area, which has impacted on
momentum. The plan for 2021-22 is to review the aims of the working group along with the action
plan and build on the last 3 years activity.
During 2020 the LGBTQ Inclusivity Resource Handbook has been developed by 42nd Street and
Salford Youth Service, the handbook has been designed to provide productive and accessible tools
for LGBTQ+ inclusion, and aims to bridge any gaps in knowledge and provide an insightful and
productive resource for improving LGBTQ+ inclusion across the city.
The Resource handbook was launched in March and all schools in Salford, both primary and
secondary, will be sent a copy to support their LGBT+ inclusivity work. In addition, participants
attending the LGBT+ Inclusivity training programme will have the option to purchase one for a
nominal amount.
The LGBTQ+ Youth Groups provide a safe space where young people can come make friends, have
fun and learn social education. The fact we target LGBTQ+ young people means we have to ensure
this is a very inclusive space for all our members, some young people will be more sure and
confident than others, some will be exploring there identity in terms of gender and may wish to
experiment with different names or pronouns, we encourage this. This group support and shared
experience is extremely important to help connect young people who can very easily become
isolated. Statistics also tell us 60% of LGB young people are likely to suffer from low mood,
depression and or self-harm, and 80% of Trans young people will suffer from low mood, depressions,
body dysphoria and or self-harm, so we are working with a very vulnerable group of young people.
Allowing them to come together, connect, support, meet other LGBTQ+ people, including out adults
makes a huge difference in reducing the risk of mental health issues moving forward.
Salford Youth Service continued to deliver the LGBTQ+ Youth Groups, revising delivery from outside
Covid safe sessions to inside safe sessions, with the team been creative in identifying suitable
venues. However, numbers being able to access these sessions were limited to comply with Covid
compliance. The sessions have been well attended with a waiting list for the group based in the west
of the city. The trans gender youth and parent group, T and Toast, which runs once a month was
initially stopped due to lockdown restrictions but did restart again in December with 4 young people
and 6 parents attending.
The groups have covered several key LGBTQ+ calendar dates, such as International lesbian day, Bisexuality awareness week, Trans day of visibility and remembrance as well as hate crime awareness
week. The projects celebrated the days, raised awareness but also allowed all the young people to
think about identity and difference in a safe and positive space. Using social media has been a big
part of what we have done recently as young people are able to work alone in a Covid safe way then
join it together online as a group so that has worked well.
The young people have gained many outcomes in this period. To start with many have had to engage
with us in a brand new ways, and building the confidence in this with young people and their parents
has been really important. This has been really helpful learning for our young people in terms of
other social environments like school and college.

Page 51

24

And crucially, during this unprecedented time, the young people have gained more confidence, felt
more connected, improved their mood, made friends and felt part of something bigger than just
them.
Salford’s Neuro-Developmental Pathway
Families and professionals in Salford told us that they have been facing different and varied
challenges around how to access the right support at the right time for children and young people
who have neuro-developmental conditions such as Autism and ADHD.
In response to this, a joint transformation project was agreed with SCC and the CCG to look at
service re-design. The Neurodevelopment Pathway work began in August 2019. Short term
investment to enable the system transformation was secured for additional capacity for
occupational therapy and the 0-19 nursing team for a time limited period to support the system
change.
A pilot phase was agreed and were panels established which were run in the 4 localities. The
referrals that were received into the CAMHs service in this time were diverted into the panels, this
was a targeted group to test the process, new referrals into other parts of the system continued as
before during this time.
The test and learn phase of the pilot completed in Autumn 2020 and identified that there were some
elements that needed to change - for example, the information coming through in referrals was not
holistic and didn’t give a complete picture of the child and their family. This meant the panel needed
more information before they could decide on the most appropriate next steps in order for the child
to receive the right support at the right time; it was clear that better connections were needed with
the early help part of the system for this to be achieved.
The new single point of access for referrals into the pathway will be through The Bridge (Salford’s
multi-agency early help and safeguarding referral hub), which will support a robust health and early
help triage process. We are now preparing all services for the next phase of delivery which will see
all referrals around neuro developmental concerns for children and young people going through The
Bridge from January 2021.
This means that any professional or parent/carer who needs additional support for a child in relation
to a neuro-developmental condition will have to make a referral to The Bridge to access that
support. This system went live from January 2021. A 7-minute briefing has been developed to help
describe the new pathway and will be supported by pathway guidance for referrers, which will be
rolled out across the children’s health, education and social care system in February-March.
A joint business case will need to be developed in 2021 to ensure sufficient capacity within the
services that are delivering the new pathway, including Community Paediatrics (see below), CAMHS,
0-19 and Early Help.
An improved parent and carers support offer is also being developed and this will be supported by
the ‘Riding the Rapids’ training for Salford practitioners in 2021 (see below for more information
about this).

Review of Community Paediatric Service
A review of the Salford Community Paediatric Service (CPS) was completed in October 2020. The
review identified a number of areas that needed to be addressed and there was a recommendation
that the service was re-specified to ensure that it was able to respond to the challenges and needs
within the population. This re-specification will address the new role of the CPS within the neuro-

Page 52

25

developmental pathway and this will be included within a business case being developed to support
the additional investment required by the CPS to meet all of the requirements of the new
specification.

Riding The Rapids
GM Health and Social Care Partnership have commissioned training for staff in Riding the Rapids: A
Parenting Intervention for Families Supporting Children and Young people with Learning Disabilities
and/or Autism.
Riding the Rapids (RTR) is a ten-week group intervention aimed at helping parents/carers of children
with additional needs to positively understand and manage their child’s behaviour, improving quality
of life and equipping families with skills to take on their journey with them. Designed for parents of
children with learning disabilities and/or autism the group materials can be adapted to support
parents of children in specialist or in mainstream provision. The course is divided into different
modules including:
- understanding the function of behaviour that challenges
- making environmental changes to support positive behaviour
- developing strategies to promote positive behaviour based on this understanding
- promoting positive attachments through better communication and play
- supporting parents self-care and promoting parental coping and wellbeing
Based on well researched principles of functional analysis, the course aims to give parents strategies
to help them in that moment in time, as well as skills they can apply to future challenges.
There are two Riding the Rapids courses; one for parents of primary aged children; and one for
parents of attending secondary school (‘Riding the Rapids: The Teenage Years’). The teenage course
also covers issues relating to puberty, developing independence, and internet safety. Some parents
who have accessed the primary course do access the secondary at a later stage in their child’s
development.
RTR will be fully funded by GMHSCP and the aim is to train 100 practitioners across GM by the end
of 2021. Facilitators are trained in groups of 10 from the same geographical area so they can form a
community of practice. The course is three days long and includes a clear course manual, parent
handouts, supporting administrative documents and bespoke pen drives which contain video to
support course material. All facilitators are expected to run a course in the twelve months following
training and to access supervision provided by the trainers during that first course.
RTR will fit well with our plans to develop and roll-out an improved support offer for parents/carers
and families in Salford. Salford practitioners will be undertaking their training between 14th- 16th
June 2021. RTR fits to the ‘getting help’ quadrant of Thrive model of care & provides a first step offer
of support for parents following service post diagnosis workshops, though can also be offer pre
diagnosis if the parents/carers are not in mixed groups. It is anticipated that this training will make a
real difference to the rolling programme of support that Salford will offer to parents in Salford as
part of our improved neuro development pathway.

Salford’s Integrated Community Responsive Service (ICRS)
ICRS is a multi-agency service led by 42nd street, supported by Mind in Salford, Self Help Services and
CAMHS and is integrated with Salford’s Early Help and Family Hubs. The service provides targeted
early help support for young people presenting in mental health distress and at risk of crisis
presentation via A&E or social care services. The aim is to identify young people on the ‘edge of

Page 53

26

crisis’ and offer early and brief interventions to prevent the issues from escalating further, or, could
be offered as a step down from crisis, and provides targeted 1-2-1 support for young people to
identify and address the causes of mental health distress and through agreeing strategies and plans
to helpfully mitigate these. What is unique about the ICR model is that it’s embedded as part of the
early help service which means that the service can supports a wider package of support such as
advice and support with financial issues (including benefits and debts), both for the young person
and their family.
ICRS was commissioned as joint Salford/Manchester pilot and approved for recurrent funding from
2020 to facilitate further roll out of the support for young people who may be at increased risk of
crisis, including: young people who are not in employment, education or training, young people
attending Pupil Referral Units (PRUs) and those who may have been ‘missing from home’ or who are
‘edge of care’. There is also now a referral pathway from the Youth Service to target support quickly
to young people presenting in distress and reduce likelihood of escalation.
In 2020, the service has rolled out to a second neighbourhood hub in ‘South’, it’s collocated with
Early Help and Child in Need team. The ICR mental health practitioner contributes to the neighbour
team approach and provides invaluable consultation and advice for workers as well support for
young people themselves. This ensures an enhanced offer of support from the Early Help and CIN
teams and that staff are continually gaining knowledge and skills and feel more confidence in
working with young people and their families around the topic of Mental health. As a result, workers
feel better able to support young people and are now less likely to automatically refer on to mental
health services. In December, the service rolled out a dedicated pathway for ‘Route 29’ young
people (Salford’s No Wrong Door integrated care model), which means there is targeted mental
health support for young people who may not meet the threshold for CAMHS psychologist support
and provides more choice.
The impact of COVID has meant more young people are presenting with higher levels of need and
increased complexity. This has meant that the ICR service has been required to provide increased
support with case management and safeguarding. ICR workers have continued to operate
throughout the pandemic, with remote support (video, telephone, online) and some face to face
over the period. We have learned that some young people engage better remotely and would like to
continue this as an offer going forward alongside F2F.
Early Help teams have fed back that ICR workers support with case discussions is invaluable,
supporting practitioners with information, tools and strategies to support young people on Early
Help caseloads, particularly around issues such as anxiety, low mood and school avoidance. ICR also
provide responsive support around potential crisis cases when needed, helping to de-escalate issues
quickly. Consultations continue to be delivered virtually whilst staff are working remotely.
ICRS has also been working in partnership with the ‘Change Makers’ who are a group of young
people passionate about young people's rights and mental health, and have been trained to support
their peers whose voices are rarely heard when campaigning for change. They will be running
workshops and consultations with young people from the ICR service to ensure these voices are at
the forefront of campaigns and social action.

Implementing a Peri-Natal Infant Mental Health (PIMH) service
A business case has been approved to implement support for Parent and Infant Mental Health, we
have had PIMH provision in Adult mental health services for some time but the business case will
join the system and provide mental health support for children under the age of 5 and link to CAMHS

Page 54

27

services and the wider community and early help offer. This programme will be a key system
development in 2021 and will sit under the ‘1001 days’ strategy and governance.

Youth Justice Service (YJS) targeted CAMHS support
Salford continues to benefit from a targeted YJS CAMS worker, who is co-located with the YJS team
and provides both 1-2-1 assessment and support and consultation and advice for professionals,
input to care plans, pre-sentence reports, staff training and supervision, and via complex case
panels. Consultation and advice around sexually harmful behaviour, remains a key area of staff
support, mainly for children with learning disabilities, as well as advice and support around young
people who self-harm and have suicide ideation. However, over the past year, there has been a
focus on embedding learning around trauma and resilience into YJS work following the extensive
training programme provided in Salford this year. Despite COVID, the CAMHS YJS worker has
continued to support young people and staff remotely via digital technologies and provided support
in community settings for those who have needed face to face support and when possible within
COVID safety rules, including supporting joint home visits for young people identified at risk. Group
work also resumed over the summer.
The YJS CAMHS worker also continues to support young people to engage in / access other specialist
services and assessments such as ADHD assessments and psychiatry appointments, which in turn
support young people to better understand their own behaviours/responses to aspects with their
day to life, both at home and in other settings such as education. Between April and September
2020, and in site of challenges due to COVID, the CAMHS YJS worker supported 90 young people via
1-2-1 appointments and supported 40 staff consultations. A priority for 2021 will be improving
pathways and integration between CAMHS, Route 29 (Salford’s No Wrong Door model for children
on the edge of care) and the Complex Safeguarding Team where young people are known to
multiple services.
In January 2021. the YJS CAMHS worker started a Postgraduate Certificate in Supervision Skills for
mental health professionals through the CYP-IAPT programme, delivered by the Greater Manchester
Mental Health Foundation Trust. This will complete in June and will enhance the worker’s capacity
and skills in supervision and consultation, in advising and supporting other professionals in the youth
justice team and across the wider children’s workforce.

Improving risk support and crisis care pathways
The Thrive Partnership identified last year that there was a need to do more to support the Children
and Young people’s workforce with improved information and understanding of the ‘risk support’
and ‘crisis care’ pathways. Progress on this work have been significantly delayed due to real time
COVID pressures, particularly on clinical services. However, October 2020 the Thrive Partnership
held a focused meeting on Crisis Care and Risk Support, with 25 members in attendance to hear
inputs from Early Help and The Bridge, CAMHS, 42nd Street, GMMH All Age Mental Health Liaison
team (based in Salford Royal A&E), the GM Crisis Care ‘Rapid Response Team’, and Public Health
team.

Page 55

28

The focused session particularly imperative in the
context of COVID related pressures and reports across
services regarding increased levels of need and
complexity of young people, and of increased mental
health referrals and anticipated ongoing surge
demand. Services shared information and updates on
service pathways and highlighted areas of
development, which was helpful in raising awareness
and providing assurance of the support in place in
Salford.
Through partnership engagement, we were able to agree crisis care and risk support priorities for
Salford over the next 12 months. These include:

▪
▪
▪
▪

Developing a crisis care ‘pathway on a page’ to support professionals, supported by a 7minute briefing, to support ‘right service, right time’
Better information & support for parents via Salford webpages, Mind-Ed and Kooth
CAMHS briefings for social care staff, via lunch bowl practitioner events and increased access
to consultation for council staff
Improved co-ordination of crisis care data, supported through tableau to inform service and
pathway improvements

Domestic Abuse and BOND programme (New)
The Domestic Abuse (DA) practitioner’s guidance was developed and disseminated across Childrens
services. A training package was developed in line with the introduction to the practitioner’s
guidance, pathways and tools. 8 managerial training sessions, 16 training sessions attended by over
200 LA staff was delivered via Microsoft teams to give insight into the tools and practitioners
guidance. The tools introduced within the guidance and upload onto care-first are identified below.
Tools included: the severity of abuse grid, The safe-lives individualised safety plan ,written
agreements were removed from use with victims, written agreements were adapted and completed
with perpetrators to place accountability on perpetrators for their own behaviour, the perpetrator
‘RESPECT DASH’ was introduced, the inventory of controlling behaviour’s was introduced , the deescalation plan.
Pimms data enabled the review of the use of the victim’s tools onto care-first and is monitored
weekly to ensure increase in the use of the tools and high-light any services who might need support
in implementing them further into practice. 8 Multi agencies audits have been completed in
response to DA chaired by the Referral and Initial Assessment Team (RIAT) Manager with an overall
finding that DA responses have improved with the use of the DA tools and guidance implemented.
Results from a survey monkey highlighted that 70% of practitioner were aware of the Harbour
provision, 90% of practitioners were aware of the support the DA lead offered within the survey with
over 50% seeking direct support through a collaboration of lunch bowls, team training, 121 support
or general advice.
To ensure training was put into practice, DA case file audits were completed with the support of the
quality assurance team. The audits identified clear use of the SOAG, safety plan and DASH when
supporting victims which was a real positive progression. It was clear from the audits that when
responding to victims and children, the practitioners guidance was followed and appropriate
referrals were evidenced to have taken place to MARAC, SIDASS (adult victims service) and Harbour
(YP DA service) which ensured the level of risk was appropriately managed. The YP DA lead also

Page 56

29

chaired SCR reviews with primal factor being DA to support in a partnership response to supporting
children and families effected by domestic abuse.
Harbour young people’s domestic abuse service was commissioned in April 2020 and supports YP
age 5-18 from Salford or from a Salford school who have witness or are experiencing domestic abuse
or are using abusive behaviours in intimate relationships, peer on peer or to parents. This service is
part of the BOND scheme. The service has currently to date received 157 referrals with 82%
engagement rate. The Harbour provision is viewed to be evidencing positive outcomes for children
and families and is a cost-effective approach to positive change. Due to this it is under evaluation to
become permanent. The social impact report for the year will be available for review in April 2021.
Recent quarterly report from Harbour identified positive feedback through client feedback
questionnaires
Harbour is integrated into operation encompass and has created supporting literature to guide
pastoral staff in response to operation encompass when children arrive at school. A clear referral
pathway is established to support education to make referrals into service wen required with a link
worker to the schools for support.
A social impact report and video of children’s feedback is available in Appendix G.
Perpetrator provision is now available across Salford starting February 2021. This was made possible
via BOND and an initial 108K commission from the CCG to deliver on a small scale, support for
perpetrators deemed standard, medium and high risk. TLC (Respect accredited perpetrator provider)
agreed to deliver the provision and Salford council managed to secure match funding from the home
office with a led application from the PCC/ TLC for 230K

AMBITION 4: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 4: Parental support and programmes for those who need it
care Our Priorities for 2020-21 were:
▪
▪
▪
▪

Contribute to the development of a Salford Parenting Strategy, in partnership with
parents in Salford (to include parent resilience, physical / mental and social health)
Maintain / develop our neighbourhood parent peer support groups
Continued co-production of the adult ‘Living Well’ model, to pilot in one area of Salford
from 2020
Continuation of Home-start baby Bond (as part of new PIMH – see Ambition 3) and
implement new support for dads though ‘Dads Matter’

Developing a Salford Parenting Strategy, and parenting support
We have developed a parenting strategy for Salford which includes the Solihull Approach as our
population level offer. The Solihull programme enables families to access a wide range of universal
and targeted parenting programmes online. This online parenting offer has proved to be invaluable
during the pandemic. We have developed an antenatal and postnatal pathway for families which
was initiated as a result of the pandemic and Solihull is a central tenant of this pathway. Baby Leads

Page 57

30

in each of our localities make contact with families to give them access to the courses and check in
with their progress. These check ins have enabled the Baby Leads to explore any arising issues and
put appropriate support plans in place. Our Parenting Team offer tailored parenting support to
families who have been identified as requiring further parenting support. Members of the team
apply their skills and knowledge of the Incredible Years programmes to do this.
We had to pause the roll out of the Empowering Parents, Empowering Communities (EPEC) universal
parenting offer across the city. However, we will be picking this back up in 2021 as we have devised
a virtual implementation plan for the project.
Last year we initiated a project plan to build upon the successful work undertaken in the Little
Hulton pilot rolling out the 18-month universal assessment. The 18-month assessment conducted by
Early Help Practitioners in partnership with the 0-19 Health Visiting Teams is now in the initial stages
of citywide rollout.

Parent Peer Support
Salford’s Health Improvement Team has been leading on community peer support work for some
years now. A parent peer support project was commissioned through transformation funding
specifically to develop peer support networks for parents experiencing difficulties and challenges
around their children’s emotional and wellbeing and mental health. The idea and need for peer
support came through engagement and consultation with parents themselves who told us they can
feel very alone and unsure of how best to support their children’s wellbeing. Some parents had set
up their own peer support group in Little Hulton and the feedback from parents was really positive
around how support from other parents in a similar position was invaluable and reassuring.
Learning from the Little Hulton group, the aim was to provide forums for other groups to meet up
and share their experience, to support each other in a safe space and to invite ‘experts’ into groups
to talk about specific subject that parents felt would be helpful in helping them to better understand
their children’s emotional health and wellbeing needs and how best to support them. Co-ordinated
by the Health Improvement team, a number of Parent Peer Support Groups were starting to gain
traction following several engagement events at the Council Chamber and the setting up of a What’s
App Group which now has over a hundred members. Then the pandemic hit and priorities changed,
with face to face work stopped/paused and staff allocated to various COVID related programmes of
work across the city, including delivery of the Spirit of Salford Hotline to help local residents. Prior to
this, several groups were actively meeting in person and such as the Spectrum Group in Kersal and
the group in St Paul’s Group in Walkden.
During lockdown, the HI team have kept in touch via their mailing list and have shared information
and resources to support parents and to keep in touch. The team have also worked closely with
Salford Information and Advice Support Service (SIASS) and with children’s mental health services to
support them and to offer some online sessions.

Living Well programme
The Living Well UK Programme is a national three-year programme to help us think differently about
mental health support. It will help Salford to focus on people’s skills, aspirations and experiences to
build a different way of offering support and help. Over the last eight years, Lambeth has been
changing their mental health support to help everyone who experiences mental health difficulties to
work towards recovery, stay well, make their own choices and take part in everyday life. Salford,
Luton, Edinburgh and Tameside and Glossop have all been chosen to learn from this work as part of
a programme funded by the National Lottery Community Fund. Salford will be working with the

Page 58

31

Innovation Unit, a not for profit social enterprise. The Innovation Unit will help all the sites in the
Living Well UK programme to develop their own local systems to meet the needs of local people.
We are calling this work ‘Living Well Salford’.
As part of the NHS Long Term Plan, localities are being asked to realign community mental health
services with primary care networks (PCNs), creating ‘new and integrated models of primary and
community mental health care’ by 2023/24. NHS England has published a Community Mental Health
Framework, giving further detail on what these models of care might look like, with a range of
models currently being tested. To support these integrated models, Mental Health Practitioner
(MHP) roles are included in the GP Contract Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme from April
2021. A proposal for the future delivery of an ‘extended reach living well’ service with the PCNs has
been approved at Primary Care Commissioning Committee, resulting in investment of £954K. Staff
are expected to be in post for April 2021.
The Living Well multi-disciplinary team (MDT) is now operating across Broughton, supporting people
who are not reaching the criteria for secondary care mental health services but require more
support than primary care can offer. Input from the national Innovation Unit has been extended
until the end of March 2022 due to the impact of COVID on the wider national programme. This will
support our timescale to develop a business case in the summer of 2021 and will allow us to access a
longer period of external evaluation.
As part of the Living Well Programme, collaborative sessions are held with wider stakeholders to
support system working and co-design. The next Collaborative for the programme will be focused on
childrens’ to adult services transition for people falling between primary care and secondary care.

Homestart Baby Bond and Dad’s Matter
In November 2020, Home-start Trafford, Salford and Wigan held
a virtual celebration of 21 years of family support.
Since 1999, the service has supported 4 and half thousand
children from over 2,000 families and grown its volunteer base
from only 8 in 2000, to 217 in 2020.
In Salford, Home-start supported 49 parents between April and
September 2020 and
to date, has engaged with 59 volunteers that have all
attended the additional HSPPP volunteers training day. A
further 12 were due to attend training at Salford
University in March but this had to be postponed due to
Covid 19. To date, 42 volunteers have also completed the
Baby Bond PIMH 4-day training course. 30 new
volunteers were recruited this year and have started the
core Volunteer Preparation Course. 4 sessions of remote
PIMH training have been set up and we have trained 5
staff and 2 trustees, with plans to roll this out to
volunteers.
Through lockdown many of the families that Home-start supports have needed more therapeutic
mental health intervention as a result of the pandemic. Ordinarily, clients are referred to services
such as IAPT, however this has been a real challenge during lockdown and has highlighted a gap in
support for families at this critical time, negatively impacting on the families’ capacity to cope and
their emotional resilience. In response to this emerging need Home-start secured some additional

Page 59

32

Covid lottery funding and are currently offering brief interventions/solution focussed counselling,
consisting of 6 to 10 virtual face to face 50-minute sessions. This is being provided by an existing
Home-start Co-ordinator who is a qualified (level 6) psychotherapist and registered with the British
Association of Counselling and Psychotherapy. This pilot started in quarter 2 during which the
service received 7 referrals from families already engaged with Home-Start.

‘Dad Matters’
Dad Matters supports dads to have successful relationships with their families, and with managing
anxiety, stress and mental health issues through peer support and signposting. Dad Matters aims to
get dads engaged with services that have traditionally been targeted at mums. We work directly
with services which support dads, families and especially babies, to increase engagement and
knowledge across the sector. We want to make sure dads know how important they are, how to
access support when they need it and why it’s essential for baby’s development.
The Dad Matters team is made up of specialist staff from Home-Start Oldham, Stockport & Tameside
(HOST) and the Tameside Early Attachment Service (NHS) with links to midwifery, health visiting,
mental health services and voluntary sector organisations across Greater Manchester
Since commencing the project in April we have managed to reach 111 Salford dads and another 15
dads who were referred into the service for targeted 1-1 work from various professionals and
services across the region.
Understandably Covid-19 has had a significant impact on how many dads we were expecting to
engage with in Salford due to the fact over 90% of our engagement work was face-to-face. We have
had to shift our strategy and approach significantly to try and mitigate for this and although we
haven’t seen the same number of dads as we would usually expect, we have had a good impact.
Some of the changes we made included moving our antenatal ‘dad chat’ to a more in depth online
antenatal class. Due to the success of these, they will continue even when we are able to do face-toface sessions. For the dads referred into the Dad Matters service, on the last Saturday of each month
we have arranged for walk and talks and a chance for the dads to connect with others. In order to
maintain this remote peer support we have created closed Facebook groups and even though for a
time we were restricted to engaging dads inside maternity hospitals, we held a number of ‘pop up
shops’ where we were able to engage with dads whilst their partners were in for various antenatal
appointments, some even whilst their partners were in labour. More recently we have been able to
offer outreach inside antenatal clinics and made further links with the rainbow clinic at St. Marys.

Page 60

33

AMBITION 5: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 4: Transparency and accountability across the whole system
care Our Priorities for 2020-21 were:






Further development of Salford’s Thrive programme to include system transformation,
service re-design, improved pathways between services, more integrated working and
co-location in neighbourhoods (involving commissioned mental health providers, early
help and children’s services, IYSS, schools and GPs)
Continue to use local needs assessments and continued development of the emotional
health and wellbeing dashboard to ensure intelligence led commissioning plans
Undertake review of children’s counselling needs and provision to inform future
commissioning and investment plans
Consider the need for extended / more flexible services for young people aged 18-25,
learning from Salford’s community eating disorder services (see Ambition 2)

Salford Thrive system transformation and service redesign
In spite of COVID pressures we have continued to progress a number of system and service
transformations and examples of these are dotted throughout this report, including the Neuro
Development Pathway pilot which completed in 2020 and is now going live in 2021 and Salford’s
multi-agency Transitions Policy development. Internal service redesign work has also been
undertaken to support system wide transformation work, and a good example of this is the work
within CAMH service to re-organise resources and processes around the neuro development
pathway. Instead of neuro development referrals into CAMHS following a linear pathway, with some
young people and their families having to attend a number of separate appointments with different
professionals to support a neuro developmental assessment, these have been re-designed to
operate as an integrated clinic with all professionals being brought together as a team to offer /
provide all aspects of the assessment and support at the same time and place. This reduces
significant the burden on parents/families having to attend multiple appointments over several
weeks or months. The feedback from both families and professionals on the pilot approach so far is
exceptionally positive and will further enhance and improve the experience for families who are
involved in the Neuro development pathway. Plans are to roll this out more formally from April
2021.
A collaborative review of the mental health and early help referral systems was undertaken in
anticipation of COVID surge pressures and increased level so needs and risk linked to referrals.
CAMHS and 42nd street talked through examples of recent referrals to support Council early help
service leads in understanding the nature / level of need, reasons for referral and processes which
services followed in assessing cases and agreeing pathways. The Bridge Partnership (multi agency
safeguarding and early help referral hub) also participated and will be looking to include mental
health referrals in the scope of future Bridge transformation workplans in 2021. This work has
improved understanding of current mental health referral and assessment pathways, and has
informed further collaborative work across the children’s services system to increase mental health
input and consultation in the early help assessment and triangulation (risk assessment and
allocation) process, has led to an increase in capacity of the ‘single point of access’ role and CAMHS

Page 61

34

duty function and has informed an agreement to develop and test a single point of access via The
Bridge for cases when referrers who are not sure of where best to refer young people. It’s also
supported great collaboration between mental health services to support decisions around
accepting referrals and / or when to escalate/de-escalate.
Work is underway in Greater Manchester to develop an approach to mental distress in children and
young people. We know that many young people have had traumatic experiences in their lives, often
this manifests itself if distressed behaviour such as self-harm and suicidal ideation, truanting,
violence or risk taking behaviours, we are working with Greater Manchester to develop an edge of
care response which provides residential respite for those young people with wrap around mental
health support. This will reduce the number of children who do not meet the threshold for Tier 4
mental health support and are sometimes placed in secure residential provision.
Needs assessments, dashboard and intelligence
Our routine approach to collecting/collating and sharing data via our quarterly Thrive Dashboard
was paused during COVID due to pressures across all services as well as a reduction in Thrive Partner
meetings/length of meetings. However, routine quarterly service reporting has continued, and
additional information provided periodically by services to commissioners in order to provide
assurance and intelligence around COVID pressures. Services have provided headlines on
demand/surge, numbers of referrals, nature of referrals and level of acuity/need including rising
levels of anxiety, self-harm and suicide ideation. Data was also provided more frequently by CAMHS,
GMMH, Salford Royal and by the GM Crisis Care team relating to crisis presentations and cases
requiring tier 4 assessment / in-patient beds and urgent treatment. There has also been an increased
number of individual and complex cases requiring multi agency panel (MAP) and/or CETR
consideration or review due to crises and escalating needs, where mental health issues are often the
symptom of a wider mix of issues involving social care, education and family support.
Close monitoring of waiting times and waiting lists has also been a priority over the last year. Greater
flexibility of some services during the pandemic has meant that referrals and young people awaiting
treatment or in treatment have dipped in and out of provision, with some opting to pause treatment
or decline services, whilst others have sought to shift to drop ins and check ins on switch to online
support. This intelligence around young people’s preferences will be invaluable in supporting future
commissioning and service delivery plans and will inform whether further investment maybe needed
as well as service redesign – what we want to keep versus what we may want to stop doing.
The GM tableau report is updated and provided by the GM Health and Social Care Partnership and is
the key document we use to inform on progress on access and waiting times standards and national
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) across GM and by locality. This report is reviewed and monitored
by the GM Long Term Plan Implementation Group (GM CAMHS Commissioners) and at the dedicated
GM Data Club. We also share the GM report with the Thrive Partnership and Oversight Group to
track Salford’s overall performance against national expectations. See Sections 4 and 7 for more
information about Tableau and performance monitoring.

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and other local assessments of need
The Salford Time to Act group is a subgroup of Salford’s Health and Wellbeing Board who have been
meeting weekly to consider the health inequalities aspects during COVID and to coalesce rapid
action for the Locality Plan priorities. These are Child poverty, Mental wellbeing, loneliness and
climate change all of which have direct and indirect impacts on children and young people. A
business planning group met in January 2020 to consider priorities for the Health and Wellbeing
Board in 2021 and agreed to reconvene the Locality Programme Group (LPG) which had been stood

Page 62

35

down for the COVID pandemic. The LPG is also responsible for the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessments (LPG/JSNA group). The JSNA programme will include needs and strengths and include
the views and aspirations of local people, not just data and deep dives on request.
An all age mental health ‘rapid’ needs assessment is underway primarily focusing on the impact of
Covid but this document will update data from our All Age Mental Health Needs Assessment. A
further 0-25 needs assessment will be developed in March to map distance travelled since our last
Needs assessment in 2015 and set priorities for future focus.

Strategic review of children’s and young people’s counselling
Following reviews of individual counselling services over the last couple of years, Salford City Council
and CCG agreed there was need to undertake a system wide review of counselling provision in Salford
in order to inform future commissioning plans and investment. The scope for the review is outlined
below. The Review is funded by the Council and CCG and has been commissioned to the University of
Salford to undertake, in consultation with Salford Thrive Partnership and wider children’s
stakeholders. Counselling is a key element of the children’s mental health system, but concerns have
been raised over a number of years about gaps in provision, pressures on some services and lack of
access to support for those children who do not attend a school which directly funds provision. The
review will provide aims to:
▪
▪
▪

form a picture of need for CYP counselling services in Salford
determine whether current provision meets that demand
provide recommendations that will inform future Council and CCG commissioning and
investment plans for children and young people’s counselling in the future

The scope of the review will include the following:
▪

▪

▪
▪
▪

▪

General counselling: Including commissioned provision in voluntary sector and/private
sector delivery and schools-based counselling procured directly via schools or Counselling
provision employed and / or directly delivered by in house teams in
schools/colleges/universities. This may include new developments that have been externally
funded through local, or national grant funding, or GM pilots. We have a variety of
commissioned providers.
IAPT Step 2 provision (for people aged 16+): delivered for CCG by Six Degrees. Psychological
Wellbeing Practitioners (PWPs) delivering low intensity CBT for common mental health
disorders such as mild or moderate depression, panic disorder or generalised anxiety disorder.
Counselling for CYP affected by a family bereavement (Gaddum / Hospices)
Therapeutic support for families supporting children with a life limiting condition / palliative
diagnosis
OTHER non-commissioned provision including local and national services available via open
access e.g. online/helplines, or local targeted/chargeable provision in Salford. There are
various provisions included here.
Commissioned provision in GM that may be accessed by Salford young people, such as the
GM Universities Mental Health Service.

We hoped to start work on the review in April 2020, but this was paused due to COVID pressures
and restarted in October 2020. It is likely to take a couple of month longer to complete due to
pressure both on the University and our key stakeholders, as it will involve extensive stakeholder
engagement with commissioners at a local and GM level, children’s and young people’s
professionals and services, counselling service providers and schools. The University will also seek
direct input and views from children and young people themselves.

Page 63

36

The Council and CCG will consider the findings and recommendations of the review which will be
presented in a formal report through joint Council and CCG Governance, which will inform our future
commissioning and investment plans. It is anticipated that the review will complete in May/June 2021.

Extended services for young people aged 18-25
A number of our services already operate up to age 25, including 42nd Street core and online support
and further extension of support up to 25 is needed both to ensure continuity of care for some
young people that need ongoing support beyond 18 as well as targeted support for young people
aged 16/18+ who may not meet thresholds for adult services but do have emotional health needs, or
other vulnerabilities that may impact negatively on their mental health and wellbeing. We also know
that many young people experience ‘a cliff edge’ as they turn 18 and no longer have access to the
level and range of support they had as children. Transitions at 16 and 18 are particular risk points for
young people as they move in to further and higher education and into adulthood, many move away
from home and lose the established support networks they may have relied upon to get by or thrive.
For most young people, turning 18 does not fundamentally change their capacity to cope, yet many
of our services do not support them beyond their 18th birthday. We are agreed that we need to build
in greater flexibility to our services to extend support beyond 18 for those that need it, and this is a
key expectation in the Long-Term Plan.
In 2020 Salford commissioned KOOTH to provide additional online service capacity in response to
COVID pressures. Whilst the current funding and specification for this service supports young people
up to age 18, GM commissioners have agreed in principle the desire to develop a GM wide
specification and to tailor the service for the needs of GM young people, including extending support
to age 25. Work is expected to start on a GM specification in spring 2021.
We have already reviewed and revised our eating disorder pathways to provide continuity of care
beyond 18 for those who need it, and in 2020 we approved a GM ED specification and business case
for the Salford and Manchester service to extend beyond 18 and to work more collaboratively with
adult services to ensure safer and smoother transitions and greater choices for young people post
16. See Ambition 2 above for more information on this work.
The COVID pandemic has once again highlighted the vulnerabilities for young people aged 16 / 18+
and for young adults moving into higher education, employment and training. Young people aged
16-25 have been significantly and disproportionally impacted by COVID, with extensive disruption to
education and many more experiencing furlough/unemployment. The emotional and mental health
impacts on young people linked to the pandemic have been well publicised over recent months and
for this reason, the Thrive Partnership has agreed that strategies and services to support this age
group as a key priority for 2021-22.

Page 64

37

AMBITION 6: Progress
Back to Contents

AMBITION 6: Children and young people have a voice
care Our Priorities for 2020-21 were:
 Further development of Salford’s Thrive programme to include system transformation,





service re-design, improved pathways between services, more integrated working and
co-location in neighbourhoods (involving commissioned mental health providers, early
help and children’s services, IYSS, schools and GPs)
Continue to use local needs assessments and continued development of the emotional
health and wellbeing dashboard to ensure intelligence led commissioning plans
Undertake review of children’s counselling needs and provision to inform future
commissioning and investment plans
Consider the need for extended / more flexible services for young people aged 18-25,
learning from Salford’s community eating disorder services (see Ambition 2)

CYP Voice and Engagement
A CYP Voice and Engagement Group was established to lead on children and young people’s voice
and engagement plans with representation from Salford Youth Service, 42nd Street, CAMHS and
Children’s Services. The action plan currently focuses on the following priorities:

▪
▪
▪

Peer Support
Co-production with young people
CYP Voice

Salford’s GM i-Thrive ‘subject matter expert’ funding been reallocated to support children and young
people engagement, with a 2-day post based with the Youth Service to develop and co-ordinate this
work.
The GM Bee Heard engagement work, delivered in partnership with Youth Focus NW and 42nd
Street, has been widely promoted across the city as an opportunity for young people aged 14-25 to
have a say on Greater Manchester mental health services. The meetings have taken place on Zoom
and have focused on different area / priories, for example the session in December looked at access
and waiting times. Discussions have been held with GM Bee heard about how they will ensure
improved links between engagement work in localities and GM work from 2021, and this will
hopefully ensure that Salford young people have a stronger voice and influence on reviewing and
shaping GM children and young people’s mental health plans. A GM engagement event in planned
in spring 2021 to kick start this work.
The GM i-Thrive team have allocated £1,000 funding to support Salford in hosting a Salford children
and young people’s engagement event, which will be planned in 2021-22 when restrictions are
lifted. The CYP Voice and Engagement working group will lead on this and involve young people in

Page 65

38

setting the agenda and style of delivery. The evaluation following the Odd Arts Spiralling Minds
school drama workshops will also help to identify key issues impacting on young people

Interactive School Drama Workshops
Odd Arts continued with their annual delivery of the interactive drama workshop targeted at Salford
secondary schools. The dramas are revised annually and co-produced with young people based on
their issues of concern and are supported by our commissioned services, in particular 42nd Street.
The 2020 programme engaged with 20 schools / education settings across the city, including Barton
Moss Secure Unit, Pupil Referral Units and a performance for Salford Youth Justice Service. A total of
46 sessions were delivered to a total of 2265 young people. Some delivery was impacted by the
pandemic, with five schools cancelling performances due to restrictions.
The performance was welcomed back to the Beis Malka Belz Girls school, with two performances
delivered to 200 students, building on the partnership developed in 2019 and the culturally acceptable
version of the play which was delivered to teaching staff.
The ‘forum theatre’ aspect of the workshop where young people stepped into the performance to
try out solutions worked really well and in all performances young people volunteered to step in and
try out solutions. Feedback for both school and students was extremely positive, with young people,
during the performance feeling safe to open up about personal experiences about their own mental
health experiences; with staff reporting that many of the pupils who usually found it difficult to
engage, were able to interact and contribute to the workshop.
Teacher comments:
“B hates school and usually walks out of assemblies or big group workshops, she’s just come
out of here (the hall) buzzing and telling me all about your performance and workshop and
showed me her leaflet”
“Difficult subject very sensitively handled”
“I learnt a lot myself from that- thank you”

Peer support / mentoring programme development
Supported by the Peer Support Co-ordinator role in Youth Services, initial work has focused on
developing a peer support model for Salford, with research undertaken of models of good practice
and consultation with Salford schools about what they already have in place and would like in the
future to support children in schools. This work is now linked with the Thrive in Education
programme, with GM Mental Health in Education programme funding secured over the next 3 years
to develop and deliver an accredited peer mentoring training programme in Salford. Our ambition is
to offer young people in high schools, probably in year 8/9, the opportunity to be peer mentors /
peer supporters.

GM Intentional Peer Support training
The GM i-Thrive team are co-ordinating an Intentional Peer Support training programme across the
conurbation, with each local authority offered places on a first come first served basis. The training is
aimed at young people aged 14 -25 who have lived experience of mental health difficulties and are
interested in improving services and supporting others.

Page 66

39

The intensive and interactive training will introduce participants to community and peer support,
developing their understanding and skills on how to connect and build mutual relationships. The
training was originally scheduled to take place in 2020, due to the pandemic the training was put on
hold to allow time to develop an online offer. Three Salford young people have been identified and
nominated by services to undertake the training - via 42nd Street and Salford Youth Service, with the
training commencing in January 2021. CAMHS STARLAC also nominated a young person but they
were too young to participate.
Development of a progression route for young people is in its infancy, however the plan will be to
build on the GM Intentional Peer Support training and create a pathway for young people to become
partners in the Salford Thrive work, bringing their skills, knowledge and experience to the work
programme. The aim is to develop accredited training to provide further skills in supporting wider
engagement with young people, to be involved in the peer support work programme and to support
the commissioning process by influencing service delivery and outcomes. By engaging more
proactively with young people will also provide the opportunity to promote the sector as a potential
career path.
The Thrive Partnership will need to consider how we can develop a local pathway for paid
employment / ongoing training to retain some of these young people as part of our ongoing service
delivery and peer support work. An increased focus on our CYP Voice and Engagement and Peer
Support work will be a priority for us in 2021.

Participation across children’s services
Children’s Services Participation ‘SQUAD’ brings together insight gained via feedback from children
and families to share learning and demonstrate the impact of responsive listening for children and
families. The Listening Loop model is used to make feedback and services response to feedback
visible. Examples are collated and contribute to an annual Salford Safeguarding Children’s
Partnership Views, Voice and Influence report. Children’s services are also continuing to develop a
parent panel, working collaboratively with parents who are ‘experts by experience’ as an advisory
group.

Seldom Heard update
Salford CVS were planning to hold a follow up Seldom heard event in April 2020 for young people to
receive an update from City Leaders which did not go ahead due to Covid. We did follow up progress
against the pledges and provided verbal feedback to the groups who participated in the event in
November. Examples of the pledges that have been completed are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Young people were engaged in CAMHS review and transformation plan
Salford City Council ordered new bins to be placed by a school where litter was a problem.
The bins were painted by young people to encourage the school children to use them more
Salford NHS CCG Allocated a further £25K into the Youth Wellbeing Fund, and Salford CVS
engaged young people as panel members
42nd street engaged young people in the design and delivery of their online work (in
particular their new online counselling platform)
Salford Foundation continued to utilise their “Tougher Minds Project” to provide training for
schools based staff and their National Citizens Services to support young people to come
together and develop social action projects around the theme of mental health and
emotional wellbeing

Page 67

40

£25k of the £200k additional CCG funding for VCSE Emotional Health and Wellbeing grants was
blended with £25k of the CVS (CCG funded) Third Sector Fund monies to create a dedicated £50k
‘Youth Wellbeing Fund’. This was launched in October 2020 with bids invited for up to £2,500 (for
wellbeing projects) and for up to £7,500 (for projects focused on supporting mental health of YP).
Youth involvement in the design / delivery of projects was a specific requirement. The panel met in
December 2020 and awarded c.£38k to 10 projects. The Youth Mayor was on the panel as well as a
sector representative from Greater Manchester Youth Network. Salford CVS was represented by our
Youth Justice Community Connector.
The residual monies (c.£12k) have been earmarked to support individual young people with access
to training / employment. Salford CVS will review this with a view to progressing in 2021.

6.

Finance and Investment
Back to Contents

From April 2019, Salford City Council and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) pooled budgets and
established integrated governance and commissioning arrangements across adults, children and
young people’s services, public health and primary care. It was envisaged that plans to integrate
CCG and Council CAMHS budgets and contracts would have been implemented with effect from
1st April 2020, but this work was paused due to COVID, and both CCG and Council have continued
to pay separately for respective commissioned services. Due to the pandemic, NHS England
instructed all CCGs to pay NHS commissioned services on a block-based system rather than on
locally agreed tariffs. At the time of writing, NHSE guidance is awaited on future service funding
arrangements, and this will determine when and how we are able to realise the plan to integrate
CAMHS budgets in 2021-22.
The following infographics provide an overview and update on our local investments into children
and young people’s mental health services and in our Salford Thrive Programme. This includes
investments through core Council and CCG budgets, CAMHS Transformation / Long Term Plan
(LTP) funding, and other GM / local discretionary funding streams that support our Thrive
programme. More detail on these budgets is provided in Appendix H which includes a complete
breakdown of these by funding source and by service/project.

Page 68

41

Below shows how our combined investments (2020-21) were allocated by service area / project
(includes all CCG/Council/discretionary spend, and includes GM MHIE/MHST funding Oct 2020March 2021).

Page 69

42

Below is the Investment Plan for our Thrive programme (CCG, Council and other funding) for the
next finical year 2021-22. At the time of writing we are awaiting further guidance on LTP budget
allocations for children’s and young people’s mental health and have therefore assumed the same
transformation budget as in 2020-21. Please note also that a number of these proposals have not
yet been approved and are subject to Council/CCG governance at the time of writing.

Please see Appendix H which includes a detailed breakdown of each budget.

Page 70

43

7.

Performance, Outcomes & Service Data
Back to Contents

Salford has continued to perform well against national / GM key performance indicators (KPIs)
and these are reviewed both locally via Thrive Programme Oversight Group and at GM level via
the LTP Implementation Group (GM health and Social Care Partnership children’s mental health
programme team leads and GM CAMHS Commissioner’s) and GM Data Club. The following tables
from the December 2020 GM Improving Access CYP Mental Health report provides a summary of
the children and young people’s mental health KPIs and how we are doing compared to national
and GM performance.

Improving access to children’s mental health services
The key performance indicator for improving access seeks to measure the proportion of children
and young people with a diagnosable mental health condition that access NHS funded services.
The national targets are set out in Table 1 below and show the target for 2020-21 was 35%.
Improving Access to Children and Young People’s (CYP) Community Mental Health Support and
Treatment is a key priority for Greater Manchester and Nationally, and table 2 below shows how
GM performs well above both the North West and England averages, and that Salford performs
well above all.

Table 1 shows the national target of 35% for improving access

Page 71

44

Table 2 shows Salford’s and GM performance against the national targets

Community Eating Disorder Services
The national target is that by 2020/21, evidence-based community eating disorder services for
children and young people will be in place in all areas, ensuring that 95% of children in need
receive treatment within one week for urgent cases, and within four weeks for routine cases.
Salford continues to exceed requirements as can been seen in the tables below.
Table 3 shows GM performance against the national targets

Page 72

45

Table’s 4a and 4b below show Salford’s performance against other GM localities for both routine
and urgent referrals, consistently achieving 100% performance against both targets.
Table 4a: waiting times for routine referrals
Source NHS Digital: Data shows CYP ED rolling waiting times for Routine at December 2020
England
GMHSCP
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS HMR CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside & Glossop CCG
NHS Trafford CCG
NHS Wigan CCG

Mar 20
84.4%
95.9%
93.3%
100.0%
86.7%
100.0%
*
100.0%
97.4%
*
91.7%
84.6%

Jun 20
86.8%
97.6%
96.3%
*
85.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
96.4%
*
96.3%
95.2%

Sep 20
89.6%
98.6%
100.0%
100.0%
90.9%
100.0%
*
100.0%
97.7%
*
96.8%
100.0%

Table 4b: waiting times for urgent referrals
Source NHS Digital: Data shows CYP ED rolling waiting times for Urgent at December 2020
England
GMHSCP
NHS Bolton CCG
NHS Bury CCG
NHS HMR CCG
NHS Manchester CCG
NHS Oldham CCG
NHS Salford CCG
NHS Stockport CCG
NHS Tameside & Glossop CCG
NHS Trafford CCG
NHS Wigan CCG

Mar 20
80.5%
97.6%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%

Jun 20
87.8%
97.5%
100.0%
*
60.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%

Sep 20
85.3%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%
*
100.0%
100.0%

Waiting Times in Salford
Improving access is underpinned by the timeliness it takes to receive support and treatment.
Under the NHS Constitution, no patient should wait more than 18 weeks for any treatment. There
is at present no specific national standards for waiting times for Children and Young People’s
accessing Mental Health Services (CAMHS) except for:
 Patients with psychosis (two weeks)
 Those treated in the community for eating disorders (one week if urgent, otherwise four
weeks. First contact must be within 24 hours in an emergency).
The Government's Green Paper on Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health
(2018) sets out an ambition to improve waiting times and seeks trailblazers to develop and test

Page 73

46

4 week waits (4WW). Salford is not one of the 4WW pilots, but Trafford and Wigan are piloting
this in GM.
The three tables below show Salford’s CAMHS waiting times to first and second appointments
and from second to third appointment, compared with other GM localities between April –
November 2020. Perhaps unsurprisingly there has been a general increase in waiting times
across GM during 2020, linked to service pressures during the COVID pandemic, and this is
expected to worsen. However, as it stands Salford has managed to maintain above average
performance and for waits to first appointment in CAMHS, we currently have the shortest waits
in GM.

Table 5 – shows average waiting times to first appointment by provider and CCG

Page 74

47

Table 6: shows average waiting times to second appointment by provider and CCG

Table 7: shows average waiting times from second to third appointment by provider and CCG

Page 75

48

Waiting Time pressures and levels of complexity in other services
Despite the good performance shown in the above tables, there are some real pressures and
more significant waiting times in some parts of the children and young people’s mental health
system and these are under even greater strain due to COVID pressures.
In particular, 42nd Street’s Salford service which has a small staff team of 4.4 FTE delivering the
core offer and is stretched to the limits currently, with additional pressures due to COVID
restrictions and limitations on services being able to offer the usual level of face to face support,
and delivery now combined with remote working to facilitate COVID safe working, staffing
working from home due to self and family isolation or sickness. COVID 19 is already impacting on
service capacity and delivery and predicated surge in mental health demand is now being
reported via GM HSCP as potentially up to 40%.
To date, the service has provided significant flexibility in supporting young people through COVID
via a range of options (pausing, waiting, regular ‘check-ins’, increased access to duty, and
continuing with ongoing treatment via the usual interventions (counselling and psycho-social
support) and though various mediums (F2F, online, video and telephone appointments). Online
Group work has also continued successfully whilst face to face groups have been limited, but this
is also resuming where possible, prioritised and safe. The nature & flexibility of this provision in
response to young people’s changing needs during COVID has been extremely difficult to
manage.
As with other children and young people’s mental health services, 42nd street is consistently now
reporting an increase in demand combined with increased acuity and complexity of presentations
/ needs, with increased risks and self-harm / suicidal ideation. This requires greater staff capacity
and time to support and manage cases through duty and 1-2-1 services.
In March 2020, the service paused paper-based referrals to the core service, whilst maintaining
school and ICR referrals and during COVID has also managed / re-directed new referrals via its
online provision. However, despite this they continued to receive paper referrals and have now
processed and allocated these. The paper-based referral pathway has now re-opened and this
adds further to the risks of increased demand and waits from this point.
Waiting times and numbers of young people waiting for assessments and treatment were already
significantly higher than we would have liked prior to COVID, and the flexibility that the service
has offered during the pandemic has impacted in a number of ways, both positively and
negatively. The pause in accepting paper-based referrals did provide some space to review
existing cases and to prioritise/redirect these, with a number choosing to transfer to online
support instead. This has helped to significantly reduce the numbers of young people waiting for
therapies by around 60% from March to December 2020. The average wait for referral to
treatment for counselling provision reduced by 9 weeks over the same period, however the
average waits for psychosocial support has actually increased by around 3 weeks which reflects
the backlog of young people waiting prior to lockdown, the increasing level of need and
complexity of Salford young people during the past year, combined with significant service
pressures on an already limited staffing capacity.
On a positive note, the scale up at pace of the new 42nd. Street online offer has meant that many
young people have benefited from being supported more quickly than via face to face support.
To date the online service has supported 119 young people in Salford from September 2019 to
November 2020, with 82 (69%) of these having been supported during COVID. The challenge is
now how we can sustain and grow this resource to continue to offer more online provision and
shorter waiting times, whilst ensuring sufficient and protected capacity in the core team to
support shorter waits for face to face support. Salford’s online capacity is not core funded and

Page 76

49

the 1.6 FTE dedicated (nationally funded) online resource was only ever intended to be short
term (in 2019/20) to support service development. Agreeing long term plans for strengthening
capacity to maintain this and other key services and to retain and grow Salford’s online offer will
be a key commissioning priority in 2021.
Please Appendix I for more detail
Performance References and Links
GM Provider Children and Young People’s Mental Health Services Dashboard:
www.gmtableau.nhs.uk/#/site/GMHSCPPublic/views/GMProviderLedCYPMHDashboard

8.

Priorities for 2021-22
Back to Contents

In December 2020, the Thrive Partnership met to review the key achievements and challenges
over the year and unsurprisingly much of this centred around COVID related service pressures,
impacts on staffing / staff wellbeing, increase in demand combined with increased acuity and
complexity of presentations / needs, with increased risks and self-harm / suicidal ideation.
Alongside the challenges, there were a number of new and significant developments to
celebrate, not least including the massive shift at pace of all services and front line work to
providing digital and online access and imaginative alternatives to the usual face to face support,
such as ‘walk and talks’, front gate visits, and some creative thinking about how/ where young
people can safely participate in private 1-2-1 conversations such as telephone/video calls in
parked cars on the driveway.
The report has also already highlighted some key new services that have been developed and
launched both in response to COVID needs and/or despite COVID, including:
 Our amazing new Thrive in Education programme and blended team, now working with 40+
schools and supporting nearly 200 children within the first term of delivery
 The launch of KOOTH online emotional wellbeing support, and
 The massive scale up of our 42nd Street online offer
 The continued delivery of our Thrive Training programme via live online events and webinars
and recorded sessions
 The expansion of our targeted Bereavement and Palliative care Counselling provision
delivered by Gaddum
 The Council’s Inclusion team co-ordinated getting nearly 4000 laptops out to vulnerable
young people to support their engagement in online / home learning.
These are all achievements that deserve to be celebrated and a key priority for us in 2021 will be
considering how we can ‘build back better’ and retain/sustain and grow these positive
developments, and continue to provide new and improved access and pathways for children and
young people.
In our December review, Salford Thrive Partnership identified ten key challenges / priorities for
2021-22, which are presented below (in no particular order):

Page 77

50

1. Issues for VCSE providers, including funding, business continuity and workforce security
2. 16-25 year olds who are particularly struggling in COVID, transitions from school/colleges, in
HE and in getting/staying in work. The need to strengthen links to colleges
3. Increasing levels of need and complexity: distress, self-harm and suicide ideation
4. COVID surge, anticipated increase in waiting times for access services and those not meeting
CAMHS thresholds
5. Crisis care and pressures in Tier 4: access to in-patient care and crisis care support, including
discharge from paediatric / general hospital beds. An identified gap / need for a ‘Tier 3.5’
offer
6. Service staffing capacity and staff wellbeing
7. Supporting wellbeing in education – children, families, and staff
8. Access to effective mental health consultation and advice, and supervision
9. Supporting the most vulnerable young people and those that may have been
disproportionately impacted by COVID including: BAME young people and those from the
Jewish community, young people affected by domestic abuse and those with special
educational needs and disabilities, and parent and Infant mental health.
10. Sustaining and growing what’s worked well in 2020-21, especially our digital and online
offer.
These will be the key priorities and areas of focus for the Thrive Partnership agenda over the
next year. Partners agreed to embed these into our existing Delivery Plan and to roll forward /
continue with those we agreed for 2020, especially those where we haven’t been able to make
as much progress as we would have liked, such as Children and young people’s voice and our
LGBTQ+ action plan and developing a peer support model.

9.

Key References / Links
Back to Contents

•
•

Future in Mind
Five Year Forward Plan for Mental Health

•

NHS Long Term Plan: Implementation Framework

•

NHS Long Term Plan

•
•

NHS Planning Guidance
NHS Mental Health Implementation Plan 2019/20 - 2023/24

10.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

Appendices

Understanding Need
Key Lines of Inquiry 2020-21
GM CYP Mental Health Plan: 2020-21 update
Salford Emotional Health & Wellbeing Ambitions
The Salford Way: 2020-21 Training Evaluation

Page 78

51

F.
G.
H.
I.
J.
K.

Wellbeing for Education Return: Impact Report (2021)
Domestic Abuse Progress Report 2020
Finance and Investment
Performance, Outcomes & Service Data
Salford Children & Young People Mental Health Case Studies
Measuring Outcomes

Page 79

52

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A: Understanding Need
1. Salford - as of 31 December 2020 there were:
Total number of care leavers
Total number of children who are categorised as children in
need, or subject to child protection plans
Total number of CYP on child protection plans
Total number of Looked after children

249 young people
1,585
447
540

Data source: CareFirst, SCC

For comparative data across all local authorities in England: Local authority interactive tool (LAIT) GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
2. Equality and 0*-25 in Salford: December 2020 overview of the 0-25 population:

4. 0-25 Equality,
Diversity and Inclusion 9.12.20.pdf

3. Crisis Care Pathway: December 2020 data review
CCP data
Dec20.pptx

4. SEND in Salford - as of 31 December 2020 there were:
Infographics from Salford SEND strategy 2019:

Page 81

Salford SEND
Strategy (2019)

Salford is the 18th most deprived local authority in England/3rd in GM with (30.4%) of people living
in deprivation, equating to 21% of children in families living below the poverty-line (up to 52% in one
neighbourhood). The impact of this is evident across the education system.
SEMH need in Salford: Salford has the highest incidence of SEND in Greater Manchester, 2nd highest
in the NW, 6th highest in England. Of those children with SEN, 19.5% have an identified SEMH need
(16.25% nationally), see below table.
School Populations 2019/20

England

Manchester

Oldham

Rochdale

Salford

Reception

633,499

7,202

3,370

2,963

3,051

Year 1

638,389

7,099

3,418

3,021

3,068

Year 2

651,934

7,346

3,574

3,113

3,214

Year 3

667,470

7,318

3,453

3,165

3,180

Year 4

667,315

7,337

3,627

3,077

3,221

Year 5

655,472

7,330

3,605

3,060

3,156

Year 6

644,348

7,215

3,628

3,103

3,027

Year 7

639,673

6,482

3,597

2,820

2,567

Year 8

615,634

6,379

3,393

2,814

2,527

Year 9

595,432

6,316

3,337

2,647

2,380

Year 10

583,560

5,806

3,246

2,691

2,418

Year 11

566,674

5,583

3,167

2,572

2,333

Year 12

221,392

983

528

112

129

Year 13

192,557

695

473

121

144

Year 14

4,801

51

33

28

29

Data source: Explore-education-statistics.service.gov.uk

Page 82

Salford’s Emotional Health and Wellbeing Ambitions
for children and young people
We asked children and young people what they expected from services:

1.
Page 83

2.

Improved awareness and understanding
“We expect all staff who work with young people to be approachable and
trustworthy with the right skills to communicate with us.”
“We expect staff to be trained to have an understanding of the emotional
wellbeing needs of young people and be sensitive to our needs.”

Timely access to support
“We want to be treated as individuals and really listened to, giving us the
time to talk.”
“We would like more peer support available in schools and the
community, as young people are more likely to talk to people their own
age than adults.”

4.
5.

“We would like to know who we can talk to if we have problems, as
sometimes we just need an available shoulder to cry on.”

3.

Targeted support
“We would like appointments to happen more quickly and at a more
suitable time for young people.”
“We need more education on how to spot issues earlier before they get
out of hand and be encouraged to be more open about any issues and to
speak out.”
“We would like access to more and better information in schools and
other public places that are young people friendly.”

For more information please visit www.partnersinsalford.org/youngemotionalhealth

6.

Parental support
“We would like better links between our teachers and parents / carers
to make sure we have the support we need when we need it most.”
“We would like parents and carers to be able to have support and
training when they need it, helping them to feel more confident in
helping us with any issues or problems we may have.”

Transparency and accountability
“We expect organisations to be honest with us and explain clearly what
we should expect from each service and if you say you’re going to do
something then please do it.”
“We need better information on services for young people on what each
organisation does and how they can help us.”

Giving children and young people a voice
“We want services to really listen and to hear our voice, use our ideas
and suggestions to improve the services for all young people.”
“We would like to be able to share our ideas in the way we feel most
comfortable, such as meetings, social media, in schools and online.”

This page is intentionally left blank

The Salford Way
Trauma-informed Resilience focused: Improving outcomes and changing lives
2019 - 2020 Training Delivery
Across Salford the recognition of Adverse Childhood Experiences
and development of a Trauma Informed response to adversity are
key to reducing poor outcomes for children and families. The
Salford Way strategy and aligned work programme will support the
workforce in the early identification and prevention of additional
traumas in a child’s life and provide a universal language to aid
practitioners to recognise their own and other’s needs.
Training will play a key role in the work, supporting staff to have
the skills, understanding and confidence to work in a trauma
informed way. The Salford Way training offer has been developed
to align to the Thrive model.
2019 Delivery: The 2-day Practice informed by trauma training, delivered by Norma Howes was
commissioned, with the training being prioritised for key leads within service and teams. The aim was to
build on the Risk & Resilience workforce event that took place in June 2019, with the 24 places being focused
at Heads of Service, Service Leads and managers with the expectation that after the training, as strategic
leads they would cascade the learning into their service areas and consider how to embed the approaches
into their service area.
Trainer: Norma Howes is a subject matter expert in developing trauma informed social care practices, with
many years’ experience and is involved in training police, social workers, health and education staff on all
aspects of childhood trauma and abuse.
Key aim of the Level 3 training:
1
2
3
4

Add to the practice skills through understanding and knowledge about the physical, neurological and
psychological impact of trauma.
To identify and practice techniques for resolution of the likely conflicts and problems for the
child/young person, parents and workers.
To practice and evaluate techniques and communication skills with children/young people to ascertain
the child's needs, wishes and feelings
To identify the supervision and supports the social workers need to ensure their ongoing emotional
health and competence

The plan was to further roll out this training wider, with an additional 6 courses booked for April – Sept 2020,
however due to the pandemic the training has since been put on hold and discussion about alternative
delivery are pending.

2020 Delivery: Zoe Lodrick is a specialist in the field of trauma informed practice and her expertise in
sexualised trauma, domestic abuse, victim behaviour, sex offending and the interviewing of victims of sexual
crimes is nationally recognised. Additionally, she has considerable knowledge regarding the therapeutic
needs of victims/survivors of rape, sexual assault, child sexual exploitation/abuse and domestic abuse.

Page 85

1

Zoe was commissioned in February 2020 to deliver the following:
Level 2: Skilled
 Understanding and/or working therapeutically with interpersonal psychological trauma – whole staff
1-day conference (120 people)
 Vicarious and secondary trauma: ensuring care for the carer – 2 x 0.5 whole staff conference (250
people)
 Vicarious and secondary trauma: ensuring care for the carer: school focused session 2 x 0.5-day
conference (150 people)
Level 4: Specialist
 2 x Understanding and/or working therapeutically with survivors of sexualised trauma(s) – 2-day
course (60 people)
 2 x Understanding and/or working therapeutically with interpersonal psychological trauma – 1-day
course (60 people)
Due to COVID restrictions the training offer was revised to offer 13.5 days of virtual training, with delivery
offered online via MSTeams with no limit on the number of people at each session, as follows:







Vicarious and secondary trauma: ensuring care for the carer x 3 (5 days)
Vulnerable Teenagers – Trauma Bonding x 2 (2 days)
Working with / regulating Trauma x 2 (2 days)
Psychology of Sex Offenders x 2 (1 day)
Psychology of Domestic Abuse x 2 (2 days)

It was also agreed to allocate the remaining 1.5 days to host a trauma conference in Salford, however as
restrictions are to remain in place decisions about future delivery are required.
The training was widely promoted across Salford Council and partners and promoted on the Salford Way
and Salford Thrive webpages.
Attendance: Webinar
Booked
Attended
Vicarious and secondary
July
131
95 (73% attendance rate)
trauma: ensuring care for
the carer
August
109
101 (93% attendance rate)
November
Vulnerable Teenagers – Trauma Bonding
Working with / regulating Trauma
Psychology of Sex Offenders
Psychology of Domestic Abuse

95

83 (87% attendance rate)

202

202*

230

230*

119

102 (86% attendance rate)

116

101 (87% attendance rate)

Total
1002
914 (91% attendance rate)
* Although there were cancellations people were requesting places at the last minute

Page 86

2

Training Evaluation: a short online survey was set up for each webinar, consisting of a pre and post scores of
understanding / knowledge of the subject matter followed by free text questions, with the link emailed out
to people following the session.

Vicarious and secondary trauma: ensuring care for the carer: 50 Responses

Awareness of vicarious & secondary trauma
27
21

21

15
8
1

5

1

0
Post training

1

Pre training

1. What key message will you take from the training, how will it impact on your practice?
 Providing better & more meaningful reflective supervision, offering regular reflection time during day to
day practice
 The importance of taking care of yourself to lessen the risk of personal trauma. Use the advice and
strategies for myself and recognise when colleagues may be struggling with Trauma.
 The importance of self-care - it's not the icing on the cake, it needs to be a foundation stone.
 Was delivered in a way which I could link to situations in my practice.
2. What was the most valuable part of the training?
 The trauma pot was very interesting, and it was very useful to know how to keep on top of my own by
doing activities or hobbies such as running etc.
 Having permission to take time out to switch off from events following a visit or session.
 The brain science theory backed up with the invaluable examples that Zoe was able to illustrate with. I
knew quite a lot of the "what" of trauma, Zoe's training gave me the "why".

Page 87

3



Understanding the right and left side of the brain, it's functions and how bi lateral movement can
help/support this.

3. What can be improved or added for future learning on this topic?
 More science about brain functioning, in relation to anxiety and behavioural responses, as it emerges.
 More interaction and involvement from participants. More group work and use of real-life cases. I know
this was difficult due to being on Microsoft Teams and in lockdown but maybe after lockdown is over.
 Further exploration of subject- I felt the first part went incredibly fast and would value further training
sessions on this.
 Outcomes for young people and case examples could be included and a longer session.
4. What are the needs of your service/role in relation to embedding a trauma informed approach to
working with children and families?
 Regular refresher sessions, embedding a trauma informed approach across all services will require a
massive change in the culture from the top down
 All staff to be able to access this training as it made so much sense and will help in our direct work with
families to have that better understanding.
 Management to recognise that the time between time with a family or individual is import and is essential
for the practitioner's own wellbeing. With more home working it is just as important for us to take time
after a phone call or virtual session to take that time.
 To create working groups to ensure safeguarding staff's mental well-being.
 Leadership to promote from Management and within our regular practice(s).
5. Any other comments?
 Many workers 'just get on with it'. They come into work day to day despite the
difficulties/trauma/anxieties of the young people they care for. I think the training would help them
manage taking care of themselves and due to the training deliver an even better service to our most
vulnerable.
 This was by far the best, informative training I have experienced. it was delivered in a way that I was able to
understand and connect with. I have never been as excited to attend a part b training.
 Really valuable training and Zoe was fantastic- clear she was so knowledgeable and presented complex
information so well it was easy to digest and understand.
 Really enjoyable and good to hear an expert in this field. It is clear this is her expertise and not just from a
book.
Vulnerable Teenagers – Trauma Bonding: 34 responses

Aware of trauma bonding for vulnerable teenagers
17
12

14

12

5

3
0

4

0

0
Pre training

Post training

Page 88

4

1.







What key message will you take from the training, how will it impact on your practice?
The impact of trauma - more aware of signs and behaviours that follow trauma, will share knowledge to
help empower others to support and individuals that display or have are known to trauma to our service.
Friend, fight, flight, freeze, flop response, can explain this to parents.
Already impacting on practice in relation to normalising / psychoeducation shared with clients in relation to
threat response. future impact in relation to awareness of vulnerability of teenagers to exploitation and
abuse.
Key take away was how important it is for therapists, police and social workers to be attending this training
as it explains more around attachment and trauma than other trainings I've been on.
Personally, I found very practical and helpful to know how the teenage brain works and perceive reality.
This is a very interesting lead that I can follow in order to improve my teaching practise and students'
academic achievement.

The ‘Evian’ analogy used by Zoe had made a big impact:
Having the knowledge about vulnerable teenagers informs our practice to continue what we are doing even
when we think we are not getting anywhere and having Evian spat back at us, the training has given us
confidence to keep doing what we are doing and have extra patience with our vulnerable teenagers
 The Evian metaphor is brilliant and provides an amazing way for workers to understand and talk to each
other about their young people.


2.





What was the most valuable part of the training?
Knowing the right manner to approach someone with trauma and what service to involve and how they
also should respond to individuals who display trauma.
Really clear example of the friend, fight, flight, freeze, flop response.
Realising why victims bond with perpetrators and the fact that it can take years to know
The exploration of the Brain Science and how that impacts on reaction and response - not only in the
moment but also in future similar situations. Exploring the complexity gave me a much more empathetic
insight into how the process of Sexual Exploitation manifests in the victims responses.

3. What can be improved or added for future learning on this topic?
 Longer sessions
 More interactive work to embed the training a lot of it was listening and it would be good for visual
learners to be able to see and read the slides to contextualise the information
 Visual tools on the friend, fight, flight, freeze, flop response to help explain the concept to parents.
 I would love to have the resources to do some work with Young People about how their brain works and
how this affects their behaviour so they can develop their own self-awareness and understand themselves
better.
 Maybe further reading suggestions
4. Any other comments?
 I found it very interesting and took some valuable information and practice away from it and would
recommend it to any service that may have someone they support presenting trauma of this kind
 Very insightful & informative training, Zoe's knowledge and delivery is excellent, and useful for future
support that I can offer the young people
 My only comment is if we were not in the pandemic I would have liked to do this training face to face, this
may have enhanced more audience participation, and networking, but still the virtual training was excellent
and gave opportunities for questions and answers.
 I like the repetitive nature of the delivery to 'hammer home' the pertinent points so that they stick with
you. I also like the story telling aspect of the delivery it is much easier listening.
 I feel really lucky to be getting such quality and accessible training, for what is a very complex subject
matter.

Page 89

5



The training was so captivating that it really made me want to learn more and invest in further study on the
subject.

Working with / regulating Trauma: 41 responses

Awareness & understanding of working with trauma
17

15

13

13
9

8
4

3
0

0
Pre training

1.








Post training

What key message will you take from the training, how will it impact on your practice?
Awareness - Impact - thinking - understanding
How to explain brain functioning more clearly to clients
Cascading Learning to all staff in schools through the Whole School Safeguarding training programme
Better understanding of why people don't engage - through the association with the trauma rather than an
unwillingness
The key message I will take away is how trauma can impact someone's behaviour and actions. We talk a lot
about disguised compliance in this role and this training has given me the understanding that the reason
behind an individuals "disguised compliance" could be trauma-related and exploration may be needed into
this.
It will inform my practice with Parents, Carers and children as I now have a clearer understanding of how
the brain is responding to stress and a possible trigger and the strategies for calming someone were very
helpful.

2. What was the most valuable part of the training?
 The insight this gives into why a child might be behaving in a certain way is and the impact that this can
bring to schools is phenomenal.
 Signs of hyper and hypoactivation and strategies to regulate these states
 The most valuable part of the training was clear explanation of brain science and how the body
physiological responds to trauma. The use of case studies to illustrate these points were clear and easy to
understand why a person may have responded in such a way.
 Real life and relatable examples were given and kept me engaged while coming back to the point being
made. I also feel the strategies for calming someone was incredibly helpful.
3. What can be improved or added for future learning on this topic?
 Maybe add more techniques on there of how to deal with people that are going through crisis.
 Much more emphasis needed to be placed on practical ways staff can help clients regulate trauma
symptomology
 Maybe to have theory sent before or after training so can digest it in more detail.
 It would have been beneficial to spend some more time on how to respond and work with some
experiencing trauma as this was only covered in the last hour of the second session.
4. Any other comments?
 Thanks so much for the opportunity, its positively impacted both my professional and personal life - which I
didn't expect.

Page 90

6

 I really enjoyed this course, I found Zoe very engaging and interesting to listen to. Her knowledge and
experience was evident and helped me to understand a lot of the behaviours I see in my tenants which
often appears reckless and irresponsible.
 Great use of time and I will be taking forward the strategies used with the people I work with.
 I'd like to thank you for providing this training - as far as my role as a victim services coordinator, I work
with both victims and offenders. This training has really helped me to further consider and understand the
clients that I work with.

Psychology of Sex Offenders: 37 responses

Awareness & understanding of the psychology of sex
offenders
21

18
9

14

9
0

2

0
Pre training

1

0

Post training

1. What key message will you take from the training, how will it impact on your practice?
 To be honest I was blown away with the depth of knowledge. I was very shocked that things I had believed,
with regards to the abused becoming the abuser were not correct.
 I have a greater insight into the mind of a sex offender. This will give me the ability to question offenders
with a greater understanding of the processes an offender goes through prior to offending.
 We do a lot of work with young people who display SHB and also victims this has given me a better insight
to how individuals think.
 The training supported me to reflect on my own assumptions and stereotypical view of sex offenders and
identify my own prejudgement.
 Teaching about consent and firm expression of lack of it is important very early in life.
 This training was very informative. I have learnt about the typologies of sex offenders and I have reflected
on the way in which risk is assessed by children's services and the decision making in respect of this and
thus the future safety of children who have been at risk of sexual abuse.
2. What was the most valuable part of the training?
 It was all really useful. I didn't know anything about the psychology of a sex offender. The 'steps' and
typology are really useful to know. It will help with risk management and support planning.
 I found it all valuable however thought the stuff around Finkelhoor was interesting
 Gaining a further insight into psychology of sex offenders and confirmation of my own research. As I work
with sex offenders and complete AIM assessments and reports this training has provided me with a greater
understanding of how the sex offender brain works.
 To hear that there are several layers to sex offending. The broken biscuit analogy really made me
understand how sex offenders choose their victims.
 I have dyslexia and learn so much through being told information, and when the training is so interesting
and the trainer is an expert in her field, it was amazing and I think I have taken more in from her training
than any training I have done before on sexual offending. The scenarios Zoe gave where so valuable and I

Page 91

7







was able to process the information much better as everything was brought to life and I will never forget
them.
How to interview or look for signs of a sex offender was important and valuable to my understanding. The
case studies and explanations were really helpful to really understanding this.
Learning the 4 categories of sex offenders was also very interesting and thought provoking helping me to
think about how families present themselves. This training workshop has assisted me to think about
different approaches to the families.
The typologies of sex offenders was most useful to be able to link to practice experience.
Difficult to hear real life examples but important in order to highlight the reality of situations. Also
important to discuss the sides of the line, as focus in the media and examples in fiction which influence our
perceptions, often only focus on the non-delusional side.

3. What can be improved or added for future learning on this topic?
 I left the training with a better understanding of how to support victims, but not necessarily how to support
offenders. Perhaps there is not enough time or scope to cover both angles in one afternoon, but that would
have been helpful in my role within an Adults service.
 I would be interested to know if there are any key sign to look out for with sex offenders and how they
groom the people around their victims also.
 If possible it would be helpful to have case studies from children's services perspective to determine how
this would have been viewed by the trainer in relation to the level of risk and the actions taken as well as
the practical tools which can be used to reduce the risk of harm to children.
 Further dates as I believe this is the sort of training that practitioners need. It hits hard so its stays
engrained and, in your mind, when working with services; staff and young people
4. Any other comments?
 This is the best training I have attended in a very long time. Zoe's presentation skills are phenomenal, and I
found it easy to listen and concentrate during the session.
 I really appreciated how there was advice before the session about the content and the importance of
considering who may be around and self-care afterwards.
 It is a great eye opener though some of the examples to me are beyond comprehension
 Thank you for a powerful, insightful and at times, emotional session- this will stay with me for a long time.
 Zoe has a compelling and magnetic draw when delivering the workshop/lecture that keeps you glued to the
information being given.
Psychology of Domestic Abuse: 23 responses
Awareness & understanding of the psychology of domestic
abuse

7

6
0

0

3

0
Pre training

12

10

7

0

Post training

1. What was the most valuable part of the training?
 Understanding why victims of domestic abuse react to perpetrators in the way they do - understanding
about the amygdala and how this impacts on safety planning

Page 92

8

 I really enjoyed the use of Evian water to support understanding of feeling well watered, parched, etc. This
is an excellent way to explain to other professionals that become weighed down with questions such as,
"Why doesn't she just leave"
 Developing, through examples, a broader understanding of the drivers for continued/cyclical domestic
abuse which will help to inform future strategic intentions and service design
 How the brain functions when threatened, if successfully used flop - the body will flop again, reinforces the
nervous system and continues to reinforce. The rush of fear may be confused with love. A victim may
reject our help but don't walk away, respect the trauma bond.
2. What can be improved or added for future learning on this topic?
 More interaction with course lead, although I realize currently this was not possible.
 More examples of cases. Second session in particular focused mainly on one case, would have been useful
to hear about others.
 Information of best types of therapy available for victims.
 Now that practitioners are starting to have a basic understanding of the reasons why a woman won't leave
an abusive partner the training needs to be developed to show practitioners how they can realistically and
meaningfully support families in these circumstances
 How we could further address the perpetrator by understanding what circumstance contributes or results
in their need to be in control at all costs.
3. Any other comments?
 Fascinating insight into psychology of domestic abuse. Very well presented.
 The course was presented in an engaging and thought provoking manner. The theory was illustrated with
realistic and personal examples. I truly didn’t notice the time pass and could have listened to Zoe all day.
 I wish I had done this 20 years ago - Zoe is fascinating and so knowledgeable. Her courses have been 2 of
the best I have ever been on and will change the way I deal with victims of DV. thank you.
 Nothing other than thoroughly enjoyed it and I've recommended the session and Zoe to colleagues and
friends.
Issues / lessons learnt:
 Initially the experience in the team with regards to setting up online delivery was minimal, with some IT
issues experienced, however as training programme progressed the co-ordination and facilitation skills
vastly improved.
 Request for places were co-ordinated by the SSCP training team, with a deadline for requests however due
to the demand for places many requests came through right up until the point of delivery, which increased
admin time considerable
 The content of the webinars was not full considered, and as the majority of participants would be viewing
at home, following the first session all training promotion and confirmation emails included the following:
Please note: as part of the webinar, traumatic issues including domestic abuse, rape and abuse will be
discussed and used to illustrate how the brain responds. As most people will be viewing the webinar at home,
please be mindful of others overhearing content. If possible, engage in the session in a room where you can
close to the door to ensure that other members of your household cannot overhear anything being presented
or wear earphones.
Your personal wellbeing is important and so and if you feel uncomfortable about attending due to the subject
matter please let me know.
 To support the wellbeing of staff the self-care resource page was created on the Salford way webpages,
and at the start of every webinar people were made aware of the training and a link to the webpage was
shared in the meeting chat.

Page 93

9

 Due to the high number of participants, we had 2-3 members of the team supporting the session
(dependent on the number of participants), to manage any issues people accessing the webinar, admitting
people, managing the chat function and supporting Zoe with questions / comments.
 Training evaluation – an online survey was set up following each session, however the response rate has
been very disappointing
 On a positive note – if delivery had been at Buile Hill for example, the approximate refreshment costs for
914 delegates would have been £2800.
The Salford Way Online: To support the Salford Way dedicated webpages were set up in July 2020 on the
Partners in Salford website, with a range of information and resources as follows:







Resources
Schools resources
Training
Online Training
Information for Families
Self-care Resources

The online training page provides a link to the Introduction to Adverse Childhood Experiences - Early Trauma
Online Learning, a free resource funded by the Home Office Early Intervention fund. As we are unable to
provide exact details of the number accessing the online training from Salford, by using Google Analytics, the
page has had 147 visits, of which, 112 were unique users, spending on average 1 minute.
It is also worth noting that the self-care resources, which have been widely promoted during the delivery of
the trauma webinars, has seen increased traffic, with 146 visits, of which, 104 were unique users, spending
on average 3 minutes.
Next Steps:
1. Further Zoe Lodrick trauma webinars
2. Practice week – training activity to take place 1st – 19th February, as follows:
Week 1: Lunch bowl sessions (developed & delivered by Stephen Brock, Consultant) - the
workshops will focus on: Engagement, Building relationships, Transitions / Ending
relationships and Supervision
Week 2: Reflection
Week 3: Review / next steps
March 2021 – Vicarious & Secondary Trauma webinar for social Workers (utilising the 1.5 days
remaining of the current ZL training allocation)
3. Level 4- specialist training, commission Norma Howes to deliver 6 x 1 day Practice Informed by Practice
online course, places will be prioritised for Heads of Service, SW managers / team leaders, Education / Virtual
Schools Team, Fostering / LAC, Health, safeguarding & Early Help
4. Train up a bank of trainers who will deliver risk and resilience training across Salford service / team /
educational settings – replicating the Manchester Model (commission Gareth Nixon to deliver)
5. Continue to develop the Salford Way webpages and resources
6. Continue to influence and ink into the wider work programme at a GM level

Page 94

10

Salford Welling for Education Return
Reach & Impact Report for Webinars – Autumn 2020
Wellbeing for Education Return is a national training and resources package intended to
support education staff (to promote children and young people’s, teachers’ and
parents’/carers’ mental wellbeing and resilience and aid mental health recovery, in light of
the impact of COVID-19 and lockdown.
The Wellbeing for Education Return training has been developed by the e-learning platform
MindEd, working closely with the Anna Freud Centre for Children and Families (AFC), who
delivered the training for local specialists to disseminate to schools and colleges.
Salford LA asked the Educational Psychology Service to lead this programme locally, in
consultation with other providers. The training was delivered in two 90-minute webinars to
nominated education setting staff during the Autumn Term 2020. Schools/ colleges were
requested to send two representatives, one with some leadership responsibility for wellbeing
(Head/ Deputy/ Mental Health Lead/ Special Educational Needs Coordinator) and one with a
more operational role supporting children and families. Local services offering support to
children and families were also invited (e.g. the Virtual School Team, 42nd Street, Place 2
Be, CAMHS).
The first webinar (Webinar One) covered a whole school or college approach to promoting
wellbeing and resilience. The second webinar (Webinar Two) built on the first and focused
on helping school and college staff to reflect on ways that they can continue to apply theory
to real life practice. It covered specific concerns related to mental health and emotional
wellbeing, such as bereavement and loss, anxiety, low mood, stress and trauma, warning
signs and signposting. Webinars were delivered virtually.
Reach












The four Webinar One sessions (2nd Nov, 5th Nov, 11th Nov & 17th Nov) had 75
attendees in total
The four Webinar Two sessions (23rd Nov, 26th Nov, 2nd Dec & 8th Dec) had 79
attendees in total
24 primary schools participated in the webinars, sending at least one representative
to at least one session; 18 primary schools had representatives at both sessions and
6 had representatives at one session
9 secondary schools participated in the webinars, sending at least one representative
to at least one session; 7 secondary schools had representatives at both sessions
and 2 had representatives at one session
1 independent school participated in the webinars, sending one representative to one
session
2 colleges participated in the webinars, sending at least one representative to both
sessions
2 specialist settings participated in the webinars, sending at least one representative
to at least one session; 1 had representatives at both sessions and 1 had
representatives at one session
3 PRU/ alternative provider settings participated in the webinars, sending at least one
representative to at least one session; 2 had representatives at both sessions and 1
had representatives at one session

Salford Educational Psychology Service

Page 95





10 services participated in the webinars, sending at least one representative to at
least one session; 7 services had representatives at both sessions and 3 had
representatives at one session
In total, 41 settings and 10 supporting services participated in the webinars to some
degree

Impact



We had 70 respondents to the pre-measure
We had 56 respondents to the post-measure

Quantitative data
Respondents were asked to rate their knowledge and understanding around whole school or
college approaches to wellbeing on a scale from one to five, where one represents no
knowledge or understanding and five represents high knowledge and understanding.
Results can be viewed below:

Knowledge and understanding of whole-school/
college approaches to wellbeing
50
40
30
20
10
0
1

2

3
Pre-training

4

5

Post-training

Prior to the webinars, 1 respondent (1.4%) rated their knowledge and understanding around
whole school or college approaches to wellbeing as a 1, 8 respondents (11.4%) rated this as
a 2, 37 respondents (52.9%) as a 3, 24 respondents (34.3%) as a 4, and 0 respondents
rated their knowledge and understanding around whole school or college approaches to
wellbeing as a 5. Following delivery of the webinars, 0 respondents rated their knowledge
and understanding around whole school or college approaches to wellbeing as either a 1 or
a 2, 4 respondents (7.1%) rated this as a 3, 41 respondents (73.2%) as a 4, and 11
respondents (19.6%) rated their knowledge and understanding around whole school or
college approaches to wellbeing as a 5.

Salford Educational Psychology ServicePage

96

Respondents were asked to rate their skills in supporting staff, children and young people
with their emotional wellbeing and mental health on a scale from one to five, where one
represents limited skills and five represents extremely skillful. Results can be viewed below:

Skills in supporting staff, children and young
people with their emotional wellbeing and
mental health
50
40
30
20
10
0
1

2

3
Pre-training

4

5

Post-training

Prior to the webinars, 0 respondents rated their skills in supporting staff, children and young
people with their emotional wellbeing and mental health as a 1, 6 respondents (8.6%) rated
this as a 2, 38 respondents (54.3%) as a 3, 23 respondents (32.9%) as a 4, and 3
respondents (4.3%) rated their skills in supporting staff, children and young people with their
emotional wellbeing and mental health as a 5. Following delivery of the webinars, 0
respondents rated their skills in supporting staff, children and young people with their
emotional wellbeing and mental health as either a 1 or a 2, 2 respondents (3.5%) rated this
as a 3, 45 respondents (78.9%) as a 4, and 10 respondents (17.5%) rated their skills in
supporting staff, children and young people with their emotional wellbeing and mental health
as a 5.
Qualitative data
Below is a selection of comments in response to the question ‘What did you find useful about
the Wellbeing for Education Return training?’










Different strategies to use
Very informative. Went into great detail
Sign posting
The overview of stress, anxiety, grief and how these can impact on children and
staff and how to support this
The Thrive Model and the practical ways shown on supporting others
Affirmation that approaches used are in line with guidance
5 key principles of Recovery
Hearing ideas from others and connecting with other partnerships
Staff well being

Salford Educational Psychology Service

Page 97

Below is a selection of comments in response to the question ‘What will you do next with this
information?’








Put strategies into practice with the young people I work with
Share with pastoral team and form tutors
Revisit the EFS audit and speak to SLT
Feedback to school and look collaboratively at implementing this on a whole
school level
Share with colleagues / carers
Discuss the training with Senior Leaders; use the links to do further
reading/research; plan training in school.
Will refer to this in my role to signpost families

Further comments on impact:
 It was useful to get practical advice and to hear of other's suggestions that work in
the setting
 Well-presented and informative
 Very useful
 Thanks for delivery and care taken
 The sessions were very good and informative and we can put into practice what
we have learnt

The webinars will be followed up in Spring 2021 with smaller group weekly themed sessions
facilitated by the Educational Psychology Service and other guest experts from local
organisations, which can be booked onto

here.

Salford Educational Psychology ServicePage

98

Appendix G: Domestic Abuse progress report 2020
The Domestic abuse practitioner’s guidance was developed and disseminated across Childrens
services .A training package was developed in line with the introduction to the practitioner’s
guidance, pathways and tools. 8 managerial training sessions, 16 training sessions attended by over
200 LA staff was delivered via Microsoft teams to give insight into the tools and practitioners
guidance. The tools introduced within the guidance and upload onto care-first are identified below
The severity of abuse grid, The safe-lives individualised safety plan ,written agreements were
removed from use with victims, Written agreement were adapted and completed with perpetrators
to place accountability on perpetrators for their own behaviour, the perpetrator RESPECT DASH was
introduce, the inventory of controlling behaviour’s was introduced ,the de-escalation plan
Pimms data enabled the review of the use of the victim’s tools onto care-first and is monitored
weekly to ensure increase in the use of the tools and high-light any services who might need support
in implementing them further into practice. 8 Multi agencies audits have been completed in
response to DA chaired by Harriet wall with an overall finding that Da responses have improved with
the use of the DA tools and guidance implemented
Survey Monkey: The results from the survey monkey high –lighted that 70% of practitioner were
aware of the Harbour provision,90% of practitioners were aware of the support the DA lead offered
within the survey with over 50% seeking direct support through a collaboration of lunch bowls, team
training, 121 support or general advice.
File audits: To ensure training was put into practice, DA case file audits were completed with the
support of the quality assurance team.
The audits identified clear use of the SOAG, safety plan and DASH when supporting victims which
was a real positive progression. It was clear from the audits that when responding to victims and
children, the practitioners guidance was followed and appropriate referrals were evidenced to have
taken place to MARAC, SIDASS( adult victims service) and Harbour (YP DA service) which ensured
the level of risk was appropriately managed. The YP Da lead also led in chairing SCR reviews with
primal factor being DA to support in a partnership response to supporting Childrens and families
effected by domestic abuse
Harbour young people’s domestic abuse service was commissioned in April 2020, the service
supports YP age 5-18 from Salford or from a Salford school who have witness or are experiencing
domestic abuse or are using abusive behaviours in intimate relationships, peer on peer or to
parents. This service is part of the BOND scheme. The service has currently to date received 157
referrals with 82% engagement rate. The Harbour provision is viewed to be evidencing positive
outcomes for children and families and is a cost effective approach to positive change. Due to this it
is under evaluation to become permanent. The social impact report for the year will be available for
review in April 2021. Recent quarterly report from Harbour identified positive feedback through
client feedback questionnaires
Harbour is integrated into operation encompass and has created supporting literature to guide
pastoral staff in response to operation encompass when children arrive at school. A clear referral
pathway is established to support education to make referrals into service wen required with a link
worker to the schools for support.
Harbour Social Impact Report:
Harbour Social
Impact Report (PDF)

Page 99

Perpetrator provision is now available across Salford starting February 2021. This was made possible
via BOND and an initial 108K commission from the CCG to deliver on a small scale, support for
perpetrators deemed standard, medium and high risk. TLC (Respect accredited perpetrator provider)
agreed to deliver the provision and Salford council managed to secure match funding from the home
office with a led application from the PCC/ TLC for 230K

Page 100

Appendix H

Finance and Investment: 2020-21 & 2021-22
Scheme

Total CAMHS transformation
Core CAMHS MFT contract
Community Eating Disorders additional funding
BME Post salary recharge MUFT Central site
Salford Emerge 16/17 yrs service MUFT Central Site
CAMHS for LAC (Looked after Children) STARLAC MUFT Central Site
42nd Street core service
Gaddum - Children & Family Counselling Service
Total CCG Core budgets

Provider

Manchester University
foundation Trust

CAMHS Transformation

Page 101

CAMHS Learning Disabilities
Community Eating Disorder Service
Post: Single point of contact MFT
CAMHS School Link (aligned to MHIE/MHST from Oct 2020)
ICRS 42nd Street and Self-Help Services (funding to Manchester CCG)
ICRS - Mind in Salford (funding paid directly)
All Age Liaison MH Service (GMMH)
42nd Street Uplift - increase in core contract
IAPT training
Parent Engagement & Support
Engagement/Awareness raising - Drama Workshops
SCC CAMHS transformation funding - contribution towards STARLAC
42nd Street additional funding (subject to SFG approval)

Funding

Manchester CCG
Salford Mind
GMMH
42nd Street
MFT - annual request
Odd Arts - Spiralling Minds

Core CCG budget

Manchester University
Foundation Trust

42nd Street
Gaddum

Forecast spend
for 2020/21

Recurrent
21/22 onwards

84,525
178,722
53,550
189,483
131,397
30,678
0
145,138
0
0
10,000
0
139,242

76,141
161,000
48,239
170,693
131,398
30,678
149,400
145,138
30,000
0
10,000
0
10,048

£962,735
3,288,000
54,000
19,570
100,000
55,332
121,748
81,284
£3,719,934

£962,735
3,288,000
115,780
25,665
100,000
55,332
121,748
81,284
£3,787,809

Scheme
MHST (Thrive in Education) allocation

Pure Insight
Kooth
MFT CAMHS 0-25 CAPS
Additional IAT's from GM routed through CCG

Funding
Additional allocation
from outside CCG (GM
MHIE MHST funding)
Core CCG budget
Core CCG budget - Not
yet agreed
CCG PIMH funding

Page 102

Total reported Spend on CAYP by CCG as at month 9 2021

Other costs
Provider top ups
EMDR cost - CAMHS Individual Funding Request
42nd Street additional funding (subject to SFG approval)
Homestart
Revised Total
All Age Liaison MH service (GMMH) funded by NHSE tops ups in 2020-21
Total other costs

46,000
2,600
16,177
37,493
5,247,939
149,000
£5,499,209.00

Provider
Place2Be, MFT, 42nd Street
and SCC

Forecast spend
for 2020/21

Recurrent
21/22 onwards

438,000

616,380

25,000

60,000
70,000

0
463,000

91,397
837,777

£5,145,669

£5,588,321

Appendix I: Performance, Outcomes & Service Data
Table 1: Core CAMHS Service Data
Data Source: MFT

2020/21
Measures

April –
December
2020

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

2019/20

Cases open at end
of period

1,658

1,531

1,743

1,892

1,499

1,990



2,103

Referrals

1,556

1,659

1,819

1,794

2,139

3,156



1,896

% referrals
accepted

86%

78%

77%

77%

82%

85%



81%

New appointments

1,381

1,405

1,269

1,443

1,304

2,954



599

DNA rate (new)

16%

13%

13%

13%

15%

18%



13%

11,197

10,354

8,635

8,798

6,226

16,136



4,453

15%

14%

12%

14%

13%

14%



14%

Follow-up
appointments
DNA rate

Table 2: 2019-20 CAMHS Waiting times (weeks)
Data Source: MFT

8

8

9

4

4

4

8

8

4

4

9

2

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

7

7

3

3

Oct

Nov

Average Ref. to 1st contact / Appt (11 wks target)

8

8

8

4

4

4

Dec

Jan

Feb

9
5

Mar

Average Ref to 2nd contact / Appt (17 wks target)

Table 3: 2020-21 (April – December 2020) CAMHS Waiting times (weeks)
Data Source: MFT

WAITING TIMES (WEEKS)

12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Apr

May

Jun

Jul

Aug

Sep

Average Ref. to 1st contact / Appt (6 wks target)

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

Mar

Average Ref to 2nd contact / Appt (12 wks target)

Page 103

1

Table 4: Targeted CAMHS services activity update
Data Source: MFT

Cases
open

Referrals

% Ref
accepted

New
appoint

DNA rate

Follow-up
apps

DNA rate

2014-15

144

222

88%

294

31%

1061

18%

2015-16

88

212

92%

256

27%

1040

22%

2016-17

106

207

93%

304

37%

633

22%

2017-18

97

254

93%

184

29%

683

15%

2018-19

97

285

88%

115

33%

680

Service
Emerge (16-17ys)

17%

2019-20

97

283

95%

163

25%

498

22%

2020-21 YTD

109

215

93%

72

32%

341

21%

2014-15

4

4

100%

14

14%

73

7%

2015-16

3

2

100%

4

0%

26

15%

2016-17

2

1

100%

11

27%

89

11%

2017-18

1

13

100%

8

25%

19

8%

2018-19

5

5

100%

4

0%

74

14%

BME

1

0

0%

0

0%

3

0%

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2014-15

87

100

99%

188

20%

733

13%

2015-16

49

81

99%

158

18%

621

17%

2016-17

48

98

96%

134

24%

595

28%

2017-18

71

175

99%

185

29%

337

11%

2018/19

55

168

100%

179

25%

518

12%

2019-20
2020-21 YTD
LD

74

228

100%

305

24%

1484

 8%

55

75

100%

30

13%

424

9%

2014-15

17

20

100%

37

22%

137

20%

2015-16

17

19

89%

31

29%

118

24%

2016-17

26

43

98%

41

2%

138

12%

2017-18

0

54

100%

59

12%

139

11%

2018-19

5

15

100%

17

10%

115

7%

2019-20
2020-21 YTD
YJS

2019-20

7

15

100%

27

19%

224

6%

2020-21 YTD

13

10

100%

7

0%

57

12%

2019-20

82

110

91%

153

2%

1686

5%

2020-21 YTD

66

50

84%

7

14%

189

7%

CAMHS LAC*

* CAMHS LAC services were integrated from 2019-20 and data is therefore amalgamated from April 2019.

Page 104

2

Table 5: Total CAMHS Salford service capacity (2020-2021)
Data Source: CAMHS

Core
( inc LD+SPOC)

LAC

YJS

Emerge

Thrive in
Education *

Route 29

Total**

43.42

4.33

1.0

2.6

14.0

1.0

65.36 WTE

*Thrive in Education staff include 9 clinical staff, 1 admin and 4 trainees.
**This compares with 54.5 WTE CAMHS workforce reported in December 2019 (+10.86)

Table 6a: Service activity update
Data Source: 42nd Street

Measure

2020-21
2014-15

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

206*

212
(inc. schools
231)

292
(inc. schools
304)

335
(inc. school
338)

466
(inc. school
615)

402
(inc. school
485)

YP offered an
initial
assessment

103

129
(inc. schools
147)

179
inc. schools
191)

144
(inc. school
146)

265
(inc. school
287)

YP attending
an initial
assessment

82

85
(inc. schools
99)

131 (inc.
schools 143)

183
(inc. school
198)

244
(inc. school
265)

16%

19%
(inc. schools
18%)

21%
(inc. schools
20%)

20%
(no school
data)

10%
(inc. school
15%)

126

100
(inc. schools
127)

130
(inc. schools
156)

317
(inc. school
327)

292
(inc. school
313)

7%

6%
(inc. schools
5%)

7%
(inc. schools
6%)

7%
(no school
data)

9%
(inc. school
19%)

Referrals

DNA
(sessions)
Follow on
work: no. of
unique young
people
DNA
(sessions)

247
(inc.
school
290)
227
(inc school
286 )
8%
(inc school
10% )
396
(inc school
541 )
8%
(inc school
8% )

YTD AprDec 20

104
 (inc. school
214)
107
 (inc. school
135)
103
 (inc. school
131)
10%
 (inc school
10%)
316
 (inc. school
463)
29%
 (inc. school
33%)

Table 6b: Online Referrals (April – December 2020)
Data Source: 42nd Street

Table 7: Core Services - Waiting times (average no. of weeks waited) 2019-20
Data Source: 42nd Street

Q1

Q2

Page 105

Q3

Q4
3

Referral to assessment

9

8

9

12



Ref to treatment (Psycho-social)

34

50

62

63



Ref to treatment (Counselling)

30

48

40

42





Table 8: Core Services - Waiting times (average no. of weeks waited) 2020-21 year to date
Data Source: 42nd Street

Q1

Q2

Q3

Referral to assessment

13

13

6.5



Ref to treatment (Psycho-social)

68

63

60



Ref to treatment (Counselling)

46

48

38



Table 9a: Top 5 presenting needs on mental health & Wellbeing for 2019-20

Page 106

4

Table 9b: Top 5 presenting needs on mental health & Wellbeing for 2020-21

Data Source: 42nd Street

Table 10: Additional presenting issues 2019-20
Data Source: 42nd Street

Other Issues
Money management (debt, etc.)
Parent/carer substance abuse
Leaving home due to other reason
Parent/carer mental health
Family money issues

%

Home & Social

%

37%
6%
5%
21%
7%

Bullying
Threats of violence
Threats and harassment
Young carer
Familial physical abuse / attacks

26%
8%
7%
8%
5%

%

Home & Social

%

6%
8%
6%
20%
4%

Bullying
Cultural Issues
Threats and harassment
Young carer
Familial physical abuse / attacks

36%
9%
5%
15%
1%

Table 11: Additional presenting issues 2020-21
Data Source: 42nd Street

Other Issues
Money management (debt, etc.)
Parent/carer substance abuse
Leaving home due to other reason
Parent/carer mental health
Family money issues

Page 107

5

Table 12a: Total 42nd Street Salford service capacity (2014-2021)
Data Source: 42nd Street

Funding source
Core Service Delivery

Salford Staffing FTE
2014
-15

201516

201617

201718

201819

201920

202021

Mainstream CCG Funding
(121)

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

2.8

Mainstream CCG Funding
(Group work)

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.2

2.4

2.4

1.4

2.0

4.4

4.4

4.4

2

2

2

2

Increase capacity (121)

Sub Total
ICRS-CAMHS
transformation funding
Thrive in Education MHPS
42nd Street
investment
Sub Total
TOTAL

2.0

2.0

2.0

Notes
Spilt between
Counselling &
psychological support
Adjustment in 2020-21 in
response to COVID
demand
Spilt between
Counselling & psychosocial support
(Includes 1.4 online
delivery in 2020-21 in
response to Covid)
Additional staff started in
Sept 2017

2

Additional
0
2.0

0
2.0

0
2.6

2
2.0

2
6.4

1.6

1.6

3.6
8.0

5.6
10.0

Table 12b: Integrated Community Response (ICR) Summary - Salford 2020- 21 (April – December 2020)
Data Source: 42nd Street

New Referrals

36

YP having ongoing support

36

YP having an assessment

28

Ongoing Sessions

252

Assessment sessions

86

Table 13: EDIT/EIT data
Data Source: GMMH

Indicator
No. of under 18yr olds
referred to EIT/EDIT
% (Total) referrals
No. to EIT
No. to EDIT

2015-16

2016-17

2017-18

2018-19

2019-20

24

38

39

18

44

16% (150)
13
11

7% (493)
22
16

11% (355)
14
25

9% (211)
189
22

12% (365)
281
84

Page 108

2020-21
78
16% (499)
398
101

6

Table 14: 2019-20 Mental Health - Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young
People’s Mental Health Services: Cumulative performance at Oct 2019
Data Source: MHSDS NHS Digital

Reporting Period (2019)

Status

No.

Denominator

April

Final

450

8.3%

May

Final

380

15.2%

June

Final

345

21.5%

July

Final

290

26.9%

August

Final

195

30.5%

September

Final

170

October
November
December
January
February
March

Final
Final
Final
Final
Final
Final

205
210
115
185
135
165

% Cumulative

33.6%

5445

37.4%
41.2%
43.3%
46.7%
49.2%
52.2%

Table 15: 2020-21 Mental Health - Improve inequitable rates of access to Children & Young
People’s Mental Health Services: Cumulative performance at Oct 2020
Data Source: MHSDS NHS Digital

Reporting Period (2020)

Status

No.

Denominator

April

Final

490

9.0%

May

Final

305

14.6%

June

Final

265

19.5%

July

Final

265

% Cumulative

24.3%
5445

27.5%

August

Final

175

September

Final

300

33.1%

October
November
December

Final
Final
Final

205
235
170

36.8%
41.1%
44.3%

Table 16: Salford Community Eating Disorder performance 2019-20
Data Source: MFT

Eating Disorder Service

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

No. of CYP with ED (urgent cases) referred with a suspected
ED that start treatment within 1 week of referral

1/1

2/2

2/2

2/2

100%

100%

100%

100%

No. of CYP with ED (routine cases) that wait 4 weeks or less
from referral to start of treatment

4/5

7/7

14/14

4/4

(Local Target 2017-18 80%)

80%

100%

100%

100%

(Local Target 2017-18 75%)

Page 109

7

Table 17: Salford Community Eating Disorder performance 2020-21 (year to date)
Data Source: MFT

Eating Disorder Service

Q1

Q2

Q3

No. of CYP with ED (urgent cases) referred with a suspected ED that start
treatment within 1 week of referral

2/2

1/1

3/3

100%

100%

100%

7/7

9/9

13/13

100%

100%

100%

(Local Target 2017-18 75%)
No. of CYP with ED (routine cases) that wait 4 weeks or less from referral
to start of treatment
(Local Target 2017-18 80%)

Table 18: Greater Manchester: A Snapshot Picture - Data shows children and young people
receiving treatment at August 2019 (defined by 2 or more contacts)
Data Source: NHS Digital (MHSDS)

Actual no. of CYP
receiving
treatment (YTD)

Clinical Commissioning Group

ENGLAND
Greater Manchester
Bolton
Bury
Heywood, Middleton & Rochdale
Manchester
Oldham
Salford
Stockport
Tameside & Glossop
Trafford
Wigan Borough

201,327
14,925
1,175
1,000
1,770
3,455
1,175
1,660
1,480
975
910
1,125

Total no. of CYP
with a
diagnosable
mental health
condition
1,066,433
59,099
6,484
3,877
5,086
12,364
3,965
5,445
5,400
5,485
4,593
6,400

% access rate forecast
outturn.
Target 34% (2019/20)
(by 2020/21 35%)
35.0%
46.9%
33.6%
47.9%
64.6%
51.9%
55.0%
56.6%
50.9%
33.0%
36.8%
32.6%

Table 19: Greater Manchester Snapshot - Data shows CYP receiving treatment at September
2020 (defined by 2 or more contacts)
Data Source: NHS Digital (MHSDS)

Clinical Commissioning
Group

% access rate
Actual No. CYP receiving Actual No. CYP receiving
Total No. CYP with a
(2020/21) last 12
treatment in last 12
treatment
diagnosible mental health
months.
months
(YTD)
condition
Target 35% (by end
2020/21)

ENGLAND

407,156

250,489

1,066,949

38.4%

North West

60,035

37,970

146,064

41.1%

Greater Manchester

26,830

16,610

59,099

45.4%

Bolton

2,330

1,535

6,484

35.9%

Page 110

8

Bury

1,855

1,215

3,877

47.8%

Heywood, Middleton &
Rochdale

3,270

2,050

5,086

64.3%

Manchester

6,605

3,935

12,364

53.4%

Oldham

1,950

1,160

3,965

49.2%

Salford

2,815

1,800

5,445

51.7%

Stockport

2,670

1,520

5,400

49.4%

Tameside and Glossop

2,260

1,485

5,485

41.2%

915

605

4,593

19.9%

2,160

1,305

6,400

33.8%

Trafford
Wigan Borough

Table 20: Greater Manchester Tier 4 (inpatient) CAMHS - Number of Admissions by CCG 201819. Source:
Data Source: NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit
25
20
15
10
5
0

NHS
Heywood
NHS
,
NHS
NHS
NHS Bury
Bolton
Middleto Manches Oldham
CCG
CCG
n and ter CCG
CCG
Rochdale
CCG

NHS
NHS
NHS
NHS
Tamesid
NHS
Wigan
Salford Stockpor e and Trafford
Borough
CCG
t CCG Glossop
CCG
CCG
CCG

Q1 2018/19

8

5

4

6

9

2

4

7

3

2

Q2 2018/19

14

2

5

18

9

4

8

4

3

6

Q3 2018/19

23

7

10

8

4

10

13

6

7

8

Q4 2018/19

14

6

3

19

5

10

2

5

1

10

Table 21: Number of Admissions by CCG 2019-20.
Data Source: NHS North of England Commissioning Support Unit
25
20
15
10
5
0

NHS
Heywood
NHS
NHS
NHS
NHS Bury
,
Bolton
Manches Oldham
CCG Middleto
CCG
ter CCG
CCG
n and
Rochda…

NHS
NHS
NHS
NHS Tameside NHS
Wigan
Salford Stockpor
and
Trafford
Borough
CCG
t CCG Glossop
CCG
CCG
CCG

Q1 2019/20

7

6

7

16

1

7

4

5

7

12

Q2 2019/20

7

9

3

20

7

4

1

6

1

4

Page 111

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix J
Service User feedback, participation and engagement activities, and case
studies

1.

42nd Street service user feedback
What was really good about your care?

 Some of the advice I have been given and the methods have been really good
 Listened to and explained what was happening with me. Got given some great advice
that I will carry with me forever!
 You, the support and inclusivity of the staff and how the sessions are specifically tailored
towards what I need that week and how u don’t say really ableist or transphobic things
about my struggles like other therapists have. the specific little goals and positive words
said when achieving them or at least attempting them have been fab too
 [WORKER] has helped me to open up and deal with things I have suppressed and let
build up.
 It was focused around what I needed and what I felt I would need to help me the most.
 That I was supported when I needed it.
 Confidence has improved so much.
 You just understand me and give me ways to make me better
 You have let me talk and by listening to you I have found helpful things
 You’ve given me different techniques for how to deal with things and cope and ways to
help me; journaling, sleep tips etc.
 The fact it wasn't about just the issues.
 I felt listened to
 I feel that my care was always focused on my needs and what was best for me at any
given time. The person I saw continuously [WORKER] always remained in regular contact
with me and kept me up to date with any changes to my sessions or any times that she
would be unavailable to contact and made sure I was aware of other forms of support I
could access should I need it during times she was not available. I feel that I was always
listened to and that my worries and feeling were always taken seriously regardless of how
big or small they were. I always felt that [WORKER] was genuinely interested in my
progress and was happy to be supporting me throughout my sessions. I always felt
comfortable expressing how I felt as [WORKER] continuously made me feel comfortable
and made the environment feel safe enough to do so.
 the art making allowed me communicate my feelings in colours rather than having to talk

Was there anything you didn’t like or anything that needs
improving?
 just the accessibility of the website itself but that’s not something u have full control over
fully. you even suggested screen readers and helped me in discovering dark text overlays
of my browser and made me feel listened to and like I was a valued member of the team
at 42nd street almost, because of my disabilities and the perspectives that brings
 The waiting time was quite long.
 Preferred face-face as didn’t feel as comfortable at home
 I cannot fault the service that I have been provided with, a great service all round that I
would highly recommend to anyone

Page 113

Is there anything else you want to tell us about the service you
received?
 I just think it's an amazing service and an amazing thing and I'm really grateful for it
 As I have seen a lot of other counsellors before I can say by far that this is the best
service I have ever received, and I cannot thank [WORKER] enough for all of her work
throughout my support! [WORKER] has left me feeling empowered and inspired to help
others in the ways that she has helped me. Thank you [WORKER]!

1a: Direct feedback from young person (from 6 weekly and end reviews, Experience of
Service Questionnaire (ESQ)

 6-session review form:
What has been helpful?
I have found it helpful to have a space to talk and I feel listened to so far. I feel
like you don’t want to get rid of me like past therapists and that you actually care.
What has changed?
I have been starting to feel more positive and there as less days resigned as “bad”
days. I’m journaling more and reflecting on one positive thing a day which is helping
a bit.
 Feedback from Experience of Service Questionnaire (ESQ), completed after the last
session (written by young person):
What was good about your care?
I felt listened to and that you really cared about what I had to say. Initially I couldn’t
look you in the eye or be on my own in the session but after a short space of time I
could be on my own and have eye contact. I feel much more at ease in talking about
how I feel and feel that I will seek support in future if I need.
Was there anything you didn’t like or anything that needs improving?
Not at all
Is there anything else you want to tell us about the service you received?
I wanted to say thank you very much

1b: Example of 42nd Street Friends and Family Questionnaire:
36 young people responded in the following ways:
RECOMMENDATION
Neither
How likely are you to
Extremely
Extremely
nd
Likely
likely nor
Unlikely
recommend 42 Street to
likely
unlikely
unlikely
friends and family if they
needed similar support?
24
12
0
0
0
Based on responses, this represents a 100% positive satisfaction with service.

Page 114

Don’t know
0

2. Examples of children and young people’s voice & engagement
CAMHS and STARLAC Participation Group:
‘Becoming who you want to bee’
Young people’s interview questions were asked in the I-reach band 6 and band 7 interviews
which were offered virtually and face to face in October and were several new staff were
successfully recruited to the team for the Manchester and Salford I- Reach teams.
We continue to collaborate with Unity Radio on the ‘I believe’ Project and identified a young
person who completed the last cohort who was struggling with suicidal thoughts so we asked
him to be the ambassador on the new cohort and support and mentor young people joining
the project for the first time. This has been really fantastic for him and has given him a
structure and routine and something to look forward too. After the last group ended and
before becoming the ambassador, he was experiencing suicidal thoughts and intent. This
has now stopped.
Based on the feedback we have had from
our LGBTQIA+ young people we are
redesigning our staff photo board to
include photos of staff with their chosen
pronouns on. We are looking forward to
unveiling the results soon!
We continue to have an interactive
participation board in reception. This was
created with lockdown in mind and we
asked young people to help us with a
handprint and we made a ‘rainbow’ of
hands and have since being asking people
to fill in a blank hand with ‘what they did
during lockdown’.
Some of the comments were:



To appreciate social time with friends and family more



I am grateful for all the NHS has done – Thank you NHS



Thanks to {clinician name} I have learnt its ok to cry



I wrote songs and learned to play piano



I have learnt to expect the impossible



During lockdown I have learnt not to take the freedom and rights we have for
granted in England as they were taken away

Page 115

2a: CAMHS – Examples of Service User feedback (2020-21)
What was really good about your care?
YP Responses

















Listened it Helped, Excellent Service
They listened and suggested some good stuff
So far, I have been given appointments as often as needed. They haven’t been too
forceful with the treatment and have just tried to educate e me and my family
The reassurance
Talking to someone
The people I see are very nice
They provide resources to help until the follow up appointment
Everything
They understand
Worker is easy to talk to and caring] really calm session, listened to
Comfortable and Happy
It was because I got a Sticker
Playing Games
They know how to help me
How nice the lady was to me
Made me Settled

Parents Reponses
 They have listened to A and put him at ease, allowing him to let go of some of his
issues.
 Taking my child’s points into consideration
 I felt I was being taken seriously and listened to.
 CAMHS Listen and try their best to help
 L’s care has only just started, but I feel we are in the right place
 The CAMHS Practitioner who sees my daughter is consistent and my daughter is
happy to see her. She is a good listener
 Nothing as I have only had one appointment with CAMHS
 They listened and reassured my daughter
 Listened has been given great advice and they always listen to his concerns and
worries
 Able to converse well with Sumeet felt comfortable and well listened too
 Helped work through her anxiety
 Being able to explain and engage about my child’s condition
 Did listen but my son did not fully engage
 The extended help, kind, friendly
 I felt my child was listened to
 Flexible with appointment times, return calls promptly, willing to listen to air concerns,
and give guidance on where we can access other MDT help. Made to feel
comfortable takin about personal issues – non-judgemental.
 I don’t know its mine and my daughters first time
 We found out she has ADHD and address it with medication
 They listened and advised
 George listens to my concerns about my son
 My son was spoken to
 The people I have dealt with support and next steps
 Friendly, Helpful
 Just amazing the support from NHS is amazing.
 Felt at ease on first visit and confident that the service would support my child
 Made Z very settled

Page 116

Was there anything you didn’t like or anything that needs improving?
YP Responses
 There needs to be more therapy for young people for example: Art therapy/DBT,
DBT is an essential service, they tried doing it online, but it didn’t work
 The waiting times
 Waiting in the waiting room
 No apart from different doctor
 I Don’t like coming here in general
 Maybe a bigger parking lot that you don’t have to pay for
 I’m not sure but maybe they could show us more technique to help us and maybe
more social experiences (I Know it’s hard because of the corona virus)
 More Explanation
 Waiting area: A TV or Radio
Parents Responses
 Had problems to start but all sorted now
 As a Parent I am not always kept informed regarding recommendations made by
CAMHS for my Daughters future. I had to hear from another agency
 My son has had appointments cancelled resulting in not being seen for a year
 Yes, car parking not enough places when some cars are here all day
 Not that I Didn’t like – just lack of understanding about how this process works – but
really pleased with the care taken with me and my daughter. These staff do an
exceptional job show commitment to their job, could not ask for more, great service
from CAMHS
 Diagnosis of non-school attendance was not diagnoses/recognised as anxiety
 I Don’t feel my views or schools’ views have been taken into consideration when
advising what care is provided
 Was not aware no med for autism, was not aware only med for ADHD
 Swaps in people leading on care – understand this is sometimes unavoidable but
does cause distress for services users. Initial referral there was a mix up and had to
come several times for initial assessment before we were allocated a care coordinator, once allocated care provided was of a high standard.
 Because my son attends a special need school CAMHS haven’t done much for us
apart from given meds.
 Yes, more help for parents to understand the child’s needs I Feel ADHD is a very
grey area! More regular apps.
 The amount of different people my son has seen there could not be any rapper
building
 This is our 2nd time here, first time I felt as if I was lying about my child’s needs and
felt like I was questioned on face that I was saying. This time is different thankfully
 Diet coke machine
Is there anything else you want to tell us about the service you received?
YP Responses
 There need to be more preventative work for suicide especially for autism because
you’re more likely to experience depression, anxiety and suicidal thoughts especially
during adolescence.
 It was good
 It really Helps
Parent Responses
 My Daughter needs DBT and there is no service currently available.
 Excellent
 Great Service could not ask for more.
Page 117






I hope she will be able to have more appointments to help with her needs
Overall happy with the service thank you
Vicky is amazing and so supportive
To just thank you

3. Children’s and Young People’s Mental Health Case studies 202021 (Salford Services)
Case Study 1: CAMHS
Referral of 12-year-old male previously seen by CAMHS in 2018, query Learning Disabilities
and complex family dynamics.
Referral in 2020 was for increased level of aggression and reports of hearing voices and
subsequent self-harming behaviours.
Seen by CAMHS first appointment ROMS completed and indicated parental distress and
anxiety high and young person no areas of concern. Nil evidence of responding to
external/internal stimuli orientated to time and place, good eye contact and engaged well in
session. 1-1 time facilitated with YP and parent to compete assessment and agree plan
going forward was done.
Parental mental health reported and familial changes in last 12 months recorded and
associated issues with COVID impacting on wider distress.
YP reported familial conflict and arguments, increased alcohol use in the home during lock
down by parents and subsequent family issues. Self-harm at times of distress nil suicidal
ideation or intent, voices described as internal thoughts and increased anxiety.
Nil evidence of depressive or psychotic disorder but clear need for further interventions and
wider support.
Agreed for further work within family therapy session and for all family members to attend.
Further 1-1sessions with YP on mood and emotional regulation and management of feelings
as opposed to self-injuring.
Wider referral to early help for practical family support
Referral to GP and adult mental health and Alcohol support for parent.
Sessions attended in CAMHS demonstrated improvement in ROMS and initial concerns
improved discharged after 16 weeks.

Page 118

Case Study 2: STARLAC (Salford CAMHS for looked after children service)
Young person (15) living in a children’s home – ‘Liv’
Liv had known workers from STARLAC since she was 12. She had been supported in her
foster placement where she had experienced bullying from her brother and name calling from
the foster father. We were asked to see her again when she moved into a children’s home
aged 14.
At this point she had been hoping to return to family and was devastated to hear that she
would be living in a children’s home. This showed itself by her telling professionals she felt let
down by them and by rejecting any care that was offered. A worker from STARLAC tried to
build a relationship with her over several months by dropping by, writing to her and engaging
her in general talk in the home. This was not successful.
By May 2020, Liv was showing her upset by self-harming, hitting the staff that were trying to
care for her, and telling everyone in her network how useless they were at their jobs.
STARLAC offered risk support to the professional network as Liv was refusing to meet with
anyone. We decided to create a formulation that could be used by the network to try and share
the anxiety around Liv’s behaviour. There were significant experiences from her early
childhood that connected with the behaviours she was showing. Liv had five ACEs in her early
childhood (neglect and physical abuse, plus three parental absences). Her mum did not accept
help from statutory services and missed health appointments and school attendance. Liv was
not school ready and was at a disadvantage when she started school. It was noted that she
was ‘independent’, this was also noted in her foster home when she would wash her own hair
aged five. It was not surprising that she did not feel able to rely on others to care for her and
thought she could do better looking after herself. Liv had been assessed as having an avoidant
attachment style aged five. By age 15 she had developed a set of strategies that were
successful in regulating others’ closeness and distance to her. When she felt under threat,
these would become more and more extreme. She attended A&E on three occasions, each
time alluding to being sexually assaulted but saying that she did not want to talk about this.
After an episode in which she became very distressed, she was admitted to a Tier 4 adolescent
unit. She showed the same rejecting behaviour in this setting and was discharged very quickly.
STARLAC worked with the unit to think whether a diagnosis would be useful in her future
mental health care. She was diagnosed with PTSD and Disinhibited Attachment Disorder, both
of which require specific experiences which we were able to show from looking through her
history.
STARLAC then worked with the network to think how these diagnoses translated into Liv’s
day to day behaviours. We were then able to think slightly differently about her care. The
network were keen for Liv to receive individual help for her mental health. However, when we
looked at her experiences of neglect, physical and sexual abuse, it became understandable
that she had developed a sense that adults were untrustworthy. This had been reinforced by
her mum. In trying to help her, she sometimes felt that people were coercing her into
something she did not want. This was threatening to her and caused her to try harder in her
attempts to escape the perceived threat. A plan was developed where STARLAC would write
to Liv and explain that she could receive help without having to tell anyone the details of the
sexual assault, and that lots of young people feel this way. The team at Devonshire Road
would give her this and tell her that they would contact us when and if she was ready. This
seemed to reduce the pressure on both Liv and her care team and she appeared more relaxed
in the home. However, it was difficult for others in the network to accept that this plan was a
positive option and so STARLAC wrote a letter which could be copied to anyone that
recommended the care team spend time trying to persuade Liv to engage with mental health
services.
A similar approach was discussed in a school meeting and a time arranged for the LAC EP,
Virtual School and Liv’s school to think about how the formulation would translate into a school
plan.

Page 119

Case Study 3: Salford CAMHS Youth Justice Service
What was the CYP situation when they came to the YJS Service?
A young person recently charged with sexually harmful behaviour had expressed difficulties
with his mental health to his YJS case manager and he was referred for telephone support
due to COVID.
What support did the YJS – CAMHS Service provide?
Due to the emotional impact of this conviction on this young person and his disclosure of
mental health difficulties. I contacted the young person by phone to assess his risk.
Telephone calls can be difficult for young people and as I had not met the young person face
to face, I was concerned that he would not be comfortable in disclosing risk issues to a
stranger. I agreed to offer a socially distanced meeting and contacted the local youth centre
close to is home, to meet. He accepted and attended the appointment.
What was the impact of YJS – CAMHS support on the CYP?
I was able to see the young people in person so allowing me to assess his needs effectively.
We established a good rapport from the start, and he shared that he did not feel able to
disclose risk issues over the phone and that there were risks he needed to share. I’m
continuing to see this young person and I am pleased to confirm his emotional difficulties
have improved owning to the support he has received from YJS team and myself. We were
able to provide a service at a challenging in the right environment which through early
intervention has reduced the risk factors and improved the young person’s mental health.
Case Study 4: CAMHS Learning Disability Service
Harrison is a child who presents with a complex picture of social, emotional and
neurodevelopmental needs. Harrison’s case illustrates the complexity of work within the
LD/ASC team and the move towards a wider neurodevelopmental team approach within
CAMHS.
Harrison presents with high levels of aggression at home and school and is verbally and
physically aggressive with adults and other young people. School, parents and the GP had
raised concerns in relation to poor attention, over activity and impulsivity. The referral also
included concerns around a possible social communication disorder due to on-going
difficulties with peer relationships, low empathy and rigidity.
Harrison has experienced trauma following witnessing severe domestic violence from dad
towards mum. Dad was imprisoned for this, mum suffered significant injuries and was
hospitalized for a period following the last assault. Harrison is very attached to his mum and
can struggle to separate at times. Harrison also struggled to tolerate his younger siblings
and can be aggressive towards them. A safeguarding referral was made at the point of the
initial assessment due to concerns over the level of risk Harrison presented to his younger
sister and mum whilst she was pregnant.
Harrison had an initial assessment at CAMHS followed by 4 follow up appointments which
have allowed the team to observe Harrison and gather information about his developmental
history. The team felt that ASD, ADHD and Attachment needed to be explored as part of the
assessment process. Harrison has engaged in a range of assessments including ADOS,
QB, play assessment and school observation. Harrison has presented differently in the
various clinics and settings and as there is conflicting information from other professionals
and external sources, it was felt that some joint assessments with others in the team would
be helpful to gather a more comprehensive picture of Harrison’s presentations and
functioning.
The current formulation is that Harrison is likely to have mild to moderate ADHD. Treatment
for this needs further discussion with the team. Whilst Harrison has some nice social
communication skills there are clear deficits in reciprocity, emotional recognition and
understanding of social relationships. Follow up with CAMHS SALT has been agreed. The
assessment process is on-going and liaison with school and social care will continue as
appropriate.
Page 120

Case Study 5: 42nd Street - Individual Therapeutic Support
The young person’s name has been changed to preserve anonymity and is referred to as
Holly throughout.

Young Person’s Details:
 Gender: Female
 Age: 17
 Ethnicity: White British
 Sexuality: Heterosexual
 Referrer: GP
Background / Presenting issues
Holly was referred by her GP in July 2018 and was described as feeling low and depressed
for 15 months, following the death of her grandparents. She was assessed and placed on the
Salford Psychosocial waiting list.
From the outset, Holly was clear that she wanted to focus on:
 worrying and overthinking less,
 reduce the anxiety she had around certain compulsive behaviours, such as checking
and locking the door,
 and let go of the idea that something bad was going to happen.
Nature and details of support / intervention offered
1. Beginning work
Holly and the MHP originally contracted for 12 sessions to be held weekly in person at a
community venue. The MHP adopted a psychosocial approach; underpinned by
transactional analysis theory and concepts; utilising creative and visual activities to explore
Holly’s thoughts, feelings and behaviours.
Holly reported a nagging feeling that something bad was going to happen, particularly
surrounding the compulsion she had to lock the door and a fear of what could happen if she
had not locked it properly. The MHP introduced a piece of psychoeducation work around
trauma and coping strategies; always expecting something bad is going to happen as a way
of preparing for trauma/traumatic events.
Holly was able to use this learning and apply it to her own anxiety and make meaning from it.
‘’I know my anxiety isn’t directly about locking the door, but about avoiding that pain’’ –
referring to the pain she felt when her grandparents passed away. Holly became aware that
her behaviours had begun shortly after they died, but had never made a connection between
the two or seen them as a way of coping.
In the sessions that followed, Holly linked a number of beliefs she held surrounding feeling
responsible for looking after them and how she feels now. Holly came to understand that the
compulsive behaviour was just another way of coping or of displacing the anxiety and
feelings of responsibility she had identified and placing it on the physical act of locking the
door.
The MHP provided a safe space and permission for holly to really begin to grieve and allow
herself to feel sadness at the loss of her grandparents. Something she said she did not have
the opportunity to do at the time. Holly recalled there being very little support from school
and an expectation from school staff and her peers that she should ‘be over it soon’. As
such, Holly adopted a ‘Be Strong’ mentality and ‘don’t feel’ in order to behave in a way that
was ‘acceptable’.
Holly shared that she held a belief that she was responsible for everyone and it was her job
to take care of everyone. The challenge in the sessions that followed, was giving herself

Page 121

permission to be looked after and allow mum and dad to ‘take back’ responsibility. Thereby
giving Holly’s ‘Child’ the opportunity to be seen, heard and listened to.
Shortly after the 12th session, a nationwide lockdown was announced in response to the
global covid-19 pandemic. The MHP began conducting all work remotely and Holly was
offered support either online or over the phone. Holly continued to receive support via
weekly telephone sessions.
As Holly was no longer attending college in person or leaving the family home each day, the
behaviours surrounding locking the door when she left in the morning shifted, and the focus
was now on locking the door at night and a new bedtime routine emerged.
The MHP introduced Eric Berne’s Ego States model to explore the different parts of Holly, by
way of identifying ways to notice and soothe the anxiety. Holly identified that she struggled to
ask for help and see her needs as being important. By developing her understanding of the
‘Nurturing Parent’, Holly created phrases and affirmations to say to herself and write in her
journal each night - ‘’I’m ok’’ / ‘’Everything is ok’’ / ‘’It’s not my responsibility’’.
Holly wanted to share this learning and insight with mum and dad, so they could better
support her. Together with the MHP, Holly devised a few short sentences beginning ‘’The
story I am telling myself is…’’ and ‘’What I need from you to support me is…’’
As a result, mum and dad were able to offer her reassurance at night when she felt most
anxious and give Holly’s ‘child’ the reassurance it needed to settle. Holly fed back that her
relationship with mum and dad grew closer and she felt increasingly more supported by
them.
In the space of 5 weeks, Holly’s anxiety around the night-time routine went from a 4/10 to a
9/10 and she directly attributed this improvement to:
1. writing in her diary before bed and using verbal affirmations; 'I'm ok' /
'everything is ok'
2. trusting mum and dad - 'they're responsible'
3. looking forward to things and making plans for the future
Over the phone, the MHP shared a list of emotions via email to Holly and asked her to
choose some and categorise them as either ‘good’ or ‘bad’ and to explain why she had
chosen each one, giving examples from her life to explain her responses.
From the therapeutic discussion that ensued, Holly became aware that she perceived some
emotions as ‘ok/acceptable’ and others as ‘not ok/not acceptable’ and would often tell the
same story of having to retreat to her room because she was feeling a particular way; cutting
herself off from support at home, saying that it is ‘'exhausting trying to be positive all the
time'’ and that she has been trying to 'control' negative feelings, rather than let them in. Holly
was able to notice patterns of behaviour and verbalise the ‘story’ she was telling herself. ‘’if I
ask for help then… I am mithering’’. Holly again shared this learning with mum and was able
to devise a plan with her, whereby she could safely be more open about how she was
feeling and ask for what she needed when she felt a certain way.
On the 20th session Holly and the MHP agreed that there would be 3 ‘tapered’ transitional
sessions, to prepare Holly for support concluding. This space in between sessions were to
deliberately provide Holly with space to ‘prove’ and test her coping strategies.
Understandably, there was a certain level of anxiety around building confidence for ‘going
back out into the world’ after several months of isolation.
2. Outcomes of intervention (must include Routine Outcomes Measures data for all
individual therapeutic support).
Qualitative commentary:
Holly had 24 sessions of support, and by the final session fed back that she felt the support
had helped her understand what her anxiety
about and tips and strategies to manage it.
Pagewas
122

‘’Being able to identify what was underneath and tackle both the surface and the hidden
stuff’’
By the time support ended, Holly reported ‘hardly using’ her journal at night, and not needed
much reassurance at all from mum and dad.
The session recording outcomes below are evidence of the positive relationship between the
MHP and Holly.
SRS
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11

12

Relationship

10

Goals & topics

10

Approach/
method
Overall

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

10

Direct feedback from young person (from PEQ 1, in-support reviews and end reviews,
Experience of Service Questionnaire (ESQ)
PEQ 1:
CHOICE
1.

YES

Were you given information about options for
choosing a support type that is appropriate for

NO

x

your needs?
2.

Do you prefer any of the support types among

x

the options available?

N/A

3.

x

Have you been offered your preference?

SATISFACTION
Completely

Mostly

satisfied

satisfied

Neither
satisfied
dissatisfied

1. How satisfied were you
with your assessment?

x

Page 123

nor

Not

Not at all

satisfied

satisfied

In-support reviews:
What has been helpful?
Notes from 6 session review – Holly has found the following helpful:





“the breaking down of stuff and writing it out and the diagrams''.
“They've been helpful in understanding what I've been going through''.
“I've learnt a lot more techniques to help with anxiety and have broken it down
into steps.”'
“Talking about how I've dealt with my anxiety over the last week and figuring
out what techniques I like best.''

Feedback from Experience of Service Questionnaire (ESQ), completed after the last
session (written by young person):
Certainly
Partly
Not
Don’t
True
1

I feel that the people who saw me listened to me

x

2

It was easy to talk to the people who saw me

x

3

I was treated well by the people who saw me

x

4

My views and worries were taken seriously

x

5

I feel the people here know how to support me

x

6

I have been given enough explanation about the
support available here

x

7

I feel that the people who have seen me are working
together to support me

x

8

The facilities here are comfortable (e.g. waiting area)

x

9

My sessions are usually at a convenient time (e.g.
don’t interfere with school, clubs, college, work)

x

10

It is quite easy to get to the place where I have my
sessions.

x

11

If a friend needed this sort of support, I would suggest
to them to come here

x

12

Overall, the support I have received here is good

x

True

True

What was good about your care?
 ‘’everything from the boxes above!’’
 ‘’Listened to and explained what was happening with me.’’
 ‘’Got given some great advice that I will carry with me forever!’’
Was there anything you didn’t like or anything that needs improving?
 No
Is there anything else you want to tell us about the service you received?
 ‘’I just think it's an amazing service and an amazing thing and I'm really
grateful for it’’

Page 124

know

3. Use of other 42nd Street Services
Holly got involved in the creative projects online over the summer. Holly has got involved in a
range of different groups since ending support: Change Makers, Creative Agents and Peer
Ambassadors.
4. Signposting / referral to other agencies
The MHP also connected Holly with; The Princes Trust, Talent Rise and the Rio Ferdinand
foundation to explore opportunities for traineeships and build skills to support her into paid
employment.

Case Study 6: 42nd Street
The young person will be referred to as ‘Peter’ to preserve anonymity and the Case Study
has had input from Early Help, Peter and his school.
Background: Peter (male, aged 11) presented with risk of suicide. He would make (often
graphic) threats to others about ending his life. Peter appeared to display a lack of empathy
and found it difficult to relate to others. He often felt powerless and felt that to feel powerful,
he needed to intimidate others. Peter struggled with friendships and struggled to form secure
attachments with adults. He had difficulty understanding how to relate to peers. Peter has
special Educational needs including ADHD, Sensory and attachment difficulties. Peter was
referred to ICR for support to understand his emotions, control angry outbursts and to
reduce risk of suicide.
Important Factors to Consider: Due to Peters additional needs the ICR worker was able to
meet F2F using appropriate PPE.
Peter had difficulties in school which was emphasised through a lack of boundaries with
staff, which led to him feeling unsafe and caused him to become a threat to himself. Some
examples of this would be screaming and crying “I will stab myself” or “I will kill myself” and
getting a knife and threatening to slit his wrists. When Peter wasn’t getting his needs met he
would make threats to harm teachers, peers, parents and sometimes this escalated to
holding broken glass up to another pupil’s throat, and being physically abusive to mum. At
times of distress Peter would express lots of self-loathing e.g. “I hate myself”. ICR worked
with Peter in a multi-agency approach to help refer him to a specialist school that could
follow the recommendations made to ensure Peter had a supported environment and safe
relationships with staff/pupils.
Multi-agency approach to support
Effective Multi-Agency Working
Consultations between ICR & the CAMHS
ICR consultant psychiatrist led to a rapidresponse multi-agency meeting set up
where the ICR worker was able to highlight
Peters mental health and attachment
needs to ensure the support did not
remain solely on his neurodevelopmental
and sensory needs but also his emotional
needs. The ICR worker also fed into the
CAMHS formulation for attachment
difficulties that had not been assessed
before ICR involvement.

Page 125

Overview of Support
Engagment Sessions - 4
Therapeutic Sessions- 4
Proffessional
Consultations- 7
Check-ins with school- 8

During sessions: Peter found it difficult to talk about how he was feeling and therefore he
had four engagement sessions as he had just started ADHD medication and found it hard to
concentrate. The ICR worker was able to use creative methods to engage Peter. To ensure
the work was appropriate for Peters needs, the ICR worker used Lego (something he
enjoys) to help Peter relate to the activity. The ICR worker also used games and art to reflect
on his feelings.
Peter stated during assessment that he does not
have suicidal thoughts but tells people he would
hurt himself as he felt it would make people care
‘I wouldn’t even do it I’m just angry’.

“I wouldn’t even
do it, I’m just
angry”

Outcomes and Impact of Service







Peter became more confident in exploring his emotions and recognising his
behaviour
Peter became more confident in working with adults
His social skills improved and he feels more comfortable talking about himself
ICR were able to provide a summary to social worker to support transition of
social care to new local authority area. Ensuring Peter continues to be supported at
child in need level.
Weekly consultations with the school ensured school staff felt supported and were
more regulated and confident in supporting Peter with his distress.

Peters Feedback





It was really helpful and I really enjoyed talking to someone. My mum was happy too.
It was helpful to talk because I didn’t usually want to talk. I felt I had to keep things on
the down low.
Better social skills and is braver to talk to people now.
Sian said I didn’t have to talk about anything if I didn’t want to. I could keep a few little
things back and she made sure I was safe too.

School Safeguarding Lead Feedback


Sian was good enough to come safely in PPE during lockdown which shows how
dedicated she is to see her work through

Page 126







The child needed to talk and get some of the things he had struggled with for so long
out and to be able to talk in a safe place.
I could see week on week the engagement and trust was building up.
Having Sian there to talk and ask questions was a massive support for me too.
He could express himself with no worry of causing upset to anyone at home and he
felt comfortable enough to do that in whichever way he needed to
Knowing the same time each week was his protected time and when he felt reluctant
she would wait for him patiently.

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix K
Measuring outcomes and impacts of children’s and young people’s mental health
interventions
GM CAMHS Specification
The GM CAMHS specification sets out expectations of services delivering and monitoring the
following specified outcomes (in Appendix A: GM Community CAMHS outcome Metric), which
requires the application of 5 Routine Outcome Measures (ROMs):
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Goal Based Outcome (GBO)
Session Rating Scale (SRS)
Outcome Rating Scale (ORS)
Health Improvement-Experience Service (CHI-ESQ)
A ROM from the National CYPMH Outcome Metric chosen by the clinician.

The application of the ROMs is used to show of all Children and Young People, in treatment
and/or discharged after treatment, how many show improvement in presenting problem
following treatment.



Denominator: All CYP MH referrals, with at least two contacts, at least one paired
score, and at least one initial score above clinical cut-off.
Numerator: The number of these referrals with reliable improvement recorded across
at least one assessment, and no reliable deterioration against any other assessments.

This information is flowed by providers to the National Mental Health Services Data Set
(MHSDS) and supports National, GM and local monitoring of outcomes. The GM CYPMH
report is built on this detailed information through tableau and further work is planned from
March 2021 to develop the outcomes reporting and capacity to benchmark both across GM
and nationally. This work is being led by GM HSCP Data lead and CCG BI leads working
with provider Information leads and with the GM Data Club.

Salford CAMHS outcomes 2020-2021
Salford CAMHS provides a quarterly summary of outcomes for children and young people
(see below), which sets out the extent to which children and young people’s mental health
has improved and shows 41% of problems are resolved, partly resolved or largely resolved.
Outcomes 2020/21
Assessment/Opinion Only
Problem(s) Resolved
Problem(s) Partly Resolved
Problem(s) Largely Resolved
Problem(s) the same
Worse
Other - Outcome
Not Known

Q1
104
60
63
90
48
0
21
65

Page 129

Q2
151
44
51
62
51
1
38
46

Q3
164
49
89
82
54
2
55
47

YTD
419
153
203
234
153
3
114
158

%
29%
11%
14%
16%
11%
0%
8%
11%

The above also shows that 29% of CAMHS outcomes are for assessment / opinion only,
however this is key to informing education, health and care packages and securing the right
support for children to ensure they are able to fulfil their potential and achieve good
outcomes.

42nd Street outcomes measures and recovery rates
42nd Street uses nationally validated mental health routine outcomes and satisfaction
measurement tools, which form part of the national Mental Health Services Dataset
(MHSDS) and measures outcomes of mental health services commissioned by the NHS.







Goal Based Outcomes (GBOs): goals set by young people at the outset of
therapeutic support. Young people are supported to set a maximum of three realistic
goals.
The Outcomes Rating Scale (ORS): a self-reported sessional measure which
captures mental health and wellbeing outcomes, with a focus on individual wellbeing,
interpersonally - with family and close relationships; socially – at work, in school and
with friends; and overall wellbeing.
Session Rating Scale (SRS): a self-reported sessional measure which explores the
therapeutic alliance including feeling heard, understood and respected, a focus on
goals, approach and methods, and overall view of the session. This is completed at
the end of the session.
Experience of Service Questionnaire (ESQ): qualitative and quantitative selfreported measure of satisfaction completed once at the end of support.

GBO, ORS and SRS use a 0-10 rating scale, with 0 being lowest rated and 10 representing
the most positive rating. All measures are understood to form part of a deeper review of
therapeutic support. ESQ uses a rating scale appropriate to the series of questions and free
text sections.
ORS Scoring (of a maximum of 40 score points) measures:





T1 (Assessment): Scores below 28 are considered to indicate “clinical levels of
distress”. The average national T1 score are 23
Reliable Change: 5 point or more improvement from pre- treatment score (an
increased score)
Clinically Significant Change: 5 point or more improvement from pre-treatment score
and crossed the cut-off score for age group
Reliable Deterioration: 5 point or more worsening from pre-treatment score.

YP-CORE is a nationally validated 10 item self-report measure capturing: subjective well‐
being; commonly experienced difficulties/symptoms; risk; and life/social functioning.
Scoring ranges from 0 – 40, with 40 indicated the most sever level of distress: the risk cut-off
is 3 and the clinical cut-off is 10. Scores can be divided into categories of distress:









Healthy (0–5)
Low (6–10)
Mild (11–14)
Moderate (15–19)
Moderate‐to‐severe (20–24)
Severe (25 and above)
Clinically significant Improvement: scores reduce by 5 points or more

Page 130



Recovery: scores reduce by 5 or more points and the final score is below the
clinical cut-off.

42nd street Outcomes (Recovery rates) 2020-21
From April - December 2020, 42nd street reported the following recovery rates for Salford
young people.
When using YP-CORE to measure outcomes:
Salford YP: 65% of young people, with comparable data showed either clinically significant
improvement or recovery.
When using Outcome Rating Scale to measure outcomes:
Salford YP: 54% of young people, with comparable data showed either reliable change or
clinically significant change.
Online service outcomes:
Salford’s Online provision scaled up significantly in 2020-21 in response to COVID and this
has achieved amazing outcomes both in terms of engagement, inclusion and recovery rates
exceeding those for core services. From April – December 2020, the online service
supported:






33% LGBTQ
11% BAME
3% Young Carers
11% Disabled
Average age of 18.

When using YP-CORE to measure outcomes
Salford Online YP: 71% of young people, with comparable data showed either clinically
significant improvement or recovery.

National Benchmark for recovery
The national benchmark for recovery rates from a BACP study (in 2015) is 44%. This shows
that the 42nd street recovery rates outlined above are significantly higher than nationally.
Service user satisfaction, participation, and feedback
Commissioned mental health services use as range of data and feedback from young
people including the ‘Experience of Service Questionnaire’ to seek feedback from young
people on their experiences of services they engage with against 12 key statements (see
below). This information feeds into quarterly and/or annual reports. The data included in the
table below is a summary of the 42nd street CHI-ESQ for Salford YP disengaged during Q1Q3 as percentages for the YP that answered a particular question.

Page 131

Certainly
True

Partly
True

Not
True

Don’t
know

1

I feel that the people who saw me listened to me

0

100

0

0

2

It was easy to talk to the people who saw me

3

97

0

0

3

I was treated well by the people who saw me

0

100

0

0

4

My views and worries were taken seriously

0

100

0

0

5

I feel the people here know how to support me

3

97

0

0

0

100

0

0

0

100

0

0

7

93

0

0

33

67

0

0

7

93

0

0

9

91

0

0

0

100

0

0

6
7
8
9
10
11
12

I have been given enough explanation about the
support available here
I feel that the people who have seen me are working
together to support me
The facilities here are comfortable (e.g. waiting area)
My sessions are usually at a convenient time (e.g.
don’t interfere with school, clubs, college, work)
It is quite easy to get to the place where I have my
sessions.
If a friend needed this sort of support, I would suggest
to them to come here
Overall, the support I have received here is good

Young people also routinely provide personalised feedback on their experiences and make
recommendations on how services could be improved. Services pro-actively engage young
people in a range of participation and engagement activities and groups to help shape and
improve services. In addition, services routinely include detailed case studies to provide a
fuller picture of the types of presenting needs of young people who engage with services, the
range of interventions offered/provided, the goals and aspirations young people are involved
in setting for themselves, and the journey/progress and outcomes achieved through
interventions.
Some examples of service user feedback and of participation and engagement responses
are included from 2020-21 monitoring reports for illustration in Appendix J.

Page 132

Agenda Item 5b

Item no.

Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
Title of report
Date
Contact
Officer

Co-production for health and well-being in Salford
13 July, 2021
Chris Dabbs (Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce /
Unlimited Potential)

1. Executive Summary
Why is this report being
brought to the Board? Relevance of this report to
the priorities of the Joint
Health and Wellbeing
Strategy, the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment or
integrated working

In the Salford Locality Plan 2020-2025, the partners on
the Health and Wellbeing Board state:
• Co-production with local people is a priority with
regard to places, communities and neighbourhoods.
• “We will continue to engage with citizens and
communities and work towards genuine coproduction where possible on our priorities and
services. This approach is best used to develop
innovative local solutions to complex issues such as
child poverty, suicide prevention, loneliness and
social isolation, and climate change.”
• Co-production is perceived as a form or research
and innovation, with a particular focus on innovative
local solutions to complex issues.
Health and Wellbeing Board’s • Understand needs, inequalities, risks and assets
duties or responsibilities in
locally – continuous process of needs and assets
this area
assessment.
• Determine priorities for local action – focus
collective efforts and resources on an agreed set of
priorities and outcomes.
• Promote integration and partnership – hold
organisations accountable for their contribution to
outcomes in the Joint Health and Wellbeing
Strategy / Locality Plan and encourage integrated
commissioning and pooling of resources where
applicable
Key questions for the Health
1. To note the approach to co-production for health
and Wellbeing Board to
and well-being in Salford.
address - what action is
2. To confirm that the Board will consider at a
needed from the Board and
subsequent meeting specific proposals from the
its members?
co-production process. If supported, co-design of
the solutions will then be planned with local
people. These will then be embedded directly into
the Locality Implementation Plan.

Page 133

1

What requirement is there for
internal or external
communication around this
issue?
2.

Engagement with local people and communities for the
purpose of co-production.

Background

2.1. At a development session on 11 December, 2018, the Salford Health and
Wellbeing Board identified as an achievement a greater emphasis on listening
to the voices of local people.
2.2. There was also acknowledgement that the Board should focus on citizens and
communities and not on systems and processes. Some members felt that the
Greater Manchester public service reform model is too prescriptive and process
focused. It also had insufficient emphasis on the voluntary, community and
social enterprise (VCSE) sector, community voices and community assets.
2.3. It was agreed to ‘Salfordise’ the Greater Manchester public service reform
principles and make it work locally, encompassing the importance of both the
integrated place agenda and co-production with communities.
2.4. It was recognised that this is an important piece of work that requires input from
stakeholders and wider leadership to progress.
2.5. Under the auspices of the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board, a learning event
was conducted in July 2019 on the theme of co-production: what it means, who
is involved and what difference it can make.
2.6. On 10 September, 2019, a report and presentation on the development of coproduction was received by the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board.
2.7. The Board resolved to:
1. Incorporate co-production within the refreshed Locality Plan for Salford.
2. Incorporate co-production into each of the Board’s priority areas for 20192020 and 2020-2021.
3. Identify a lead at executive level for co-production across the health and wellbeing system.
4. Establish a task and finish group to produce specific proposals for coproduction in Salford.
5. Each Board member considers and reports back on coproduction by their
organisation.
6. Request a report to the Board on progress with co-production every six
months.
2.8. Although practical progress was hampered by the COVID-19 situation, a focus
on co-production has been maintained and subsequently incorporated into
Salford’s new Locality Plan for health and well-being. The Health and Wellbeing
Board confirmed the need to grow the culture of co-production in its
development session on 28 July, 2020, which has been nurtured in subsequent
meetings of the Salford Time to Act sub-group.

Page 134

2

2.9. In line with the Locality Plan for Salford 2020-2025, the Health and Wellbeing
Board agreed on 9 February, 2021, to support the proposed approach to coproduction for health and well-being in Salford.
2.10. This report provides an update on the plan to implement this approach.
3.

Locality Plan 2020-20251

3.1. Co-production with local people is cited as a priority within the Salford Locality
Plan 2020-2025 with regard to places, communities and neighbourhoods.
3.2. One key outcome, which relates to strong and resilient communities is:
• I feel safe and connected, and able to influence the decisions that affect me.
3.3. The Locality Plan states that: “The value of coproduction is recognised where power and decisionmaking are shared equally between decision-makers
and citizens (including children and young people). We
will continue to engage with citizens and communities
and work towards genuine co-production where
possible on our priorities and services. This approach is
best used to develop innovative local solutions to
complex issues such as child poverty, suicide
prevention, loneliness and social isolation, and climate
change.”
3.4. Co-production is perceived as a form or research and innovation, with a
particular focus on innovative local solutions to complex issues.
3.5. The specific indicator relating to this work is: co-production of innovative local
solutions (case studies).
3.6. The Locality Plan identifies four particular areas for co-production, each of
which is a fundamental determinant of health and well-being: child poverty;
climate change; loneliness and social isolation; and suicide prevention.
4.

Approach

The basic approach proposed for each of the four priority areas is:
4.1. Reframe the issue into a positive statement, made more specific if appropriate,
and in particular where some or all the four themes can be tackled at the same
time (for example, young people are passionate about the impacts of economy
and environment, social isolation means people are emotionally less resilient
during life events and triggers).
4.2. Recruit and induct local people, with particular regard to diversity and to
inclusion of those whose voices are less heard or not heard and/or who have

1

https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan

Page 135

3

less agency. Convening different groups simultaneously will facilitate sharing of
ideas across groups and geographies.
4.3. Local people develop initial ideas and concepts to address the priority area.
4.4. Local people engage with ‘decision makers’/professionals to develop the ideas
and concepts. This will enrich decision-making and facilitate early ‘win-wins’ to
be identified, thus growing trust, mutual respect, and recognition of local assets
and opportunities.
4.5. Specific proposals are presented to the Salford Health and Wellbeing Board
and/or other appropriate body. In particular, various funding sources will be
explored, such as in partnership with the private sector, researchers and
regional, national or international sponsors.
4.6. If supported, plans are made for co-design of the solutions. These will be
embedded directly into the Locality Implementation Plan.
5.

Child poverty

5.1. Tackling poverty and inequality is one of the ‘Great Eight’ priorities for Salford.
“Significant levels of poverty continue to exist in many parts of Salford. Working
with our partners, we will take action to make things better for the many
households struggling to make ends meet. We must also look to prevent people
from falling into poverty in the first place, building on what we know is already
working, as well as developing new ways of doing things.”2
5.2. The Locality Plan states: “We will continue our co-production approach in the
Poverty Truth Commission.”
5.3. The specific indicator relating to this issue is: childhood poverty, food and fuel
poverty.
5.4. This co-production should relate to the wider development and implementation
of Salford’s Inclusive Economy Strategy, as well as to the work of the 0-25
Board in Salford, and to the second Salford Poverty Truth Commission if and
when established.
The issue reframed: future prosperity 3 4
We believe in showing compassion in our country, and yet increasing numbers of
children are locked in poverty. We believe it is only fair that all children have good
life chances.
The future prosperity of our society depends on our ability to foster the health and
well-being of the next generation. When a society invests wisely in children and
2

https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/how-the-council-isperforming/our-priorities-the-great-eight/
3 Frameworks Institute (2009) Framing Child Poverty by Telling a Development Story https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/child_poverty_message_brief.pdf
4 O’Neil M. et al (2018) How to Talk About Poverty in the United Kingdom (Frameworks Institute in
partnership with the Joseph Rowntree Foundation) - https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/JRFUKPovertyMessageMemo2018Final.pdf

Page 136

4

families, the next generation will succeed and pay that investment through a
lifetime of productivity and responsible citizenship.
When we create and replicate high-quality programmes for young children, we can
solve problems in early childhood development and shown significant long-term
improvements for children.
6.

Climate change

6.1. Climate change is cited as a priority within the Salford Locality Plan 2020-2025
with regard to places, communities and neighbourhoods.
6.2. The Locality Plan states: “We will work together across partners to demonstrate
progress towards tackling the climate change emergency and improve our
environment to reduce carbon, create sustainable energy, reduce waste,
recycle and improve air quality. Our refreshed climate change and adaptation
action plan will be overseen by the Climate Action Board and will reflect the
[Greater Manchester] five-year environmental plan launched in 2019. This is in
addition to our work on the Salford Air Quality Action Plan and the emerging
[Greater Manchester] Clean Air Plan. A ‘Local Green Deal’ will be part of the
Inclusive Economy Strategy. We will work with communities to play their part
and devise innovative solutions through co-production.”
6.3. The specific indicators relating to this issue are: Clean Air Plan - exceedances
in NOx [nitrogen oxides] and particulates; and carbon footprint or reductions.
6.4. This co-production should relate to the work of the Climate Action Board in
Salford.
The issue reframed: everyone deserves a healthy environment 5 6 7
Many of us have had our value of green spaces and open water strengthened
during the COVID-19 situation. We have also benefitted from the cleaner air with
less pollution, with less rampant carbon dioxide building up like a blanket that traps
heat around the world.
Everyone deserves a healthy environment and the opportunity to live free from
environmental threats. We need to make sure that everyone can live in healthy
communities.
To protect the people and places we love, we need to be prepared and see how
powerful we can be together to manage our environment responsibly. By taking
practical steps to tackle problems facing our environment today in new ways, we
are acting in the best interest of future generations.

5

Frameworks Institute (2016) How can your climate communications be clearer and more effective? https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/NNOCCI_flyer_02.pdf
6 Nall Bales S. and Lindland E. (2014) Talking Environmental Health [Frameworks Institute] https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/eh_mm.pdf
7 Simon A. et al. (2013) Using Values to Build Public Understanding and Support for Environmental
Health Work [Frameworks Institute] - https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/EnvironmentalHealth_values_final.pdf

Page 137

5

7.

Loneliness and social isolation

7.1. Active contribution is cited as a priority within the Salford Locality Plan 20202025 with regard to ageing well.
7.2. The Locality Plan states: “Loneliness is a key risk factor in the mental health of
older people. Age UK has mapped the risk of loneliness in the UK and ranked
each neighbourhood within England. Applying their data to the 2016 mid-year
population estimates that there are 16,000 adults in Salford aged 65+ living in
the most deprived national quintiles in respect to the risk of loneliness. This
represents 44% of the 65+ Salford population. The [Office for National
Statistics] have also predicted loneliness based on the 2011 Census and place
Salford as being the 16th worst local authority (of 326) in terms of risk of older
adults being lonely.”
7.3. Framed within ‘active contribution’, the Locality Plan continues: “We will seek to
co-produce solutions for loneliness and social isolation building on the huge
diversity of backgrounds, experience and ambition of the millions of people who
are older.”
7.4. The specific indicator relating to this issue is: measures of active contribution.
The Age Friendly Assessment for Salford (2018) adopted the following
measures as indicators of inclusion and contribution of older people:
o public and private partners signed up to being age-friendly
o percentage of people who describe their area as being age-friendly
o employment rate of those aged 50-64 is comparable to national average
o number of those aged 50-64 who are in training or volunteering
o the proportion of adult social care users and carers who have as much social
contact as they would like
o rates of Salford residents aged over 50 who are ‘active’ or ‘fairly active’
7.5. This co-production should relate to the work on Age-Friendly Salford.
The issue reframed: making time for each other 8 9
During the COVID-19 situation, many of us have had our value of connection with
others strengthened. More people have been looking out for each other.
We know that there are many ways to connect together people in our communities,
whether this is in person, through technology or in familiar places such as local
shops or public spaces.
We can just be alongside people. If someone is struggling, we can ask them to
help us. We can be curious and enjoy mixing with people who don’t look like us (in
all sorts of ways). Importantly, we can remember to have fun!
8.

Suicide prevention

8

Frameworks Institute (2020) Talking About the Importance of Prevention https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/article/topic-7-talking-about-the-importance-of-prevention/
9 Camerados principles (accessed 6 June, 2021) - https://www.camerados.org/camerados-principles/

Page 138

6

8.1. Suicide prevention is cited as a priority within the Salford Locality Plan 20202025 with regard to living well. Mental wellbeing promotion is cited within the
plan for parity with physical health, and particularly during life events and
triggers.
8.2. The Locality Plan states: “Through the all age Salford Suicide Prevention
Strategy (2017-2022), all public sector partners in Salford have pledged our
commitment to work together to address the devastating impact that suicide has
on families and communities and ensure that suicide should always be
considered an avoidable occurrence. This strategy highlights key high-risk
groups and contains pledges to support existing and new prevention and
intervention initiatives that promote positive mental health and well-being.
Salford will achieve the ten pillars of a Suicide Safer Community, with an action
plan to raise awareness and work with communities for innovative local
initiatives through co-production. We will review policies and training, and we
will work with high risk groups and those bereaved by suicide. We will also
ensure our VCSE sector are embedded in this work.”
8.3. The specific indicator relating to this issue is: mortality rate from suicide and
injury undetermined.
8.4. This co-production should relate to the work of the Mental Health Partnership in
Salford.
The issue reframed: looking out for each other 10 11
When we take action for everyone’s mental health and well-being, we contribute to
our collective prosperity – both now and in the future.
We can improve mental health and well-being by trying new ideas and using our
ingenuity to solve problems. We can put things in place that will support us all to
feel better together, while dropping the language that puts people off.
People and purpose are the most vital things to help us through tough times.
In particular, we can create ways of our being alongside people when they are
facing the greatest stresses in their lives, such as financial problems, relationship
break-up or chronic pain and illness.
9.

Action plan

9.1. The outline action plan to implement the co-production work is detailed below.
Timescale
Month 0

Action
Project set-up; induction of Project Facilitator

World Health Organization – Suicide (accessed 6 June, 2021) - https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/suicide
11 L’Hôte E. et al. (2017) Beyond Awareness of Stigma: Moving Public Understanding to the Next
Level [Frameworks Institute] - https://www.frameworksinstitute.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/03/TCHD_MentalHealth_MTG_FINAL.pdf
10

Page 139

7

Timescale
Months 1-2
Month 3
Months 4-8
Months 9-11

Month 12
Months 13-14
Months 15-18
Months 19-20

Action
Recruit and induct local people, with particular regard to
diversity and to inclusion of those whose voices are less heard
or not heard and/or who have less agency.
Convene assembly, enabling people to get to know each other,
their strengths and wisdom.
Create playful environment and explore priority areas, leading to
generation of initial ideas and concepts to address them.
Local people engage with ‘decision makers’ / professionals to
develop the ideas and concepts into testable solutions,
recognising local assets and opportunities.
Present specific proposals to Salford Health and Wellbeing
Board and/or other appropriate body, with various funding
sources will be explored, if necessary.
If supported, make plans for co-design of the solutions. These
will be embedded directly into the Locality Implementation Plan.
Co-design of solutions.
Presentation of process and solutions; media and marketing of
project.

10. Recommendations for action
In line with the Locality Plan for Salford, the Health and Wellbeing Board agrees:
1.

To note the approach to co-production for health and well-being in Salford.

2.

To confirm that the Board will consider at a subsequent meeting specific
proposals from the co-production process. If supported, co-design of the
solutions will then be planned with local people. These will then be embedded
directly into the Locality Implementation Plan.

11. Contextual information
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS:
• Age Friendly Salford (2016)
https://extranet.who.int/agefriendlyworld/network/salford/
• Centre for Local Economic Strategies (2017) Working Together to Tackle
Disadvantage [Elephants project, Greater Manchester]
• Living Well Programme (2019) https://www.livingwellsystems.uk/theprogramme
• Salford City Council (2016) Our priorities, the Great Eight https://www.salford.gov.uk/your-council/council-and-decision-making/how-thecouncil-is-performing/our-priorities-the-great-eight/
• Salford Poverty Truth Commission (2018) https://www.councils.coop/casestudies/salford-poverty-truth-commission/

STRATEGIC DRIVERS AND EVIDENCE OF NEED:
• Salford Locality Plan 2020-2025 (2020)
https://www.salfordccg.nhs.uk/transformation/locality-plan

Page 140

8

THIS REPORT CONTENT HAS ALSO BEEN CONSIDERED BY:
• Salford Time to Act sub-group

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND IMPLICATIONS:
There has not been a community impact assessment completed locally.

ASSESSMENT OF RISK: None.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS: None.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: Non-recurrent allocation of £120,000.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS: None.

HR IMPLICATIONS: None.

Page 141

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 143

Partnership
Board
Overview

Mental Health

Debbie Blackburn Assistant Director Public Health Nursing and
Wellbeing
Judd Skelton Assistant Director Integrated Commissioning
April 2021

Agenda Item 7a

 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT), Early Intervention in Psychosis,
Perinatal Mental Health, Suicide Prevention.

Page 144

National Policy
and Drivers

 NHS Long Term Plan: A&E Mental Health Liaison, Community Eating
Disorders, Living Well, PIMH, Mental Health Support Teams in
Schools, i-Thrive implementation, BAME communities Young People
in prison, Eating Disorder Services
 Community Mental Health Transformation Framework:
transforming community mental health provision e.g. Community
Mental Health Teams, Living Well, pathways for older people,
people with PD and eating disorders.
 Future in Mind: improving children and young people’s mental
heath and wellbeing

1. Develop an observable culture shift towards person centered mental
health care
2. Build resilience in childhood to improve the ability to manage emotional
wellbeing throughout their lives and through to older age

Page 145

All Age Mental
Health
Commissioning
Strategy

3. Ensure that ‘health’ includes an equal importance on mental and
physical health
4. Identify as early as possible when people need more support to
maintain good health and wellbeing
5. Achieve the targets set out in the NHS 5 Year Forward View for Mental
Health (5YFV) and the NHS Long Term Plan.
6. Ensure equality of access and promotion of mental health and mental
wellbeing services
7. Review and redesign mental health care pathways across the life course
8. Improve how we work together.
Strategy underpinned by all age needs assessment, lived experience and
engagement with mental health system (statutory services, VCSE, Mental
Health Trusts).

Suicide Prevention Programme
 Outreach prevention via Start’s Reach Out programme – this year
focusing on Students and nursing professions
 Training for frontline staff e.g. Health Improvement, Advice services,
Food Banks

Page 146

Key Work
Programmes
& Actions

Review of Adult Mental Health Supported Accommodation
 Reviewing commissioned Adult mental health supported
accommodation
 Improving the flow through the system
 Addressing out of area / out of alliance supported accommodation
placements
Living Well Programme
 Pilot MDT in Broughton
 Extended reach mental health practitioners in Primary Care Networks
 Links to Community Mental Health Framework / Redesign
Adult Rehab Pathway
 Reviewing the rehab pathway, including out of area rehab placements.

 Thrive in Education: 3-year programme providing support for children and young
people's emotional health and wellbeing in school and education settings.
 Salford’s Neuro-Developmental Pathway: for children and young people with
complex neurodevelopmental difficulties, who require a multi-agency assessment
to gain a better understanding of their needs

Page 147

Salford
Thrive

 Community Eating Disorders Service: integrated eating disorder pathway for young
people, with non-interruption of care at age 18 and / or earlier access to adult
services if needed
 Parental and Infant mental health: Homestart Baby Bond and Dad’s Matter
 Integrated Community Response Service (ICRS): support for young people who
may be at increased risk of crisis i.e. missing from home, attending a PRU
 Single point of access (CAMHS): Supports identification of children with emotional
/ mental health needs at the earliest opportunity

Family support – breaking the cycle of poor mental health
 Family and carer support as part of the Living Well pilot

Page 148

Areas For
Wider System
Consideration

Domestic Abuse
 Support the development of the DA Commissioning Strategy and
recommendations
Trauma Informed/Responsive Care
 Implement the GM work to support Trauma Responsive Approaches
 Living Well model is based on trauma informed care approaches
Equity of Access
 Reviewing how to ‘build back better’, both locally and at GM
 Recognition of gaps in service and refocusing commissioning to address
this (e.g. community specific organisations commissioned at GM level to
support communities of identity (e.g. BAME communities, Deaf
Community etc.)

What can partners do to support our
approaches?

Page 149

• Promote 5 Ways to Wellbeing within their organisations
• Promote Connect 5: Connect 5 is a mental health promotion training programme that is
designed to increase the confidence and skills of front-line staff about mental health and
wellbeing, free training is available via the link
• Mental Health First Aid, Mind in Salford now offer Mental Health First Aid England
training for individuals, businesses and organisations in Salford. Mental Health First Aid
(MHFA) is an evidence-based internationally recognised training, backed by the Royal
Society for Public Health, which teaches people how to spot the signs and symptoms of
mental ill health and to provide initial help and support – just like physical first aiders do
for people with injuries or physical ill health.
• Supporting staff with Financial wellbeing and Focusing on Workplace Wellbeing and
being a Mindful Employer
• Promote the Shining a Light on Suicide work
• Support staff/clients with Domestic Abuse via the 16 days of action website
• Support staff/clients who may be experiencing loneliness

Page 150

Next Steps
& Actions

• Request for the Board to consider how their wider system
and locality connections could help to further work
related to these areas of focus.
• What actions can be taken forward by Board members /
organisations to support the existing approaches?
• How can boards support Early intervention
• How can Boards sign up to the Trauma Responsive
approaches to ensure system buy in and leadership
• How can Boards help us to feed back on the provision we
have and identify gaps?
• How can Boards help us promote access to information
such as The Emotional Health and Wellbeing Directory?

